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		  Revenue*			   GDP growth
		  (£m)	 Stores	 Employees	 (% real change pa)

South Korea	 4,984	 354	 23,131	 6.1
Thailand	 2,844	 782	 38,395 	 7.9
China	 1,141 	 105	 27,096 	 10.3
Malaysia	 794	 38	 11,023 	 7.2
Japan 	 476 	 140	 4,367	 4.0

US

Revenue* 

£495m
Number of stores

164
Employees

4,134
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

1.7m sq ft

1.6%

UK

Revenue* 

£40,766m
Number of stores

2,715
Employees

293,676
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

36.7m sq ft

35.4%

Europe

Revenue*†

£9,192m
Number of stores

1,082
Employees±

89,559
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

30.2m sq ft

29.2%

Tesco Bank

Revenue* 

£919m
Employees

1,274

India

In India, we have an exclusive 
franchise agreement with Trent, 
the retail arm of the Tata Group. We 
are supporting the development of 
their Star Bazaar format. 

Asia

Revenue*† 

£10,278m
Number of stores

1,419
Employees±

104,071
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

35.0m sq ft

33.8%

 
		  Revenue*			   GDP growth
		  (£m)	 Stores	 Employees	 (% real change pa)

Republic of Ireland	 2,332	 130	 13,344	 -0.8 
Poland	 2,156	 371	 24,932	 3.8
Hungary 	 1,649	 205	 21,157	 1.2
Czech Republic	 1,355	 158	 12,812	 2.3
Slovakia	 996	 97	 9,105	 4.0
Turkey	 700	 121	 8,038	 8.1

Creating value for
customers across all
our businesses

Employee figures represent the average number of employees during the year

± ��230 employees across Asia and Europe work in locations other than those listed

* �Revenues are sales excluding VAT and exclude the impact of IFRIC 13  
(customer loyalty schemes)

† Revenue for Europe includes France; revenue for Asia includes India

GDP growth: Economist Intelligence Unit

Tesco around the world

OVERVIEW

Designed and produced by C O N R A N D E S I G N G R O U P

This Report is printed on Revive 100 Pure White Silk paper and has been  
independently certified on behalf of the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC).  
The inks used are all vegetable oil based.

Printed at Pureprint Group Ltd, ISO14001, FSC certified and CarbonNeutral®
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Our Values sit at the heart of our 
business. They are:

No one tries harder for customers; 
and

Treat people how we like to  
be treated.

Our core purpose  
is to create value for 
customers to earn  
their lifetime loyalty.

+8.1%
Group sales (including VAT) 	

+12.3%
Underlying profit before tax	

+11.3%
Group profit before tax	

+10.8%*

Underlying diluted earnings per share

+10.8%
Dividend per share		

* �Underlying diluted earnings per share growth 
calculated on constant tax rate basis; 12.8%  
at actual tax rates.

To read the Annual Report online: 
http://ar2011.tescoplc.com/
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Tesco in numbers

£0.5bn US
£0.9bn Tesco Bank

£44.6bn UK £11.0bn Asia
£10.6bn Europe

underlying profit 
before tax

£3.8bn £3.7bn

 
trading profit

+8.1%

 
sales

492,714

  
people

5,380
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Richard Brasher has assumed the newly created role of CEO for the UK, 
as well as having responsibility for the Republic of Ireland, whilst David 
Potts has become the first CEO of our growing Asia business. Laurie 
McIlwee has taken on responsibility for Group Strategy in addition to 
his role as CFO.

Andrew Higginson and Lucy Neville-Rolfe will continue in their roles  
as CEO Retail Services and Executive Director (Corporate and Legal 
Affairs) respectively. 

There have also been a few changes to the Non-executive members  
of the Board this year. Rodney Chase CBE retired from his position  
as Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director in July. Patrick 
Cescau, who has served on the Board since February 2009, has 
replaced Rodney as Senior Independent Director.

Charles Allen CBE and Dr Harald Einsmann, who had both served  
on the Tesco Board since February 1999, also retired in July and were 
replaced by Stuart Chambers and Gareth Bullock. 

Stuart, formerly CEO of NSG Group and Pilkington plc, has replaced 
Charles as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Gareth, former 
Group Executive Director of Standard Chartered PLC, has joined the 
Audit Committee. 

I would like to thank Charles, Harald and Rodney for their excellent 
advice and important contributions over a combined 30 years’ service, 
and also formally welcome Gareth and Stuart, who bring with them  
a wealth of international experience and new expertise in financial 
services, further adding to the overall strength of the Tesco Board. 

Dividend
I am delighted to report that we have again increased our dividend –  
for the 27th consecutive year. The Board has proposed a final dividend 
of 10.09p per share, taking the full-year dividend to 14.46p. This 
represents an increase of 10.8% on last year’s full-year dividend, which 
is in line with the growth in underlying diluted earnings per share at 
constant tax rates. 

Community
This year, we donated over £64 million to charity – again meeting our 
target to donate the equivalent of over 1% of our profits to charities 
and good causes.

We’ve made further progress towards our goal of becoming a  
zero-carbon business by 2050. This year we have reduced emissions 
from our baseline portfolio of buildings by 7.7%.

Our people
Our growth over the past year is a direct result of the dedication, 
passion and hard work of our people – a team which is now over 
492,000 strong. I’m delighted that our share ownership incentive 
schemes are helping our staff to get their own personal stake in the 
business. This year 216,000 employees shared a record £105.5 million 
through our Shares In Success scheme. On behalf of the Board,  
I would like to thank all of our people for their ongoing commitment  
to providing the best possible service for our customers.

David Reid 
Chairman

I am pleased to report another 
good set of results in what has 
been a challenging year in some  
of our markets. 

After 14 years as CEO, Terry Leahy announced his retirement in June 
and, as part of our long-term succession plan, Philip Clarke replaced  
him at the helm in March 2011.

Terry is undoubtedly one of the leading businessmen of his generation. 
Under his leadership we have more than quadrupled our sales and 
profits, expanded into 13 countries outside the UK and entered new 
markets such as online retailing and financial services. On behalf of 
everyone at Tesco and all our shareholders, it is a privilege to thank 
Terry for his unrivalled contribution to the success of the business. 

There could be no better person to lead us going forward than Philip 
Clarke. Philip has worked at Tesco throughout his career, spending 
many years in Retail and Commercial. He joined the Tesco Board in 
1998 and, as part of his role as Asia, Europe and IT Director, has been  
at the heart of many of our most important developments and 
operational improvements in recent years, such as entry into China, 
Turkey and India and the introduction of the Tesco Hindustan Service 
Centre (HSC) – our global services arm. 

I set the Nominations Committee the objective of delivering a seamless 
succession and I am delighted with the outcome. The handover process 
from Terry to Philip was very smooth. I have every confidence that 
under Philip’s leadership, Tesco will go on to achieve even greater 
success in the future. 

In order for the Tesco Board to better reflect the global nature of our 
business, provide more focus on key areas of performance and deliver on 
our immediate objectives, we made additional changes in March 2011. 
Tim Mason has become Deputy CEO and Chief Marketing Officer in 
addition to his role as President and CEO Fresh & Easy. 
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Building on our success

I’m pleased to report that Tesco has once again achieved a good  
set of results with good sales, profit and earnings per share growth,  
despite challenging conditions in some of our markets.

I am particularly pleased with our progress on return on capital,  
where we have seen ROCE grow strongly to 12.9%, representing an 
important first step towards our 2014/15 target of 14.6%, with further 
increases to come.

In the UK, we have an outstanding core business. It made progress in 
the year but some aspects of our performance can improve. Stronger 
sales momentum here is a key priority and I am confident that the 
focus and energy our new UK leadership team is bringing to the business 
will see a return to form in the months ahead as Tesco tries to do its  
bit to help customers who face pressure on their household budgets.

The increasing scale and competitiveness of our international businesses 
are now driving strong growth in sales, market share, profits and 
returns, supported by the generally improving global economic 
environment. We have built some excellent springboards for future 
growth, and whilst there is still work to do, particularly in the United 
States, I am delighted with our performance in Europe and Asia, where 
I expect further strong growth this year and beyond.

We have set six immediate team objectives against which we intend  
to be judged. First, keeping the UK strong and growing; second,  
we want to be outstanding internationally, not just successful; third,  
as the combination of stores and online becomes compelling for 
customers, we aim to become a multi-channel retailer wherever we 
trade; fourth, we will deliver on the potential of retailing services –  
of which Tesco Bank is a big part; fifth, by applying Group skill and  
scale we will give our customers even more value and increase the

competitive advantage to our businesses; and finally, to deliver higher 
returns on capital employed for shareholders.

Also, as part of our commitment to communities, we want to widen  
our contribution from tackling climate change to broader aspects  
of sustainability.

Vision and strategy

Tesco is a business built around customers and staff, high-quality 
assets around the world and multiple opportunities for growth. My job 
is to build on this legacy – for all our stakeholders. Going forward, there 
will mostly be continuity. We have a sound strategy, a strong team and 
the period of highest risk with the diversification of the business is now 
behind us. However, there will also be some changes, because we know 
that we can do some things better and because, as customers change, 
so must Tesco.

Importantly, there will be no change to the foundations of our business: 
our core purpose – to create value for customers to earn their 
lifetime loyalty – and our Values – no one tries harder for customers 
and treat people how we like to be treated. 

I have set out a new vision for the future of the business. I would like 
Tesco to be seen as the most highly valued business in the world. 
Valued not only by our customers, but also by the communities we 
serve, our staff and our shareholders.

We will win locally by applying our skills globally. The key word here 
is ‘locally’. Seven years of running our businesses in Asia and Europe 
has taught me that all retailing is local. But increasingly we are 
utilising the skill and scale of the Group to benefit the performance  
and competitiveness of each of our businesses around the world. 

 I have inherited a great legacy and I am really 
excited about the future. In the end of course, we 
know it’s all about performance; that’s what matters 
and that’s what we aim to deliver. 

4  —  Tesco plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011
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We will be a modern and innovative company. We’ll stay ahead 
of the curve, anticipating changes and adapting for the sake of our 
customers and staff. 

We are, and we will remain a growth company. We will continue to 
pursue growth in all parts of the business – in the UK, internationally,  
in services and across general merchandise, clothing and electricals. 

More detail on our new vision can be found on pages 6 to 13.

To put this vision into practice, our strategy is evolving – with a slight 
change in emphasis which builds on the success of our previous  
five-part strategy that has served us so well over the past 14 years.  
So our strategy will now have seven parts. Much of it will be familiar  
but with some important new additions around being a multi-channel 
retailer, creating highly valued brands and building our team: 

•	 To grow the UK core

•	� To be an outstanding international retailer in stores  
and online

•	 To be as strong in everything we sell as we are in food

•	 To grow retail services in all our markets

•	� To put our responsibilities to the communities we serve  
at the heart of what we do

•	 To be a creator of highly valued brands

•	 To build our team so that we create more value

More details on our strategy can be found on page 14.

Management structures 

We’ve made some changes to our management structures in order  
to equip the business to deliver our strategy and vision. This means  
CEOs for each of our main areas of focus – the UK, Asia, Services 
including Tesco Bank, Europe and the US – being supported by the 
integrating functions such as IT and Finance to leverage the skill and 
scale of the Group.

The biggest part of this change was in the UK, which now has its own 
CEO and management board for the first time. This will bring more 
focus and energy to our largest business. Of course, structures don’t 
manage companies, people do and I’m confident that at all levels we 
have the very best team working hard to deliver the best shopping trip 
for our customers.

I have inherited a great legacy and I am really excited about the future. 
In the end of course, we know it’s all about performance; that’s what 
matters and that’s what we aim to deliver.

 
 

Philip Clarke 
Group Chief Executive
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To be the 
most highly 
valued



Most highly valued by:

To be the most highly valued by:

The customers we serve

Our core purpose is to create value for customers to earn their lifetime 
loyalty. This objective sits right at the heart of our business as one part 
of our Values – ‘No one tries harder for customers’.

We know that we are already valued by our customers across our 
markets. In the UK, for example, we have the most loyal customer base 
of the major grocery retailers and in South Korea, Homeplus was 
awarded South Korea’s Most Admired Company award in October 2010.

The communities in which we operate

For Tesco to be considered a force for good, we must be a good 
neighbour and a responsible member of society. This is why 
Community is part of our balanced scorecard approach to running  
our business – and why each market has its own Community Plan, 
with promises relating to the environment, communities, responsible 
sourcing, healthy living and jobs and careers.

Our loyal and committed staff

We know that if we look after our staff, they will look after our customers. 
Work can be a large part of our lives so our people deserve an employer 
who cares. That’s why one of our Values is ‘Treat people how we like to 
be treated’.

We are committed to providing opportunities for our people to get  
on and turn their jobs into careers, and across all of our markets we 
offer a wide range of competitive benefits. In the US, for example,  
we pay at least 75% of medical, dental, prescription and vision costs. 
69% of employees across the Group who completed our annual staff 
survey said that they find their work interesting.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Our shareholders

As the owners of the business, it’s crucial that our shareholders value 
Tesco highly. Shareholders want a good return on their investment 
and that’s what we will continue to deliver for them. We have over 
200,000 shareholders, including a large number of pension funds.  
We offer sustainable, profitable growth from a combination of a 
strong core UK business and exposure to rapidly growing emerging 
markets. Over the past decade our total shareholder return (TSR) has 
outperformed the FTSE 100 by 53.2% and we’ve delivered dividend 
growth for the past 27 years – the longest record of consecutive 
increase by any FTSE 100 company. 

69%
of employees across the Group 
who completed our annual  
staff survey said that they find 
their work interesting

our  
vision

To learn more about our  
vision and strategy:  
http://ar2011.tescoplc.com/ 
businessreview/ourstrategy
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Tesco Clubcard

All retailing is local. And Clubcard is one of the ways in which we  
can be responsive to local customer needs. In addition to rewarding 
customers for their loyalty, Clubcard provides us with insight from 
millions of customer transactions. From this we can develop tailored 
ranges, promotions and marketing by country or region – in fact right 
down to the individual customer via their Clubcard mailing.

The knowledge and expertise of operating Clubcard was developed in 
the UK but has now been rolled out to a further 11 countries across the 
Group, with more members in Asia and Europe than at home in the UK.

F&F

We’ve been successful at exporting a number of our brands 
internationally, tailoring them to local trends, needs and price ranges. 

F&F is a good example of how one of our brands has spread globally 
and won locally. We’re bringing the benefits of our Group skill and 
scale to our buying and sourcing operations, helping to reduce costs 
and improve quality. In Central Europe for example, 95% of our clothing 
supplier base is the same as Ireland and the UK, even though to win in 
each market, we adapt our range to local trends, tastes and climates.

F&F is now in ten of our markets and is the market-leading clothing 
brand in the Czech Republic, Hungary and Slovakia. We also opened 
our first stand-alone F&F store in Prague this year.

World-class training for national talent

We know that to be a successful international retailer we need to 
combine deep local knowledge with global experience – this is  
why all of our international management teams are a mixture of 
nationals and people from our UK business. 

In addition, the experience of working internationally helps us attract, 
retain and develop our people – over a fifth of our directors are 
currently working outside their home country. 

Our Academy supports the development of both operational expertise 
and leadership excellence. Management courses are developed based 
on global best practice and then used to train teams in each local 
market. Our first dedicated Academy centre will open in Seoul – 
serving Asia – in July.

our  
vision

To learn more about our  
vision and strategy:  
http://ar2011.tescoplc.com/ 
businessreview/ourstrategy
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Online retailing

Customers expect to be able to shop where and when they want –  
as shopping habits have changed over the years we’ve changed too. 
As we’ve grown from a UK supermarket chain towards becoming an 
international multi-channel retailer we’ve continued to innovate every 
step of the way. 

We were viewed as pioneers when we first launched an online grocery 
business 11 years ago. It’s now the largest, most profitable business of 
its kind in the world. 

Using their smartphones, our customers can now scan the barcode  
of grocery items, order online and have their shopping delivered to 
their home.

A leader in green retailing

As a global business we know that we can make a real difference in 
tackling climate change – cutting our own emissions, working with 
suppliers and helping customers to cut their carbon footprint. We also 
understand that successful businesses need to be green to grow.

Our 2050 target to be a zero-carbon business will be achieved through 
improved efficiency and by generating our energy from renewable 
sources. We’re making good progress – over the past year we have 
reduced emissions from our baseline portfolio of buildings by 7.7%. 

We have pledged to help customers cut their carbon footprints  
by 50% by 2020. We have worked with the Carbon Trust and other 
stakeholders to develop a universal carbon footprint label which 
describes the emissions associated with each product. Since January 
2008, we have carbon labelled more than 500 everyday products in 
the UK and have started to label products in South Korea, helping our 
customers to make greener choices.

500+
Products carbon labelled since 2008

our  
vision

To learn more about our  
vision and strategy:  
http://ar2011.tescoplc.com/ 
businessreview/ourstrategy

� Tesco plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011  —  11

O
verview

B
usiness review

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents





B
usiness review

UK: an outstanding business

We have more than doubled sales and profit in our UK business over 
the last decade, cementing our position as clear market leader. Yet 
there remain significant opportunities for further growth. The UK  
has the lowest grocery retail space per capita of any country in  
the EU; only 54% of shoppers are able to reach a Tesco Extra within  
15 minutes and we have only a small share of the convenience sector. 

Beyond grocery we’ve developed a strong position in many other 
categories such as clothing, electricals and entertainment. But with  
a market share of around 4% in the non-food sector there is still 
plenty more to come. 

 124%
UK sales growth over the  
last decade

International growth

More than two-thirds of our profit growth now comes from markets 
outside the UK. We opened our first international Tesco store in 1995; 
today we’re in 13 markets across Europe, Asia and North America. 
65% of our floorspace is now outside the UK, and our businesses in 
Asia and Europe are collectively the same size as the whole of Tesco 
was 11 years ago. We’ve built successful, diverse businesses across the 
world, yet the journey is only just beginning.

We’ve already developed market-leading, highly profitable businesses  
in a number of countries. In South Korea, our largest international 
business, Homeplus, already generates £5 billion revenue. Yet, if 
Homeplus were to grow to have the same proportion of the total retail 
market that Tesco has achieved in the UK, the business would be more 
than three times as large as it is today.

During our first decade of international expansion we’ve proved that 
we are able to develop profitable and market-leading businesses in 
many of our markets. Over the next decade, in addition to further 
expanding our established overseas businesses, we are focused on 
delivering growth in three of the world’s largest economies: China, 
India and the United States, which between them offer decades of 
future growth. 

New services

Customers trust Tesco and appreciate that we provide value, simplicity 
and good service. This is our approach with everything we sell and is 
the key to our success in following the customer into new areas such 
as banking and telecoms.

Tesco Bank in the UK now has over 6.5 million customer accounts  
and generates annual profits of £264 million. We’ve made particularly 
good progress in credit cards. In February, one in eight of all MasterCard 
and Visa credit card transactions in the UK were made on a Tesco 
credit card. As we broaden our offer – with mortgages launching this 
year – we aim to become the best choice for all our customers’ 
banking needs.

We have also established a successful Telecoms business. Tesco 
Mobile now has over 2.5 million customers. By focusing on value and 
good service and through our 194 Phone Shops we are changing the 
way that customers buy phones, services and accessories. 

our  
vision

To learn more about our  
vision and strategy:  
http://ar2011.tescoplc.com/ 
businessreview/ourstrategy
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The business review analyses the performance  
of the Tesco Group in the financial year ended  
26 February 2011. It also explains other aspects  
of the Group’s markets, results and operations, 
including strategy and risk management.

The Directors present their Annual Report to 
shareholders on the affairs of the Group and 
Company, together with the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the 52 weeks  
ended 26 February 2011.

Some elements of the strategy remain unchanged. The goal ‘to grow 
the core UK business’ is as relevant today as it was in 1997. The UK is 
the largest business in the Group and a key driver of sales and profit. 
There are many opportunities for further growth and so we will 
continue to grow the UK core. 

Another of our original goals was to be a ‘successful international 
retailer’. In 1997, our international businesses generated 1.8% of  
the Group’s profits. Today they represent 25% and we’re now either 
number one or number two in eight of our 13 markets outside  
the UK. So we’re already ‘successful’. Our next step is to be an 
outstanding international retailer in stores and online. 

In 1997, we were largely a food retailer so we set ourselves the challenge 
of becoming ‘as strong in non-food as in food’. As our business has grown 
and we offer an ever wider variety of products to customers, the term 
non-food no longer does justice to all the products and services we sell. 
We now aim to be as strong in everything we sell as we are in food.

Our services businesses have come a long way since we first included  
in our strategy the desire ‘to develop retailing services’. Today these 
parts of Tesco generate £583 million profit, representing 16% of the 
Group total. To date this has been largely UK-focused, but as many of our 
international businesses have now established well-known brands in 
their local market, it is time to expand our ambitions and aim to grow 
retail services in all our markets. 

In 2007, we added a fifth element to our strategy to underpin our 
commitment to communities and the environment. We’ve updated  
this objective slightly by emphasising our responsibilities in these  
areas. Our goal is to put our responsibilities to the communities 
we serve at the heart of what we do.

There are two new strategic goals, both of which reflect the way that 
Tesco has developed over the last decade and our areas of emphasis  
for the future. 

The first is to be a creator of highly valued brands. Our brand has 
evolved from a logo above a few stores in the UK to a multitude of 
store, product and service brands across the world. Building brands 
gives our business more meaning with our customers. On one level,  
this relates to our Retail brands such as the Tesco brand itself, but it also 
refers to our Product brands such as F&F and Technika and our Pillar 
brands such as Finest and Value.

Our final goal is to build our team so that we create more value. 
As our business continues to grow and diversify we need more leaders 
to run the many substantial business and support functions within the 
Group. Our leaders not only have an important role today, but also have 
a responsibility to help build a bigger and better team for the future.

Our progress in these areas is reviewed over the following pages.

Business review 

Our strategy

In 1997, Tesco set out a strategy to grow the core business and diversify 
with new products and services in existing and new markets. This 
strategy enabled us to deliver strong, sustained growth over the past  
14 years. We’ve followed customers into large expanding markets in the 
UK – such as financial services, general merchandise and telecoms – 
and new markets abroad, initially in Europe and Asia and more recently 
in the United States. 

In order to reflect changing consumer needs and the increasingly global 
nature of our business we’ve evolved our strategy. The strategy now has 
seven parts and applies to our five business segments – the UK, Asia, 
Europe, the United States and Tesco Bank.
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Our seven- 
part strategy

To grow the UK core

16

22

To be an outstanding international 
retailer in stores and online

26

To be as strong in everything  
we sell as we are in food

30

To grow retail services  
in all our markets

34

To put our responsibilities to  
the communities we serve at 
the heart of what we do

38

To be a creator of  
highly valued brands

42

To build our team  
so that we create  
more value
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To grow the UK core

In our market-leading UK business, we have delivered 
a solid performance by keeping our focus on the 
customer, providing them with great value, choice 
and service.

Clubcard

Clubcard is our unique customer loyalty programme – our way of saying 
‘thank you’ to our customers. It is now more popular than ever before, 
with active membership of over 15 million customers, compared to 
13 million at the start of 2008/9. Customers who say they would prefer 
a Tesco to open in their area rather than a competitor store cite 
Clubcard as the main reason.

Clubcard continues to be a significant driver of growth for our business 
and ensures that our customer base continues to demonstrate 
considerably higher levels of loyalty than our competitors. For most  
of 2010, Clubcard was the number one reason behind customers 
switching to us for their weekly shop. 

Customers have responded well to our new and up-weighted Clubcard 
initiatives. Three million customers participated in the Big Clubcard 
Voucher Exchange promotions held in August and November, which 
provided new ways to get more value from vouchers through category-
specific deals. We have seen 60% growth in Rewards through our 
Partner Reward Scheme as customers recognise that Clubcard is about 
more than just earning money-off vouchers and that they can use 
points as currency in other areas of their lives.

£44.6bn
UK sales

£2.5bn
Trading profit

6.1%
Trading margin

3.8%
Trading profit up

5.5%
Sales up

Introduction and market context

The UK economy is in recovery but consumers have been under 
pressure this year due to a combination of high petrol prices, food 
and utility inflation and, more recently, the VAT increase. As a result, 
we’re experiencing a period of unusually subdued industry growth. 
Excluding petrol, like-for-like growth in the industry has been 
significantly lower than last year.

Against this backdrop, our UK business has delivered a solid 
performance. Total UK sales were £44.6 billion, growing by 5.5%, 
which was ahead of the market. UK trading profit increased by  
3.8% or by 6.4% before the effects of our sale and leaseback 
programme; principally the additional rents incurred.
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No.1
reason for customers 

switching to Tesco

Clubcard

Clubcard continues to play an important role in earning customers’ 
loyalty. We’ve continued to invest in Double Points, we have 
introduced the Big Clubcard Voucher Exchange and we have 
expanded our Partner Reward Scheme.
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Real Food 

This year, we launched the  
Tesco Real food magazine.  
The monthly publication, which 
is available for free in our stores, 
provides customers with recipes, 
cooking tips, information on 
healthy eating and updates on 
new Tesco products. The magazine 
has become Britain’s largest food 
title with a circulation of 1.2 million.

Real food can be found online at  
www.tescorealfood.com. With 
over 1,000 recipes and a food 
blog, the site gets 2.2 million 
page views per month.

We’ve also launched an 
innovative service for customers 
to receive great recipes via SMS. 
Customers are able to send a text 
message including two or three 
key ingredients and in return 
receive an automatic reply with  
a delicious recipe suggestion.

2,000
Over 2,000 new and improved 
products

 10m
Self-service transactions  
per week

Stores

New space has continued to drive sales growth. We’ve opened over  
200 new stores in 2010/11 and have a strong opening programme  
for the coming year. 

We have seen particularly strong growth in our convenience format, 
Tesco Express, with over 150 new stores and have achieved significant 
share gain in the convenience sector. This growth follows our work to 
tailor the range and promotions in Express to better suit the needs  
of our customers locally. Overall last year, we had 80 million more 
customer visits to our Express stores than in 2009/10.

We have also refreshed or extended over 400 stores this year, receiving 
a great response from customers. For example, we’ve added 7,000 sq ft 
to Wembley Extra, expanding our World Foods offer to meet better the 
needs of customers in the local area – the store is outperforming  
by 16% and over three-quarters of customers have told us that it is 
greatly improved. 

Range

Our customers tell us that quality is increasingly important to them,  
it is not simply about finding the cheapest product. We have  
stepped up our emphasis on quality, with accelerated product 
development, leading to the introduction of over 2,000 new and 
improved food products. 

The increasing importance of quality for customers is also supported  
by the strong performance of our Finest range, which has outpaced  
the growth of other areas of our food range, with a 6.3% increase  
in sales this year. 

Many of our customers want to buy locally sourced products to support 
their local communities. We are always looking to expand our network 
of good local suppliers and to support them in building capacity to grow 
their businesses and supply us at a national level. 

We have five dedicated regional buying offices throughout the UK and 
in 2010/11 we increased sales of local products to £1 billion, up from 
£850 million in 2009/10. Tesco is the first UK retailer to launch a website 
dedicated to local foods, at www.tesco.com/local.

We’ve also worked more closely with farmers and growers to increase 
the amount of British produce in-store. This year, for example, we sold 
over 40% more British apples and pears.

Price

We remain focused on delivering the best value to all customers.  
The launch of Essential Savings in May was an investment in lower 
prices on the everyday products which our customers buy. We have  
introduced more multi-buys into the promotion programme to help 
customers save money. We also launched our Price Check initiative this 
year. Price Check enables customers to check the price of individual 
products and the total price of their shopping online. When we compare 
our customers’ baskets with Asda’s prices, nearly 80 per cent are the 
same price or cheaper in Tesco than they would be in Asda. Together 
these initiatives have helped us to maintain our leading position in a 
highly competitive market and to encourage customers to switch to 
Tesco throughout the year. 
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1,000+
Recipes on www.tescorealfood.com

Availability

We have maintained high levels of availability this year through a 
number of programmes, from better promotional forecasting through 
to improved processes for monitoring availability in our stores.  
Our customers are benefiting from this work and have noticed the 
improvements – customer satisfaction with availability is at a record 
high – up 7% from last year and 13% from the year before.

We have had great success with our automated weather forecasting 
technology which accurately adjusts store orders and deliveries based 
on customers’ shopping habits in different weather conditions in 14 
individual regions nationwide. We have also delivered a comprehensive 
plan to improve availability in our Express convenience stores, resulting 
in a 25% reduction in the number of out-of-stock items in the evenings.

Service

We work continually to improve service for our customers. We have 
trained over 80,000 staff this year in Every Little Helps skills for 
checkouts, supporting them to deliver helpful, friendly and efficient 
service. We also know how important it is for our customers to be able 
to choose the checkout that is right for them, so we are working to 
create the ideal configuration in each of our stores based on the local 
customer profile.

This year, we have continued to use technology to help deliver great 
service. Our self-service checkouts provide customers with a quick and 
easy option and currently account for over ten million transactions per 
week. Our trials of Scan as you Shop, which uses hand-held technology, 
have gone well too. 

staff training

We have trained 80,000 staff  
this year in Every Little Helps  
skills for checkouts.

EVERY comment helps

Our ‘Every Comment Helps’ 
initiative encourages customers  
to give instant feedback on their 
shopping trip – including both 
the customer service they receive 
and the range of products we 
offer. Customers are able to share 
their feedback via text or email. 

Over 20,000 of the comments  
that we have received have been 
compliments about the service 
which our customers have 
received. This is testament to  
the hard work and commitment 
of our teams in-store. 

All of the comments have helped 
us to understand what’s important 
to our customers and identify 
where we can do better. We are 
putting plans into action based 
on the feedback we receive so 
that we can do even more to 
improve our customers’ shopping 
experience.
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Tesco UK: a growth business

Delivering for customers

Our success begins with delivering a great shopping trip in every store. 
Behind our Every Little Helps philosophy lie world-class systems and 
processes for property, buying, distribution, ordering, store operations 
and marketing.

We also have the widest range of any food retailer including the leading 
own label range. Finest and Value are the two largest food brands in the 
UK – bigger than Coca-Cola – each with more than £1 billion of sales 
per year.

£1
.1

b
n

£1
.1

b
n

 

£0
.7

bn

£1
.0

bn
C

oc
a-

C
ol

a

W
ar

bu
rt

on
s

£0
.5

bn
W

al
ke

rs
 C

ri
sp

s

T
es

co
 F

in
es

t

T
es

co
 V

al
u

e

LEADING UK FOOD BRANDS

Source: Nielsen and Tesco.

UK sales 2010

Through Clubcard we are able to reward our customers’ loyalty and  
at the same time use the insight from the data gathered to better 
understand our customers’ needs so that we can keep improving  
the shopping trip.

By delivering for customers every day we have built the most loyal 
customer base of any of the major food retailers:
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Proportion of a retailer’s 
customers who do more 
than 50% of their shopping 
with a single retailer.

People

Our people work incredibly hard every day to serve our customers and 
give them the best shopping trip. 90% of our store staff tell us that they 
are committed to doing their best when working at Tesco and 71% say 
they enjoy working for Tesco. 

80% of our store staff tell us they are satisfied with the benefits they 
receive, which is reflective of our market-leading level of pay.

Climate change

As a retail business, we know that we can make a real difference in 
tackling climate change – cutting our own emissions, working with 
suppliers and helping customers to cut their carbon footprint.

In our UK business, we have led the work on climate change and for  
the second year running, we have reduced our absolute emissions –  
this year by 5% despite space growing by 7% as well as significantly 
reducing emissions from our baseline portfolio of buildings.

Outstanding financial performance

We operate a balanced scorecard approach to managing the  
business, based on the ‘Steering Wheel’ segments: Customer; 
Community; Operations; People; and Finance. In order to achieve 
sustainable profitable growth over the long term we must deliver  
on all these priorities.

This approach means that we have delivered consistently strong 
financial performance each year, which has led to remarkable 
performance when looking over a number of years – showing the 
cumulative effect of consistent growth. The chart below shows the 
consistency and speed with which we have grown relative to our  
major UK peers.

Tesco in the UK is an outstanding business. 
We are clear market leader in food retail with 
the broadest customer appeal, widest range 
of formats, market-leading systems and 
processes and the world’s leading customer 
loyalty programme – Clubcard.

We are the largest private employer in the UK, 
offering market-leading pay and rewards to 
our staff, and we’re a leader in tackling climate 
change. We also generate outstanding 
financial performance with the highest sales 
densities, profit margin and return on capital 
of any company in the sector.
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We have also consistently delivered superior financial performance to 
our peers in terms of profit margin and return on capital, which in turn 
has helped us invest in our customer offer and in further expansion 
– new stores, new businesses (e.g. banking and telecoms), new 
channels (e.g tesco.com) and new countries.
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Future growth

The UK offers significant opportunities for growth for Tesco – in 
grocery, in non-food categories and in services. 

The UK grocery market is mature, but far from saturated. The UK has 
the lowest grocery space per capita of any country in the EU and only 
about a third of that of the United States.
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An important indicator of the scope for future growth of grocery space 
in the UK is that when new stores open the impact on existing stores is 
minimal. We track very closely every store opened in the UK – by Tesco 
and our competitors – and the impact of these new stores on Tesco’s 
sales has remained consistently below 1% of our total sales for many 
years. The performance of our own mature stores opened in recent 
years is exceeding business plan forecasts and our profit margin and 
return on capital in the UK continue to strengthen.

There is significant opportunity and demand for Tesco to grow its store 
network – for example, only 54% of UK shoppers are able to reach a 
Tesco Extra within 15 minutes.

Convenience stores form another important segment of the grocery 
market. Traditionally a fragmented market, Tesco was the first of the 
major retailers to develop a convenience format on a national scale  
with Tesco Express. We now have 1,285 Express stores but this still 
represents only a small market share in the convenience segment  
and we have many years of future growth.

In addition to food (and other grocery items such as household and 
toiletries), Tesco has developed a strong offer in categories such as 
electricals, clothing and entertainment. In these ‘new’ general 
merchandise areas we only have around a 4% market share in a large 
fragmented market. With a large and loyal customer base, the leading 
store network and a strong online platform, we have a tremendous 
springboard from which to grow our market positions in these segments.

We have also followed our customers into services such as banking, 
insurance and telecoms, building on our brand reputation for value, 
simplicity and great service. We have built successful businesses, such 
as Tesco Bank and Tesco Mobile, which are already making a significant 
contribution to sales and profits. There remains enormous potential for 
future growth in these areas, through expanding our range of products 
(particularly in banking with mortgages and current accounts) and by 
increasing our penetration of Tesco’s 15 million Clubcard customers.
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Overall, our businesses across Asia, Europe and the 
United States have had a strong year, with improvements 
in sales, profits and returns in most markets.

Introduction and market context

Most of our markets have seen steady economic improvement  
over the past year and in some cases – particularly in Asia – sharp 
improvement. Countries hardest hit in the downturn – in particular 
Hungary, Ireland and the United States – have been slower to 
recover, although even there we are now seeing signs of improvement. 

A particularly encouraging feature of our performance in Asia and 
Europe has been excellent market share growth, with many of our 
businesses seeing strong growth in both customer numbers and 
like-for-like sales.

We have resumed a faster pace of new space opening now that 
economic conditions are generally improving. We opened 6.5m sq ft 
of gross new space in 2010/11, compared with 5.1m sq ft in 2009/10 
and plan to open a further 8.4m sq ft during the current year.

Asia

Our businesses in Asia have delivered another good performance 
leading to increases in sales and profits – supported by improving 
like-for-like sales growth, a useful contribution from new stores and 
further benefits from our acquisition in South Korea in 2008. 

As economies in Asia recover, we are seeing improving sales trends.  
Our performance was helped by favourable exchange rate movements 
but nevertheless profits grew by almost 18% at constant currency rates. 

Our businesses in South Korea and Thailand opened 56 and 119 
stores respectively and delivered excellent sales and profit growth during 
the year as these economies rebounded sharply from recession. 

To be an outstanding 
international retailer  
in stores and online

£11.0bn
Asia sales

£10.6bn
Europe sales

£502m
US sales

£527m
Europe trading profit

£570m
Asia trading profit
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21%
Sales in Thailand  

up 21%

Thailand

Tesco Lotus, our business in Thailand, is one of our most successful 
international businesses with strong profitability and the highest 
return on capital of all our overseas markets. We now operate  
782 stores with 11m sq ft of space, having added a further  
119 stores in the year. 
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anshan

In October, we opened our fourth 
Lifespace mall – our largest so  
far – in Anshan, China. Over 
600,000 customers flow through 
our four Lifespace malls each 
week. We plan to have up to ten 
malls open by the end of the year.

	  In China, we are pushing ahead with our expansion plans, opening 
a further 19 stores in the year, including five Express stores. Our 
investments in equipping the business for faster growth, combined with 
our store roll-out being slower than planned, meant that we made a 
small overall loss in the year. 

After a sharp contraction in 2009 the economy in Malaysia has also 
recovered well over the past year. Our business has delivered very good 
sales and profit growth driven by continued investment for customers 
in prices, promotions and Clubcard. 

In Japan, falling supermarket industry sales are providing a challenging 
background for our operations and the business continued to make 
modest losses. We were one of the first businesses to respond to the 
devastating earthquake and tsunami in Japan in March 2011 with a 
corporate donation of £50,000 through our partnership with  
the Red Cross.

Our early plans in India are continuing to progress well. Our local 
management team is helping our franchise partner, Trent, to develop 
its Star Bazaar hypermarket operation. 

Our Asian markets offer an exciting long-term growth opportunity and 
will be a key focus for our future international expansion, both in our 
established markets and in China. We have continued to invest through 
the downturn to ensure that we are in an even stronger position as the 
economic recovery continues. 

This year we plan to open 5.1m sq ft of new selling area. We have also 
continued to make good progress in developing strong brands in our 
leading Asian businesses with further expansion of Clubcard and our 
retail services businesses.

Asia results 2010/11

 £m
Actual rates

% growth
Constant rates

% growth

Asia sales 11,023 21.5 9.7

Asia revenue* 10,278 21.4 9.6

Asia trading profit 570 29.5 17.5
Trading margin  
(trading profit/revenue) 5.55% 35bp 34bp

Homeplus – a world-class business

Homeplus in South Korea is  
our largest business outside the 
UK, with revenue of £5 billion, 
making the business larger than 
many FTSE 100 companies.

We entered South Korea through 
a partnership with Samsung  
and opened our first two 
hypermarkets in 1999. Today  
we are a sophisticated multi-
format – and moving to multi-
channel – retailer with 354 stores 
and we employ over 23,000 
people. In just a decade we have 
grown from two shops to become 
the second largest retailer in the 
country and we’re closing in on 
the number one position.

And there is plenty more to come 
with significant potential for 
growth. The organised modern 

retail trade in South Korea still 
represents a relatively small 
proportion of the total market 
– just 54% of total retail sales. 
We are already the market leader 
in the rapidly growing grocery 
home shopping sector and have 
recently launched our general 
merchandise website. We’re  
also using our admired brand, 
strong store network and large 
customer base to develop our 
retail services offer.

Together with delivering 
outstanding financial 
performance, we are aiming  
to be the most respected 
corporate brand in South Korea 
and we’ve already been awarded 
South Korea’s Most Admired 
Company award.

 We have continued to invest 
through the downturn to ensure that 
we are in an even stronger position as 
the economic recovery continues. 

21.5%
Asia sales growth

* Revenue excludes VAT and the impact of IFRIC 13.
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Europe

Our operations in Europe have delivered record results and strong 
growth in sales, profits and margins. Recovering economies generally 
helped but key to this performance was the striking improvement  
in the competitiveness of our local businesses, which won market  
share rapidly. 

We have invested for customers through lower prices, sharper promotions 
and Clubcard, funded by strong productivity and substantial early 
benefits of our pan-European sourcing. The resulting strong sales 
growth has driven an improvement in profitability and margins.

Sales growth varied across the region but all markets saw sharply 
improved like-for-like sales growth compared with 2009/10, with a 
good contribution also coming from new space. 

In Ireland, like-for-like growth in the year was significantly stronger, 
and although it was broadly stable during the second half, the two-year 
trend has continued to improve. Despite a decline in consumer confidence 
resulting from political and economic uncertainty and the continued  
fall in disposable income, our business has continued its strong relative 
performance with impressive market share gains.

Our business in Poland had another good year, with good growth in 
sales and profits despite a period of subdued consumer sentiment 
following the Smolensk tragedy.

In Hungary economic conditions and consumer confidence remain 
challenging but despite this our business made solid progress. 

Growth in the Czech Republic has been supported by the successful 
launch of Clubcard – with over 10% of the population already enrolled.

A particularly strong performance in Slovakia with double-digit like-for-
like sales growth – has led to a further increase in our market share over 
the last year, further consolidating our market leadership.

As the economy in Turkey has continued to recover, we’ve resumed 
a faster rate of expansion – opening 21 new stores, including ten 
hypermarkets – helping to support strong sales growth. 

With the improving economic outlook we are stepping up the rate  
of new store opening. Some 2.6m sq ft of new space was opened in the 
year, with a programme to add a further 2.9m sq ft of new space across 
the region in 2011/12. 

Europe results 2010/11

 £m
Actual rates

% growth
Constant rates

% growth

Europe sales 10,558 5.6 7.4

Europe revenue* 9,192 5.4 7.1

Europe trading profit 527 11.2 13.7
Trading margin  
(trading profit/revenue) 5.73% 30bp 42bp 

United States

Customer feedback at Fresh & Easy remains excellent and strong 
growth in customer numbers is driving steady sales improvement  
in each store.

Although there is clearly some way to go, with these key elements 
moving in the right direction, we plan to accelerate the rate of  
new store openings to around 50 in the current year. With the 
improvements in our distribution centre and manufacturing campus 
productivity, we now expect to break-even with around 300 stores 
rather than the 400 we originally anticipated.

Our losses increased in the year as a consequence of the initial costs  
of integrating our two dedicated fresh food suppliers, 2 Sisters and 
Wild Rocket Foods, and exchange rate movements. These businesses 
have now been fully integrated with our existing kitchen operations, 
with substantially improved financial performance, product quality  
and service levels.

We expect losses to reduce sharply in the current year as strong growth 
in like-for-like sales continues and improved store operating ratios  
start to deliver shop-door profitability. We have a strong plan for the 
business to break-even towards the end of the 2012/13 financial year.

US results 2010/11

 £m
Actual rates

% growth
Constant rates

% growth

US sales 502 41.8 38.1

US revenue* 495 41.8 38.1

US trading profit/(loss) (186) (12.7) (9.7) 

extras in europe

We’ve remodelled and converted 
eight Extra stores across Central 
and Eastern Europe with an 
average uplift of 16%. See  
page 29 for more detail.

5.6%
Europe sales growth

* Revenue excludes VAT and the impact of IFRIC 13.

* Revenue excludes VAT and the impact of IFRIC 13.
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To be as strong in  
everything we sell  
as we are in food
We’ve continued to grow sales and expand  
our offer in general merchandise, clothing and 
electricals and we have a great opportunity to 
do much more.

Introduction and market context

Our general merchandise, clothing and electrical businesses have 
continued to grow, despite the challenges of weak demand in some 
of our important markets. We have seen some strong key category 
and market share performances, which have helped compensate  
for the effects of cautious consumer spending in these more 
discretionary areas. In order to align with our new structures,  
we will going forward define non-food as general merchandise, 
clothing and electricals (excluding health & beauty and household). 
Overall Group sales in this category rose 8.8% during the year to 
£10.3 billion.

In the UK, high petrol prices and increases in VAT have had a 
significant impact on discretionary consumer spending. Many high 
street retailers have suffered from declining sales and have issued 
profit warnings. Tesco has fared better – and maintained market 
share – but we haven’t been spared the impact of subdued demand. 
In the UK, general merchandise, clothing and electricals sales grew 
by 0.4% to £5.3 billion. General merchandise sales growth was 
affected by a smaller component of extension selling space in this 
year’s new space programme, with extensions providing just 10%  
of new space.

In our international markets the picture varies considerably by 
country. Most of our markets in Europe and Asia saw strong growth 
in general merchandise as the economic recovery took hold during 
the year, although a number of markets – such as Ireland and 
Hungary – remain challenging.

£10.3bn
Group sales

 1st
In July, in Prague we opened  
our first stand-alone F&F store 

£5.3bn
UK sales

Fastest
www.tesco.com/clothing: the 
fastest growing online retailer  
in volume terms in the clothing, 
footwear and accessories market

8.8%
Group sales growth
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Clothing

Clothing is a key element of our customer offer in Central Europe  
and we have had another pleasing year with 9% sales growth.  
We are now clothing market leader in the Czech Republic, Hungary 
and Slovakia.

9%
Clothing sales  

growth in  
Central Europe
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23,000
Number of products available 
through Tesco Direct

1st
First UK supermarket to stock the 
Apple iPad and Amazon Kindle

tesco tech support

Tesco Tech Support teams are 
now in over 200 of our largest  
UK stores providing our 
customers with expert advice  
on their electrical purchases.

UK

Improving the performance of general merchandise in the UK is one  
of our key priorities. Our aim is to offer our customers the same great 
quality, price and range in our general merchandise offer as they would 
find with their Tesco grocery shop. The focus is on delivering in three 
key areas with the aim of improving the general merchandise shopping 
trip for our customers:

•	 investing in making the ranges more aspirational;

•	 enhancing the shopping experience with specialist advice; and

•	 developing our multi-channel capability. 

Investing in making the ranges more aspirational
We have invested in and expanded our general merchandise ranges  
to provide greater appeal to our customers. Our offer is already good  
but there is much more we can do – in particular by offering more 
aspirational products, not just everyday basics.

In electricals, we were the first UK supermarket to stock the Apple iPad 
and the Amazon Kindle – two of the most sought-after technology 
products on the market. Keeping in tune with changes in technology 
and responding quickly to offer our customers the latest electrical 
innovations is central to our strategy and to building our reputation  
as a leading retailer in everything we sell.

Enhancing the shopping experience with specialist advice
We are investing in our people so that we are able to support and advise 
our customers when they are making big ticket purchases such as TVs 
or mobile phones. For example we have 194 Phone Shops offering 
customers impartial advice on phone packages and accessories. 

In over 200 of our largest stores, we have Tesco Tech Support teams, 
made up of staff specifically trained to help customers with technical 
queries on electrical items from TVs to cameras and satellite navigation 
systems. The additional advice helps customers get the right product 
for their individual needs, supporting a reduction in product returns. 
Alongside our in-store teams, we have a free electrical helpline for our 
customers, manned by fully trained engineers, and a dedicated Tech 
Support website.

Developing our multi-channel capability
Our multi-channel approach makes it easy for our customers to shop in 
a way that suits them – online, in-store or from catalogues. Customers 
can browse in a catalogue, order online and then collect in-store or they 
can order in-store and have the goods delivered to their home. This 
year, over 40% of Tesco Direct electrical purchases have been made 
online and picked up in-store through our Click and Collect service.

We’ve listened to our customers and adapted by expanding our range. 
We have increased the number of products available through Tesco 
Direct to around 23,000, but we need to do much more in order to 
compete with the wider ranges offered by other leading online retailers. 

In 2009/10, we launched our clothing site at www.tesco.com/clothing. 
The website, which combines our F&F ranges alongside some other 
well-known brands, has been extremely popular with customers. We 
are currently the fastest growing online retailer in the clothing, footwear 
and accessories market.

international sourcing

In order to get the best priced 
and highest quality products for 
our customers, we source many 
food, clothing and general 
merchandise goods globally and 
buy many products directly from 
producers and manufacturers.

Through our Group Sourcing 
operations, headquartered in 
Hong Kong (above), we can 
ensure:

• �better products: confidence in 
where and how they are made;

• �cheaper costs: the cheapest 
source of products for all 
countries;

• �competitive advantage: on 
range and quality versus 
market competitors; and

• �knowledge sharing: best 
practice in how we source,  
buy, make and move products.

This year, we sourced directly 
more than £4 billion worth of 
food and general merchandise 
products at retail value.
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Europe

In Europe, general merchandise, clothing and electricals sales were 
strong, reflecting an overall improving consumer background and  
a strengthening offer in our stores.

Clothing in Central Europe had a successful year with a 9% year-on-  
year growth in total sales. We are now the clothing market leader in the 
Czech Republic, Hungary and Slovakia. Building on the success of the 
F&F brand, we have introduced our F&F Blue and F&F Basics sub-brands 
to provide our customers with a greater range to choose from. Our first 
stand-alone F&F store also opened successfully in Prague last year, 
highlighting the appeal of the brand in the Czech Republic. 

In Central Europe, our trio of mid-market MY department stores 
showcase our general merchandise, clothing and electricals ranges 
including well-known brands such as Levis, FCUK and Disney. Our 
flagship MY Narodni store in Prague and our stores located in Liberec 
and Bratislava are traditional multi-floor department stores with open 
layouts and a full range of product categories at multiple price points.  
In the year, all stores made strong progress in like-for-like sales growth 
with our brands such as F&F and Go Cook competing well against more 
established luxury brands.

	 Our F&F clothing brand launched 
in South Korea and Thailand this year 
and the early response from customers 
has been excellent. 

sports shops

Our Sports Multishops in  
South Korea have increased  
sales of sporting goods in these 
stores by over 60% with great 
customer feedback.

Asia

We have seen strong general merchandise sales growth in our Asian 
businesses – which are predominantly hypermarket operations. We saw 
particularly pleasing increases in electrical products, with double-digit 
growth in Thailand and over 30% in China.

Our F&F clothing brand launched in South Korea and Thailand this  
year and the early response from customers has been excellent – a very 
good example of the skill and scale of the Tesco Group being applied 
across our global network.

Last year we opened our first three Sports Multishops in Homeplus 
stores in South Korea. These innovative sports zones are designed to 
meet growing customer needs for sporting goods, in a one-stop 
shopping environment. 

Sports Multishop presents our customers with a wide range of high- 
quality branded sporting goods, a specialised bicycle shop, a golf shop 
and over ten sports and outdoor brand shops, such as Nike and Adidas, 
in a single 15,000 sq ft location. 

Sports Multishop has increased sales of sporting goods in these  
stores by over 60% with high customer penetration. We will open 
Sports Multishop in ten more stores this year, with plans for further 
roll-out thereafter.

Going the Extra mile in Europe

This year we began the remodelling 
and conversion of some of our 
older hypermarkets across Central 
and Eastern Europe.

We’ve listened to our customers 
and are making a number of 
enhancements to our stores  
to improve the shopping trip. 
We’ve extended our range by 
introducing over 5,000 products, 
introduced product-specialist 
employees to improve service, 
and provided a better shopping 
environment through the 
introduction of conforming 
layout, fixtures and fittings. 

We’re also adding many of the 
complementary services such  
as Phone Shop, Opticians and 
Pharmacy to provide our customers 
with a wider range of general 
merchandise products. We’ve 
achieved very strong sales 
improvements across the eight 
Extras completed so far – with  
an average uplift of 16%. These 
refits are delivering particularly 
marked uplifts in general 
merchandise categories, 
including clothing and electricals. 
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To grow retail services  
in all our markets
This year we’ve made progress in our retail services 
businesses: tesco.com, Tesco Bank, Telecoms and 
dunnhumby – our consumer research business.  
We’ve been investing for the customer and laying  
the foundations for future growth.

£4.0bn
Retail services sales

15%
Online businesses sales growth

30%
dunnhumby’s sales and profits up 
over 30%

6.5m+
Tesco Bank customer accounts

2.5m+
Tesco Mobile customers

Introduction

In July 2008 when we announced our intention to take full ownership 
of Tesco Bank, we set a target to grow the profitability of our retail 
services businesses from just under £400 million in 2007/8 to £1 billion.

This year, we have made creditable progress in moving towards this 
target. We have attracted new customers, grown sales and profit 
and continued to invest – particularly in infrastructure – to equip the 
business for further growth. 

We want all of our customers, across all of our markets, to have 
access to our financial, telecoms and online services. We can do this 
by applying Group skill and scale and building on the knowledge 
which we have acquired from our retail services experience in the 
UK, Ireland and South Korea.

In 2010/11, total retail services sales were £4.0 billion, up 12% on 
2009/10 and trading profit grew to £583 million*.

Tesco Bank

Despite a challenging year in the wider banking sector, and as it 
completes its transition to full separation from The Royal Bank of 
Scotland (RBS), Tesco Bank continues to perform well.

The business has made good progress with its systems re-platforming, 
which will complete as planned in 2011. We opened our new banking 
and insurance service centres in Glasgow and Newcastle in October 
2010. All new motor and home insurance business, including renewal 
policies sold since then have, as planned, been written on new systems. 
We also launched successfully our first new product on our own 
banking platforms – the Fixed Rate Saver – last autumn. This has been 
followed by our recent innovative retail bond. Both of these initiatives 
exceeded plan and serve to diversify our funding base and increase the 
proportion of long-term funding available to the Bank. 

The Bank has made progress in key areas – with savings strongly up, 
good growth in the loan book with improved margins and an excellent 
year in credit cards, with the transaction value up 20% on 2009/10. The 
car insurance book has also resumed growth, having plateaued before 
the change of control, despite the inevitable challenges of migration. * �Retail services profit comprises profit from Telecoms, tesco.com, dunnhumby  

and Tesco Bank, including UK store ATM income.
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Tesco Telecoms 

We now have 194 Phone Shops in stores across the UK and  
this year, we have begun to open Phone Shops in our refreshed  
Extra stores in Central Europe. Our Phone Shops provide our 
customers with support and advice so that they can choose the  
best option for them.

194
Phone Shops 

in the UK
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 C ustomer account numbers grew well – in active credit cards by 
11%, personal loans by 17% and motor insurance by 8%. Our Fixed 
Rate Saver product significantly exceeded expectations and we ended 
the year with a balance of £397 million, 40% higher than planned, and 
we now have one, two and three-year options available for customers. 
The range of products available for customers will be broadened further  
this year with the planned launch of mortgages.

The Bank’s bad debt position has significantly improved year-on-year, 
with the charge to the income statement 26% lower, despite the 
growth in lending, as credit card and loan defaults reduced, helped by 
good management of bad debt and the quality of our new business. 
This excellent progress on bad debt has also resulted in an increase in 
the release of the fair value provisions we made in the Group balance 
sheet on acquisition. Based on a lower than expected level of claims,  
we have also released some of our provisions for customer claims 
against payment protection insurance policies.

These strong elements of the Bank’s performance mean that we have 
been able to offset the substantial extra provisions made in the year 
related to bodily injury claims in our motor insurance business – a trend 
affecting the whole industry – and the costs of migration, yet still 
deliver increased trading profit. 

The baseline profitability of the Bank – before provisions movements 
and the adjustments required under acquisition accounting – continues 
to improve steadily, whilst absorbing the higher costs of migration away 
from RBS. We expect further improvements in the baseline profitability 
in 2011/12.

Our Core Tier 1 capital ratio has risen substantially – to a healthy 15.9% 
at the year end. The strong growth in the Bank’s deposit base means 
that we have a significant excess of deposits over loans, as we build out 
balance sheet capacity ahead of the planned launch of mortgages.

tesco.com

Our online businesses, including online grocery and Tesco Direct, had 
another strong year. Taking into account our operations in South Korea 
and Ireland, total sales grew by 15%. Our UK operations continued to 
grow well, with double-digit growth in grocery and a further 30% 
increase at Tesco Direct.

We have worked consistently over the past year to innovate for 
customers in our online businesses so that we can provide them with  
a better online shopping trip. Our work on upgrading our tesco.com 
website has enabled us to launch an iPhone grocery app, which has 
been very popular – accounting for over 12% of customer traffic to the 
tesco.com site.

We know that our customers lead busy lives and love the convenience 
of our home grocery delivery service, so this year we have invested to 
make life even easier for customers. In the UK, we have successfully 
launched one hour delivery slots in London and we have been trialling  
a new Click and Collect service for groceries, which allows people to 
order online and collect their items from a store.

So that we can support our growth momentum, we have increased our 
UK-wide delivery capacity by adding an extra 350 vans to our fleet and 
we are currently trialling a new scheduling system to increase the 
efficiency of our vans. 

Tesco Direct provides a platform to extend the reach of our general 
merchandise, clothing and electricals offer through the internet and 
catalogues. This year, Direct has achieved strong growth of 30%, 
including clothing online, which represents solid progress against a 
backdrop of continued pressure on household budgets through 2010 
and early 2011.

Throughout the year, we have made significant investments in our 
stores to improve the multi-channel shopping offer which is available 
through Direct. For example, customers can order online and pick up 
in-store or order in-store and have their delivery dropped off at their 
door. We have added 30 new Direct desks and 89 Collection Points and 
we now have 11 Order and Collect stores.

In South Korea, we have launched a general merchandise website  
to complement the current grocery site. The new website launched  
in January. Our online business has performed well in Ireland with  
a 15% increase in sales and 12.5% increase in orders. In the next year, 
we are launching online shopping sites in the Czech Republic and Poland.

12%
12% of customer traffic to  
tesco.com site coming via our  
grocery app

£2m+
Our international calling card has 
generated sales of over £2 million 
since its launch

tesco credit card

In February, one in eight of all 
MasterCard and Visa credit card 
transactions in the UK were 
made on a Tesco credit card.
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Tesco Telecoms

Our Telecoms business grew well during the year, maintaining strong 
market share, driven primarily by the growth of Tesco Mobile. In 2010 
Tesco Mobile was one of the fastest growing UK mobile networks, 
growing its customer base by 24% to over 2.5 million. 

Customers have responded positively to an increase in the number  
of mobile handsets we are offering, including the latest smartphones 
from Android to HTC models.

In 2010, we entered the international calling card market. The market 
has recently been investigated by OFCOM and Tesco was one of the 
top performing service providers praised for its value, clarity and 
customer service. Our international calling card has generated sales  
of over £2 million since launching and around 16,000 cards are sold  
in-store every week.

Our Tesco Mobile joint ventures with O2 in Ireland and Slovakia are 
performing well. Both businesses are growing strongly and moved  
into profit for the first time this year.

dunnhumby

dunnhumby has had a very strong year, increasing sales and profits by 
over 30% with excellent growth in the UK supplier business and from 
its overseas joint ventures with retailers. 

Following the acquisition of the final 10% of the business in the  
first half of the year, dunnhumby is now a wholly owned subsidiary  
of Tesco.

 In South Korea, we have 
launched a general merchandise 
website to complement the  
current grocery site. 

Homeplus

Homeplus is the number one 
grocery home shopping provider 
in South Korea, delivering just 
under 1.5 million orders last year.

tesco direct

In November 2010, Tesco Direct 
launched a new mobile website 
allowing customers to easily 
browse for and buy general 
merchandise items on their 
smartphone. 

dunnhumby 

dunnhumby was founded in 
1989 by Edwina Dunn and Clive 
Humby with the intention of 
embedding customer insight into 
the way organisations work. By 
analysing data from over 340 
million people in 25 countries, 
dunnhumby helps companies to 
put their customers at the centre 
of every business decision. 

dunnhumby uses the insight 
generated by data they gather  
to allow companies to improve 
customers’ experiences of 
shopping in their stores, branding 
and marketing. They work with 
companies to help them tailor 
their offer to the needs and 
wants of their customers. 

dunnhumby’s work with  
some of the world’s biggest 
retailers and brands has 
demonstrated that companies 
which deliver value to customers 
through personalisation earn 
customers’ loyalty. 

This strategic approach of 
putting the customer first in 
business improves their clients’ 
like-for-like sales and profit 
margins – or, put simply, creates 
measurable value.

Employing more than 1,500 
people in 30 offices in Europe, 
Asia and the Americas, 
dunnhumby serves a prestigious 
list of companies including 
Kellogg’s, The Kroger Co., Müller, 
Procter & Gamble, Coca-Cola 
and Mars. dunnhumby’s work 
has also extended beyond the 
grocery sector to include 
partnerships with Macy’s, Shell 
and the Panera Bread Company. 

dunnhumby has worked with 
Tesco since the launch of 
Clubcard in the UK in 1995 and 
now works across the 12 markets 
where we have Clubcard.
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To put our responsibilities to 
the communities we serve 
at the heart of what we do
We work hard to be a good neighbour in the 
communities around our stores and provide a 
leadership role on the environment. Building  
a long-term sustainable business is crucial to  
our future success.

Introduction

Community is an essential part of our long-term strategy. We are 
committed to tackling the issues that matter to our communities 
and society at large.

We have five Community Promises which we have developed by 
listening closely to what our customers and staff expect from us. 
They are:

•	 Buying and selling our products responsibly;

•	C aring for the environment;

•	P roviding customers with healthy choices;

•	 Actively supporting local communities; and

•	C reating good jobs and careers.

Each year, we set KPIs in each of the 13 countries where we operate 
stores so that we can measure our progress on projects which sit 
alongside each of these commitments.

Pledging to become a zero-carbon business by 2050, for example, 
means that we can play our part in tackling climate change.  
Climate change matters to our customers wherever we operate  
and by cutting our own emissions, we can make a real difference. 
We are also working with other businesses to transform the 
consumer goods industry by tackling carbon ‘hot spots’ in the  
global supply chain. At the same time, we are helping our customers 
to cut their carbon footprints by 50% by 2020.

£64m+ 
Donated to local charities  
and good causes

100
Community Fairs in the UK

100%
Nutritional labelling on eligible 
own-brand food lines

3
Three new zero-carbon stores  
in the Czech Republic and the UK

7.7%
Emissions reduction from our 
baseline portfolio of buildings

To read our Corporate Responsibility 
Report online

www.tescoplc.com/ 
corporate-responsibility/
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Schools of Extended Education

In South Korea, we celebrated the opening of our 100th School  
of Extended Education and took our total to 107 in the year. Our 
South Korean Schools provide people with a place to get involved  
in a variety of activities from dance classes to cooking.

940,000+
places at our Schools  

of Extended Education  
in South Korea  

this year
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Buying and selling our products responsibly

In every country throughout the world, our customers want safe, 
affordable products. Many also want to know that what they buy  
is sourced to robust ethical and environmental standards. We want  
to provide all of our customers with what they want, whatever their  
needs – and we believe it is possible to do this while upholding strong 
standards across our business and in our supply chains.

We work in partnership with our suppliers to ensure our products are 
sourced responsibly. We have local technical teams across the world, 
working alongside our commercial teams to ensure that our standards 
are met in every area of our business, and dedicated ethical trade 
managers in key sourcing countries.

We continue to engage with our suppliers through our Trading Fairly 
programme and in Bangladesh, China and South Africa we help 
suppliers and stakeholders address local and national challenges.

We are also working to strengthen the sustainability of our supply 
chains by assisting with export growth. In India, we held a Tesco Meet 
the Buyer event in Mumbai this year and have been working with the 
Joint Economic Trade Committee to help Indian exporters access 
international markets. 

We have listened to our customers and know that many of them want 
to buy locally sourced products to support their local communities.  
This year in the UK, we have reached sales of £1 billion for local products. 
In Turkey, the large majority of our own-brand Kipa products are 
domestically sourced, helping many small local suppliers to compete 
with larger international suppliers.

Caring for the environment

As one of the world’s largest retailers, we have a clear responsibility – 
and a significant opportunity – to protect the environment. Our aim  
is to create more sustainable ways of doing business. 

We are reducing our direct impact on the environment, working with 
our suppliers to manage resources more carefully in our supply chains  
and empowering our customers to create a mass movement in green 
consumption. 

We know that retail businesses can play a powerful role in tackling 
climate change. We are determined not only to play our part, but  
to play a leading role. We are working to reduce our own emissions,  
while also engaging with customers, other businesses, suppliers,  
non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and governments to  
bring about change. 

We are making real progress in becoming a low-carbon enterprise.  
This year, Tesco was named the top retailer in the Carbon Disclosure 
Project’s 2010 UK FTSE 350 and Global 500 reports for our carbon 
reporting and performance. Our global direct carbon footprint in 
2010/11 was 5.44 million tonnes of CO2e (carbon dioxide equivalent). 
This year, we continued to decouple our business growth from the 
growth in our carbon emissions: while our net sales area grew by 8.8%, 
our carbon footprint increased by only 1.7%.

We opened the world’s first zero-carbon supermarket in Ramsey, 
Cambridgeshire, in 2009. This year, we opened our first international 
zero-carbon store in Jaromĕr̆, Czech Republic, and completed  
two more zero-carbon stores in the UK, in Welshpool and Bourne.

Together with Unilever, Tesco co-chairs the Sustainability Steering 
Group of the Consumer Goods Forum, and is leading the project 
announced in December 2010 to achieve zero net deforestation by 
2020. This work involves developing and committing to sustainable 
supply chains for palm oil, timber, soy, paper and beef.

Providing customers with healthy choices

We want to help our staff and customers to lead healthy lives. As a 
global business, we know that ‘healthy lives’ mean different things  
in our different markets. We aim to work with partners in industry, 
academic and technical experts and governments to understand and 
help tackle key public health issues – for example, food safety, obesity 
and alcohol misuse.

We want to be highly valued by our local  
communities and this year, we have made 
good progress with our Community Promises.

Zero-carbon stores

We opened our second  
zero-carbon store in Jaromĕr̆, 
Czech Republic, in February.

£1bn
of locally sourced product sales  
in the UK
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We have a clear role to play in making high-quality foods affordable  
to everyone, and in giving customers the information they need to 
make healthy food choices. We can also use our trusted brand to 
encourage our staff and customers across the world to adopt healthy, 
active lifestyles.

We currently have 100% nutrition labelling on eligible own-brand food 
lines in all of our markets and we offer Healthy Eating brands in seven 
countries. Our Healthy Eating brands are nutritionally balanced 
products that have controlled amounts of fats, sugar and salt.

Last year, we encouraged over 7.2 million staff and customers to get 
active across the world – exceeding our targets in all markets. Our  
‘Get Healthy with Tesco Lotus’ programme helped 4.2 million people 
get active in 2010 through an aerobics competition, an annual ‘Tesco 
Lotus Walkathon’ and football clinics.

In the UK, our Great School Run involved over 1 million primary school 
children and more than 700,000 customers and staff took part in 
Cancer Research UK’s Race for Life and Run 10k.

Actively supporting local communities

The local communities around our stores are home to many of our 
customers, staff and suppliers. We want Tesco to be more than a store 
to them. This means being in tune with the needs and values of local 
communities, engaging positively on the issues that matter to them 
and making lasting contributions that improve local areas. By doing 
this, we ensure we are true to our values, and help build our customers’ 
lifetime loyalty. 

We have exceeded our target of donating at least 1% of pre-tax profits 
to charities and good causes. In total, this means that we have donated 
over £64 million this year. We have also raised £7.2 million for our UK 
Charity of the Year, CLIC Sargent.

We are continuing to roll out our Community Champions across  
the Group. Community Champions are Tesco employees who spend  
a proportion of their week coordinating activities in their local 
communities. Our customers want to feel engaged in their local causes 
and the best people to identify these causes are living and working in 
the communities they support. We now have over 650 Community 
Champions across the Group.

In Thailand, we achieved our ‘one million hours’ volunteering target, 
reinforcing our position as the retailer perceived to be most supportive 
of local communities. Last year in the Czech Republic, our Tesco 
Foundation shared £23,700 between 21 NGOs, with the donation 
being used for a variety of schemes from the tutoring of disadvantaged 
children through to equipment for disabled people. 

Following on from the success of our UK Community Fairs initiative in 
2009, we increased the number of Community Fairs to 100. The fairs, 
held up and down the UK, provided an opportunity for local charities  
to sign up new volunteers and for local suppliers to showcase their 
products. The fairs were a resounding success, with over 10,000 new 
volunteers signing up for local projects.

Creating good jobs and careers

We have over 290,000 employees across the UK, making us the biggest  
private-sector employer in this market, and over 492,000 worldwide.  
We are dedicated to providing diverse career opportunities for all our 
staff worldwide – from positions in stores, to roles for store managers, 
buyers, accountants and lawyers. This year, we increased the total 
number of staff in the Group by 21,000.

Our Regeneration Partnership stores in the UK help long-term 
unemployed people get back to work and guarantee face-to-face 
interview training for everyone who applies. Our successful candidates 
have an eight-week training course on life skills and confidence 
building, after which they begin work in our stores. This year, we 
developed eight new Regeneration Partnerships – bringing the  
total to 35 stores, and around 4,000 jobs created for long-term 
unemployed people. 

For more information on creating good jobs and careers, see pages  
42 to 45.

Tesco Great School Run

Over one million primary school 
children in the UK took part in 
our Great School Run.

 We are committed to buying 
and selling our products responsibly 
to ensure that everyone involved is 
treated fairly. 
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To be a creator of 
highly valued brands
Tesco has been an industry leader in branding for many  
years using our broad appeal, wide product assortment  
and global supply chains to develop businesses that deliver 
reliable, innovative and great value brands for customers.  
The creation and spread of a number of strong brands  
has helped us to become a growth company, trusted by 
customers, valued by staff, respected by communities  
and profitable for shareholders.

A brand is a promise, a set of fundamental principles that define a  
product or business. It is an intangible representation of what a company  

stands for in the minds of its customers and other stakeholders.

Retail brands

Product brands Pillar brands
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Tesco Value and Finest in the UK 

Customers appreciate the quality and breadth of our range and we are 
continuing to innovate in this area, particularly with our Pillar brands. 

The popularity of our Pillar brands with customers has meant that 
Tesco Value has become the second largest food brand in the UK – 
ahead of Coca-Cola – with sales of more than £1 billion a year. 

Tesco Value is only pushed into second place by Tesco Finest. More 
than half of our customers buy from the Finest range on a regular basis, 
from Finest spectacles to Finest Restaurant Collection ready meals, 
making it an important component of our sales mix. £1bn

Both Finest and  
Value now sell  

more than £1bn  
each year
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Why are we building brands?

Building brands enhances the value of our business by benefiting  
all of our stakeholders, including customers, staff, communities and 
shareholders. Being viewed positively by our stakeholders supports the 
creation of a successful, sustainable and profitable long-term business. 

What’s the benefit to both our stakeholders and our 
Company of building brands?

By building strong brands through our own products, we offer 
customers increased value, choice and quality. Customers trust our 
brands. They are loyal to our brands because they know what to expect 
from them and what they stand for. With wine, for example, the Finest 
logo helps customers to pick out a good quality option without having 
to be a connoisseur.

Strong Product and Pillar brands give us a key point of differentiation 
from our competitors and enable us to continue to meet the changing 
needs of our customers. Once customers understand the values  
that our brands stand for, they are more likely to trust in our ability  
to diversify into new service areas. In financial services, for example, 
with Tesco Bank we’ve brought straightforward and good-quality 
banking solutions based on the needs of our customers to a market 
characterised by complexity and poor customer service.

Wherever we operate we support local communities, their causes  
and the environment. Through initiatives such as our Community 
Champions programme, Get Healthy with Tesco Lotus in Thailand  

and the UK Tesco Great School Run, we’re known to be a good 
neighbour. By benefiting local communities, our brand has taken  
on new meaning among stakeholders – that of a responsible retailer.

By developing a brand reputation for offering great value and service  
to customers and being a responsible member of the community, we 
can attract great people to work for us. As a responsible and flexible 
employer with a track record of developing talent within the business, 
Tesco is also seen as a great place to build a career.

The increased emotional and functional loyalty from customers,  
staff and communities generated by our brand building has contributed 
to Tesco becoming a profitable, sustainable growth opportunity  
for shareholders to invest in. Investment provides us with further 
opportunities to build and develop our brands across the Group, in turn 
allowing us to diversify to the benefit of customers, staff, communities 
and shareholders.

Homeplus
received South Korea’s Most  
Admired Company award in  
October 2010

 The increased emotional and 
functional loyalty from customers, 
staff and communities generated by 
our brand building has contributed 
to Tesco becoming a profitable, 
sustainable growth opportunity 
for shareholders. 

We launched our clothing brand F&F in the  
UK in 2001 with the aim of offering unbeatable 
value for money, not compromised by quality, 
design or provenance. F&F is now available  
in over 450 stores across the UK and is also 
available online.

As awareness and popularity has grown in the 
UK, we’ve also extended the brand – launching 
F&F in nine other markets across Europe and 
Asia. F&F is already the market-leading clothing 
brand in the Czech Republic, Hungary and 
Slovakia. As the brand continues to develop,  
we opened our first stand-alone F&F store 
(above) – in Prague – this year.

As customers have begun to gain confidence  
in the F&F brand, we have also broadened our 
range – with sub-brands such as F&F Basics, 
F&F Couture (above) and F&F Petite and 
extended the brand into homeware with a 
good, better, best hierarchy under F&F Home 
Basics, F&F Home and F&F Home Collection.

F&F
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When entering a new market, building high- 
quality stores in great locations is a priority. 
Our founder, Jack Cohen, developed the first 
store in the UK, which culminated in the 1980s 
with the Tesco superstore – still a core part of 
Tesco today. We’ve since gone on to develop 
hypermarket format stores and smaller 
formats such as Metro and Express.

It’s important that our stores meet customers’ 
expectations. A multi-format store offer, from 
Express to Extra, provides customers with 
different shopping trips to suit their varied 
needs. In Europe, we are introducing Extras, 
offering customers more products and 
services, from Phone Shops to Pharmacies.

A crucial part of building an efficient network  
is the creation of centralised distribution 
centres to serve the store network quickly and 
efficiently. In Thailand this year, Tesco Lotus 
built its first Fresh Distribution Centre, 
handling over 230,000 cases of food every  
day. In China, we opened three distribution 
centres to serve our growing network.

Once a network has been built in a market,  
we can begin to evolve a collection of stores 
into a Retail brand and to develop Product  
and Pillar brands.

Through the introduction of Pillar brands,  
in food, for example, we provide customers 
with great choice, value and quality. We work 
hard to make sure that each of our brands is 
distinguishable and lives up to our customers’ 
expectations. This builds the crucial element  
of trust in our brands. It also enables us to 
differentiate ourselves from other retailers, 
particularly in less developed markets.

Clubcard provides us with unique insight  
into our customers’ shopping habits so that  
we can continuously work to meet their needs. 
Clubcard gives our customers a sense of 
belonging and says ‘thank you’ by rewarding 
them for their loyalty. As a result, customers 
trust in and feel committed to the Tesco brand.

Once Retail, Product and Pillar brands are 
present in a market, customers have an 
understanding of what our brands stand for – 
they trust in them. This means that our 
customers have confidence in our ability  
to deliver different products and services, 
allowing us to extend the Tesco brand into  
new areas. 

In many cases, the extension of our brand 
accompanies changes in our customers’ lives. 
Changes such as the growth of the internet 
have led to the creation of new platforms  
for our brands with tesco.com, for example.  
We’re also innovating for our customers, 
offering new innovative products, such as  
our successful Tesco Bank Fixed Rate Saver.

We’re now beginning to extend the brand  
in a number of our international markets. In 
South Korea, we have a number of co-branded 
credit card offers to which 1.3 million customers 
have signed up, demonstrating the strength  
of the Homeplus brand.

building the network	 building the brand	 extending the brand

Evolution of the tesco brand

When entering new markets across the 
world we have broadly followed the same 
model, adapting where necessary to reflect 
the local culture and sentiment. 
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To build our team so that  
we create more value
We are sharing operational excellence and  
leadership excellence across the Group so that  
we can successfully develop capability and  
nurture talent across our growing business. 

492,714
Employees

75%
We pay at least 75% of employee 
medical, dental, prescription and 
vision costs in the US

 1,274
Employees at Tesco Bank

£105.5m
Value of shares awarded under 
Shares In Success

70%
Increase in the number of female 
Directors across the Group

Introduction

We treat people how we like to be treated. We want our people to 
enjoy working at Tesco. Our people do a great job each and every 
day by giving our customers the best possible shopping trip.

By creating an open environment of trust and respect, our people 
feel supported, they share their knowledge and experience and  
work hard to give our customers great service.

We support our people, trusting in their ability to deliver while 
helping them to reach their full potential. We encourage our  
people to learn on the job and take responsibility from day one. 

Giving our people an opportunity to get on in their careers is very 
important. With the increasing breadth of the Tesco business,  
our people have a great opportunity to develop their skills and 
experience across new product areas, services and countries.

Every year, we build our plans for the year around our People 
Promises. We want all of our people across all of our markets to:

•	 be treated with respect;

•	 have an opportunity to get on;

•	 have a manager who helps them; and

•	 have an interesting job.

It’s through our People Promises and our benefits package that we 
are proud to say that our people stay with us for a long time. Around 
half of our Director population has at least 12 years’ service.

In recognition of the importance of people across our business,  
our Group Personnel Director, Alison Horner, is now part of our 
Executive Committee. Alison is a great example of talent developed 
in Tesco, with 12 years of experience across the business in both 
Personnel and Operations.
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career development 

We believe that home-grown managers make valuable business 
leaders because they understand our culture and approach.  
Our new CEO, Philip Clarke, is an example of this, having started 
work at Tesco part-time as a schoolboy. Across the business, we 
currently have almost 30,000 people on development programmes, 
gaining the knowledge, leadership skills and qualifications for their 
next role.

30,000
People training for 

their next role
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We know that to be a successful international retailer we need to 
combine deep local knowledge with global experience. We are 
committed to developing local leaders in each country we’re in.  
In South Korea, our largest international business, we have over  
23,000 employees and just nine people from our UK business.

We are also keen to provide opportunities for our people to gain 
experience in our global markets. As the business grows, Tesco  
benefits from moving our people around, sharing their skills and 
expertise across the Group.

We want the women in our teams to achieve their full potential. Back  
in 1997 in the UK, we had only 31 female Store Managers, we now  
have almost 150. In the last four years in the UK the number of female 
directors has increased by nearly 70% across the Group and we have 
three women on our Board.

There is still work to do. Our Women’s Network provides skills 
development, mentoring and networking opportunities for our female 
managers and directors, and this year we’re launching our new Women 
in Leadership programme. Over 50 women from our UK and European 
businesses have been nominated based on their potential to undertake 
bigger and broader roles. The programme consists of seminars and 
courses focusing on confidence, strategic career planning and building 
personal authority.

Three women in Tesco are currently being coached as part of the 
FTSE 100 Cross-Company Mentoring Programme. The Programme, 
launched in 2003, involves FTSE 100 Chairmen and CEOs acting as 
mentors to senior women just below board level in other FTSE 
companies. The mentors guide and advise women in the management 
of their careers so that they are better positioned to be considered for 
board appointments. Our Chairman David Reid, will begin working  
with his third mentee from outside Tesco in June 2011.

Building capability

As part of our ongoing commitment to building capability, we are 
investing in the Tesco Academy. Our Academy supports the 
development of our people through training courses, networking 
opportunities and mentoring. 

Our Academy is especially important to our managers and directors, 
supporting them in the delivery of their day-to-day roles and the 
development of their leadership capabilities.

In July, we will open our zero-carbon Academy centre in Incheon,  
South Korea. Asia is a rapidly growing region for Tesco and the  
Academy will help us to build capability in the area. 

Each and every job in Tesco has a clearly assigned training programme 
to accompany it. We work hard to ensure that every member of our 
team receives the operational training which they need for their job  
and the leadership skills which can support their career development. 

In China, our Store Manager Programme has been created so that we 
can recruit and develop people to become our future Store Managers. 
This is especially important as we expand in this quickly developing 
country. The programme started in October 2010 with 22 candidates 
taking part. Thailand is currently in the process of recruiting candidates 
so that they can launch their own Store Manager Programme.

Recruitment and growth

As Tesco grows and diversifies, we are able to offer more jobs and 
broader roles to people in the communities around our stores, depots 
and offices. This year we have recruited 21,000 people worldwide.

Over the past year, the Tesco Bank workforce has more than tripled  
in size. As Tesco Bank develops, we have an increasing need for people 
to join the team so that we can support the expanding Tesco Bank 
customer base. The vast majority of the new Tesco Bank staff are 
customer service representatives and team leaders, following the 
opening of new call centres in Newcastle and Glasgow this year. 

Our graduate programmes fast track graduate trainees with high 
potential into leadership positions. This year we have recruited around 
140 Commercial graduates into UK and Central European buying  
and general merchandise roles – the largest number of Commercial 
graduates that we have employed since the programme began.  
This is part of our ongoing commitment to invest in future leaders.

Talent and promotions

One of our People Promises is that we will provide ‘an opportunity to 
get on’. We promise to support and develop our people so that they  
are able to advance in their careers. All of our people have discussions 
about their careers and performance and all of our leadership teams 
talk about succession plans and talent at least once a year.

Fresh & Easy

Our US business, Fresh & Easy, 
created over 800 jobs this year 
and the opening of our first  
11 stores in Northern California 
created a further 300 local jobs 
in March and April. 

All Fresh & Easy employees have 
the opportunity to work at least 
20 hours per week, which entitles 
them to comprehensive and 
affordable healthcare, with Fresh 
& Easy picking up the majority of 
the costs.
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In Malaysia, we have launched our Finance Graduate Programme. 
Building on the knowledge gained from our UK Finance Graduate 
scheme, the Malaysian programme was launched to support our 
ambition of becoming an employer of choice for Finance in the country. 
By supporting and developing local graduates, we can also support the 
development of our Finance capability in Asia. 

Rewards and benefits

Our people do a great job for our customers and we want them to  
feel valued and rewarded. We believe that staff rewards should be 
competitive, simple and sustainable to build trust and loyalty amongst 
our employees and assist with hiring and retention. We invest in pay 
and, in the UK, we have the highest basic pay rates for customer 
assistants of any major supermarket. All of our staff move to higher 
rates of pay within a year of joining our business. 

Across all of our markets, we offer a wide range of competitive benefits. 
In the US, for example, we pay at least 75% of medical, dental, 
prescription and vision costs.

Our staff Clubcard launched in Thailand and Malaysia this year with a 
positive reception from our staff, and we are planning to introduce the 
staff Clubcard into two further countries later this year. The card offers 
a discount to staff when they shop in our stores.

In the UK we have a defined benefit pension scheme which is greatly 
valued by our staff and rare among FTSE 100 companies. Our UK 
pension provides people with an annual income at retirement as well  
as benefits on ill health and death based on their pay and service.  
Last year we invested over £270 million in our UK staff pensions.

Share ownership incentive schemes help our staff to get their own 
personal stake in Tesco. 216,000 staff shared a total of £105.5 million 
when the Shares In Success scheme matured in 2010. 

tesco academy 

Our zero-carbon Tesco 
Academy centre in Incheon, 
South Korea, will open in July.

To read the Annual Report online: 
http://ar2011.tescoplc.com/

Degree programmes 

In a number of our markets,  
we provide our people with the 
opportunity to study for a degree 
while they work. 

In the UK and Ireland, we provide 
the opportunity for employees  
to complete a Retail Foundation 
Degree. This is a two-year retail 
degree undertaken by staff 
members in association with 
Manchester Metropolitan 
University. The first pilot group 
of 17 employees began their 
courses in 2007 and graduated  
in 2009. 

These students spend several 
days at university at the 
beginning of each term and  
the rest of their studying is  
either conducted online, by 
telephone or via email. This way, 
they earn while they learn, with 
Tesco paying all their fees. Given 
that university fees are now 
much higher in the UK, we 
expect the popularity of this 
scheme to increase dramatically. 
Over the past two years, 56 
students have graduated and 

over 60% of this population  
have progressed to a higher 
managerial role.

Building on from the success  
in the UK and Ireland, in 2008  
in Turkey we launched a Retail 
Programme in collaboration  
with Izmir Economic University. 
Whilst they are studying, 
students complete vocational 
training with Tesco Kipa, which 
ensures them a guaranteed job 
with us after their graduation.  
In Turkey, unemployment for 
young people is especially high 
so the guarantee of a job at the 
end of the programme makes  
a real difference. 

60%
of those who have completed  
a Retail Foundation Degree  
have progressed to a higher 
managerial role

Our first National Values Awards Ceremony 

We want our people to feel 
valued for the work which they 
do. In our business, we have 
Values awards which are given  
to colleagues to say thank you 
when they have gone the extra 
mile in their work. 

Last year, we had our first ever 
Values Awards Ceremony in the 
UK. The ceremony recognised 
the exceptional contributions 
made by colleagues from all 
levels across the business. 60 
finalists attended the event  
from over 6,000 nominations. 

The nominees were put forward 
by colleagues in a variety of 
categories from ‘Snow Hero’ to 
‘Being first for customers’. The 
event was a great success and 
will be repeated this year. 
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Finding the right location

Our Site Research departments in each country direct the property 
acquisition strategy by identifying optimal locations for new store 
developments and extensions. This work is underpinned by advanced 
spatial analysis and a data-led approach that considers our customers, 
competitors, local market shares and existing store performance.

The Site Research teams provide sales forecasts for new stores  
using highly accurate, in-house models built using our existing store 
performance, Clubcard data, demographic data, government statistics 
and road networks. On average we forecast the sales of new UK stores 
to within 3% accuracy. 

Property – developing and 
building stores for customers

Tesco’s property activities have one principal 
objective: to ensure our customers can benefit 
from the best located and designed stores.  
As a result of this property development and 
management, we also create sustainable,  
long-term, embedded value for shareholders. 

Acquiring high-quality property is an important component of being  
a successful retailer. Through our experience over decades in the UK – 
and more recently in international markets – we have market-leading 
property skills that help us stay ahead of our competitors. 

We have built up a substantial set of assets, which in total have a market 
value of £36 billion. By owning our property we get the benefits of 
appreciation in property prices – in particular in the emerging markets 
in which we operate.

The process for creating value in property starts with finding the right 
location. After acquiring a site and gaining planning consent we design 
and build a world-class store. We then trade from that store and 
increase its value as we grow our sales. And then once an asset is 
mature we look to crystallise the value created by selling it and leasing  
it back at a reasonable rent. This frees up capital which can be invested 
in new developments.

Flexible, multi-format approach

Having multiple formats – from large shopping malls to Express 
convenience stores – allows us to fulfil the full range of shopping 
missions for customers and it also gives us flexibility to adapt to 
different local markets and planning regimes. In some cases we also 
develop mixed-use projects, combining new retail space with residential 
development on the same site. This enables us to build a store on  
a desirable site when otherwise it would not be economically viable. 
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Design blueprints

Our formats are supported by design blueprints to ensure  
best practice is replicated across the Tesco Group. We have used  
our successful UK formats and experience internationally to build  
plans for each of our formats, as well as for our mall developments.  
The blueprints codify guidelines for the sales area, design standards, 
operating procedures, people plans and financial insight. They also 
allow us to build for less as we standardise building specifications and 
fixtures and fittings for Group scale buying.

Shopping malls

Tesco is one of the world’s 
largest operators of shopping 
malls, with approximately  
30m sq ft of mall space across 
Europe and Asia. In these 
markets we have found that the 
most successful hypermarkets 
are located in busy shopping 
malls and by owning and 
operating our own malls we are 
able to ensure we have high-
quality sites from which our 
hypermarkets can trade.

Our mall business is a 
combination of owning and 
operating existing malls – as  
a landlord – and building new 
malls as a developer. The mall 
business provides a stable, 
profitable income stream – one 
that has grown throughout the 
recession. Our significant 
experience in operating malls 
and our many long-term tenant 

relationships with retailers  
help us to design and fill our  
new malls.

Our fastest expansion in new 
malls is currently in China where 
we are rolling out our new 
Lifespace mall concept. The 
blueprint is approximately 
400,000 sq ft of retail and family 
leisure space anchored by a 
Tesco hypermarket. We have 
four malls currently trading 
and expect to have up to ten by 
the end of this year. We’re also 
starting to redevelop some of 
our older malls around the world 
to access their full potential.  
In a number of markets we are 
starting to convert small strips  
of shops alongside well-located 
Tesco hypermarkets into large 
modern shopping malls, creating 
compelling retail destinations.

Property Finance Strategy

Tesco releases some of the value that it has created through carefully 
selected divestments of some of its property, as well as taking 
advantage of strong market conditions offering good yields. Over the 
last five years we have delivered in excess of £5 billion of proceeds in 
line with our stated objectives in 2006 at an average net initial yield of 
4.9%. We have also generated profits from property-related items of  
£1.3 billion over the past five years. We have used the proceeds to 
invest in property assets in growth economies, buy back c.£1.1 billion  
of our own shares and enhance dividends for shareholders.

In the future we intend to deliver £250 – £350 million per year in 
property profits, which is a sustainable profit stream as it is broadly 
equivalent to the value we create through development activities.  
This will require us to divest just over £1 billion of property per year.  
This level of divestment is sustainable as we invest around £2.5 billion 
per year in growth capital – so the asset base will continue to grow.

It is currently more attractive to divest UK property as yields and 
projected GDP growth in the UK are lower than in our overseas 
markets. Over time however, we expect a growing proportion of the 
divestments to come from our other countries as properties mature. 
Some of these future international divestments will be shopping malls 
that have been fully developed. In such cases, we will release capital for 
new investments by selling the mall to investors and leasing back the 
Tesco hypermarket. Importantly, when we do this, it will always be our 
objective to manage the malls after divestment to ensure they remain 
excellent locations from which our hypermarkets can succeed.
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*	 �All KPIs are for 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011, 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010, 
53 weeks ended 28 February 2009 and 52 weeks ended 23 February 2008 unless 
otherwise stated.

**	 Restated for IFRS 2 and IFRIC 13.
±	 �Using ‘normalised’ tax rate before the start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct, and 

excludes the impact of foreign exchange in equity and our acquisition of a majority 
share in Dobbies.

†	 �Internet sales growth defined as total tesco.com and online telecoms sales growth.

Total shareholder return

Definition
Total shareholder return is the 
notional return from a share and 
is measured as the percentage 
change in the share price, plus 
the dividends paid. This is 
measured over the last five years.

Capital expenditure

Definition
The additions to property,  
plant and equipment,  
investment property and 
intangible assets.

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Definition
ROCE is defined as profit before 
interest after tax divided by the 
calculated average of net assets 
plus net debt plus dividend 
creditor less net assets held  
for resale. ROCE is a relative 
profit measurement that not  
only incorporates the funds 
shareholders have invested,  
but also funds invested by banks  
and other lenders, and therefore 
shows the productivity of the 
assets of the Group.

Performance
ROCE increased substantially to 
12.9% (last year 12.1%) driven  
by operational improvements in 
the form of strong profit growth, 
improved working capital and 
greater capital efficiency as a 
result of our sale and leaseback 
programme. We have set 
ourselves a target of increasing 
ROCE to 14.6% by 2014/15.
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Sales and profit growth

	 2008	 2009	 2010	 2011

Group sales growth (inc. VAT)	 11.1%	 15.1%	 6.8%	 8.1%

UK sales growth (inc. VAT)	 6.7%	 9.5%	 4.2%	 5.5%

International sales growth (inc. VAT)	 25.3%	 30.6%	 8.8%	 13.7%

Profit before tax	 5.7%	 4.1%**	 8.9%	 11.3%

Underlying profit before tax	 11.8%	 9.8%**	 8.7%	 12.3%

How did we do?

2008 2009 2010 2011

12.9%± 12.8%** 12.1% 12.9%

Reduction in CO2 emissions

Definition
This measure shows the overall year-on-year reduction in greenhouse 
gas emissions from existing stores and distribution centres built before 
2006/7, adjusted to exclude emissions from acquisitions and extensions.

2008 2009 2010 2011

4.6% 4.8% 7.8% 7.7%

Reduction in CO2 emissions intensity of new 
stores and distribution centres

Definition
Intensity is measured as greenhouse gas emissions/sq ft. The measure 
indicates the average reduction in emissions intensity of all new stores 
and distribution centres built since 2006/7 (the base year).

2008 2009 2010 2011

14.7% 25.3% 28.8% 28.8%
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Underlying diluted earnings per share

Definition
Underlying diluted earnings per 
share is the calculation of profit 
after tax and minority interest 
divided by the diluted weighted 
average number of shares in issue 
during the year. It is the amount 
which could be paid out on each 
share if the Company decided to 
distribute all its profits as 
dividends instead of retaining 
some for future expansion.

full year dividend per share

The dividend is paid in two 
instalments.

Net debt and gearing

Definition
Net debt is our short-term and 
long-term debt less cash and 
cash equivalents, including 
derivative financial instruments, 
and other financial assets  
and liabilities, and excluding 
Tesco Bank.

Definition
Gearing is calculated as net 
borrowings divided by total 
equity.
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‘i find my work interesting’

Definition
The ‘I find my work interesting’ 
measure shows the percentage  
of our Group employees who 
completed our annual staff survey 
and agreed with the statement  
‘I find my work interesting’.

Performance
With high levels of engagement, 
both the business and our 
customers continue to enjoy the 
benefits of more experienced and 
confident staff.

69%

14.46p
10.8% growth in 2010/11

internet sales growth

15.2%†

fixed charge cover	

Definition
Fixed charge cover is the ratio of EBITDAR (EBITDAR defined as 
statutory operating profit before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation 
and rent, adjusted for impairments (as listed in note 31) and excluding 
Tesco Bank EBITDAR) divided by total debt service (interest on a 
historical basis) and operating lease expenses.

2008 2009 2010 2011

5.5x 4.2x 3.7x 3.9x

NET INDEBTEDNESS	

Definition
Net indebtedness is the ratio of adjusted net debt (including statutory 
net debt, pension deficit and the net present value of lease obligations) 
divided by EBITDAR (EBITDAR defined as statutory operating profit 
before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and rent, adjusted for 
impairments (as listed in note 31) and excluding Tesco Bank EBITDAR).

2008 2009 2010 2011

2.83x 3.58x 3.19x 2.84x
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Group Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) increased substantially 
– to 12.9% (last year 12.1%). We expect to deliver our target increase  
of 200 basis points, on our 2005/6 base of 12.6%, by 2014/15, taking 
ROCE to 14.6%. This increase will be driven predominantly by 
operational improvement – growth in asset turnover and margin – 
combined with improved capital efficiency (work in progress release 
and our property programme). By geography and business segment, 
the increases in ROCE will be broadly based, coming from Asia, Europe, 
the US, the UK and Tesco Bank.

The Board has proposed a final dividend of 10.09p per share, taking 
the full-year dividend to 14.46p. This represents an increase of 10.8% 
on last year’s full-year dividend, which is in line with the growth in 
underlying diluted earnings per share at constant tax rates. It is also  
the 27th consecutive year of dividend increase. The final dividend will 
be paid on 8 July 2011 to shareholders on the Register of Members at 
the close of business on 3 May 2011.

* �EBITDAR defined as statutory profit before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation  
and rent.

Group sales, including VAT, increased by 8.1% to £67.6 billion. 
At constant exchange rates, sales increased by 6.6% (including  
petrol) and 6.0% (excluding petrol).

Group trading profit was £3,679 million, up 7.8% on last year 
and Group trading margin, at 6.0%, increased by 4 basis points. 
Underlying profit before tax rose to £3,813 million, an increase 
of 12.3%. Before property, underlying profit before tax grew by  
12.2%. On a statutory basis, Group operating profit rose by 
10.2% to £3,811 million. Group profit before tax increased 11.3% 
to £3,535 million. 

Net finance costs increased to £333 million (£314 million last year). 
However, before the non-cash IAS 19, 32, and 39 adjustments, actual 
net interest cost fell by £83 million to £334 million. This reflects the 
continued reduction in net debt.

Total Group tax has been charged at an effective rate of 24.4% (last 
year 26.4%). This reduction was largely driven by a reduction in the  
rate of UK corporation tax, and a lower Japan impairment than last 
year. We expect the tax rate for 2011/12 to be broadly unchanged.

Cash Flow and Balance Sheet. Net debt reduced to £6.8 billion, 
ahead of our target of £7.0 billion, helped by strong cash generation  
in the seasonally important second half of the year. During the year,  
we repaid £926 million of our debt early and repaid £777 million of 
maturing bonds. The strength of our property-backed balance sheet 
was again demonstrated through continued strong investor demand 
for our property sale and leaseback transactions during the year.

We expect net debt to fall further in the years ahead. Looking at our 
liabilities in the round, we will be focusing more on fixed charge cover  
as our primary balance sheet metric, which we are targeting to keep 
between 4 and 4.5 times. We also are targeting a ratio of 2.5 times 
lease-adjusted net debt to EBITDAR* which represents a similar level
to where we were prior to the Homever and TPF acquisitions.

Group capital expenditure in the year was £3.7 billion (last year 
£3.1 billion), a little higher than our expectation at the beginning  
of the year, mainly as a result of exchange rate movements. Capital 
expenditure in the UK was £1.7 billion, with an additional £0.2 billion  
in the Bank, principally for the re-platforming of our systems, and  
£1.8 billion in International. For the 2011/12 year we plan to invest 
around £4.0 billion in capital expenditure and going forward we  
expect annual capital expenditure to total between 5% and 5.5%  
of Group sales.
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A successful risk management process balances risks and rewards and 
relies on a sound judgement of their likelihood and impact. The Board 
has overall responsibility for ensuring that the Group has an appropriate 
approach to risk management and internal control within the context of 
achieving the Group’s objectives. Our process for identifying and 
managing risks is set out in more detail from page 71 of the Directors’ 
report on corporate governance.

The table below sets out the principal risks faced by the Group and 
examples of relevant key controls and mitigating factors. The Board 
considers these to be the most significant risks. They do not comprise 
all risks associated with the Group and are not set out in any order of 
priority. Additional risks not presently known to management, or 
currently deemed to be less material, may also have an adverse effect 
on the business.

Risk is an accepted part of doing 
business. The real challenge for any 
business is to identify the principal 
risks it faces and to develop and 
monitor appropriate controls. 

Principal risks Key controls and mitigating factors

Strategy and Finance

Business strategy 

If our strategy follows the wrong direction or is not effectively 
communicated then the business may suffer

• �Diversification and pursuit of growth in emerging markets under 
our strategy avoids reliance on limited business areas

• �Regular review of strategic matters by Board and Executive 
Committee; Board dedicates two full days a year to Group strategy

• �Significant resource invested to communicate strategy effectively to 
those delivering it

• �Steering Wheel balanced scorecard system helps monitor delivery 
• �Structured stakeholder engagement programmes

Financial strategy and Group treasury risk (excluding Tesco Bank)

Risks relate to an incorrect or unclear strategy, availability of funds to 
meet business needs, fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange 
rates and credit risks relating to the risk of default by counterparties to 
financial transactions. The principal risks associated with operating 
Tesco Bank are covered below in this table in the Tesco Bank/Financial 
Services Risks section. Further detail on the management of financial 
risks by the Group and Tesco Bank can be found in the Financial Review 
section following this table

• �Regular review of strategy, risks and financial performance by Board 
and Executive Committee, with external advice as required 

• �Financial risks relating to underlying business needs are mandated to 
our Treasury function which has clear policies and operating 
parameters and its activities are routinely reviewed and audited

• �Internal Audit programme reports on financial control systems 

Pension risks

Our IAS 19 deficit could increase if returns on corporate bonds are 
higher than the investment return on the pension scheme’s assets

• �Action taken to reduce risk in investment strategy
• �Monthly review by Pensions and Treasury directors
• �External advisers and pension fund trustees fully engaged to consider 

deficit and fund performance

Competition and consolidation

Failure to compete on areas including price, product range, quality  
and service in increasingly competitive UK and overseas retail markets 
could impact our market share and adversely affect the Group’s 
financial results

• �Strategy to have broad appeal on price, range and store format to 
allow us to compete in different markets 

• �Regular review of markets, trading opportunities and competitor 
activities 

• �Performance tracked against relevant KPIs and measures that 
customers tell us are critical to their shopping experience

• �Constant monitoring of customer perceptions of Tesco and 
competitors to ensure we can respond quickly as appropriate 

• �Monitoring of legal framework and compliance

Reputation, Operations and People

Reputational risk

Failure to protect the Group’s reputation and brand could lead to a loss 
of trust and confidence, a decline in customer base and affect our 
ability to recruit and retain good people

• �Tesco Values embedded in how we do business at every level
• �Group Code of Business Conduct guides our behaviour in dealing with 

customers, employees and suppliers
• �Stakeholder communication and engagement to understand their 

views and reflect them in our strategy 
• �Commitment to tackling societal and environmental issues through 

our Community Plan and activities
• �Governance committees, including Corporate Responsibility and 

Compliance Committees, guide and monitor policies
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Reputation, Operations and People continued

Operational threats and performance risk in the business

Risk that business units fail to achieve targets and our business fails  
to meet the stated strategy in full, particularly since, like all retailers,  
the business is susceptible to economic downturn that could affect 
consumer spending

• �Board, Executive Committee and various operational committees meet 
regularly to review operational threats 

• �All business units have stretching targets based on the Steering Wheel; 
performance against budgets and KPIs monitored continually and 
reported regularly to Board 

• �Clear goals and objectives set for subsidiary CEOs, with high level of 
reward based on achievement

• �Diversification strategy minimises impact of changes in economic 
climate

Property

Continuing acquisition and development of property sites carries 
inherent risk; stretching targets to deliver new space in all our markets 
may not be achieved; challenges may arise in relation to finding suitable 
sites, obtaining planning or other consents and compliance with varying 
country design and construction standards

• �Property Acquisition and related committees closely control all aspects 
of property acquisition, planning and construction processes to ensure 
standards are met and risks are minimised

• �Group and country Compliance Committees monitor legal and 
regulatory compliance in all property activities

• �China Property Company Board closely monitors property matters in China
• �Mall management systems in place to assist tenant management

IT systems and infrastructure	

Any significant failure in the IT processes of our retail operations would 
impact our ability to trade

• �Extensive controls and reviews to maintain integrity and efficiency of 
IT infrastructure and data

• �Processes to deal with significant IT security incidents
• �Sharing of systems across international operations to ensure consistency 

of delivery 
• �Investment in IT systems and innovations to improve business 

efficiency and customers’ shopping experience 

People

Failure to attract, retain, develop and motivate the best people with the 
right capabilities at all levels could limit our ability to succeed

• �Significant investment in training, development and incentives, 
including Talent Planning, Leadership Development and succession 
planning for future needs of the business

• �Clear processes to understand and respond to employees’ needs 
through our People Matters Group, staff surveys, regular performance 
reviews, involvement of trade unions in relevant markets and regular 
communication of business developments

• �Pay, pension and share plan arrangements help us to attract and retain 
good people

Regulation and External Environment

Product safety

Failures could damage customer trust and confidence, impacting our 
customer base and therefore financial results 

• �Detailed, established procedures to ensure product integrity
• �Strict trading law and technical safety testing regime with regular 

reporting; Group Compliance Committee reviews compliance with 
laws and policies

• �Partnering with suppliers for mutual understanding of required standards
• �Monitoring of developments to respond to changing customer trends 

and legislation such as labelling and dietary responsibilities 
• Clear crisis management processes 

Health and safety

Failure to provide safe environments for our staff and customers could 
lead to injuries or loss of life

• �Operation of stringent processes that reflect best practice; policies are 
monitored and audited regularly

• �KPIs across the business help prevent incidents with quarterly 
reporting of performance against KPIs

• �Group Compliance Committee and business unit Compliance 
Committees regularly monitor compliance with laws and internal policies

Fraud, compliance and internal controls

As the business grows in size and geographical scope, the potential  
for fraud and dishonest activity by our suppliers, customers and 
employees increases

• �Appropriate procedures and controls set out and audited across the 
business to reduce fraud risks; Internal Audit and Loss Prevention & 
Security undertake detailed investigations into all business areas and 
report their findings to the Audit Committee

• �Clear behavioural guidance given to employees through Tesco Values 
and the Group Code of Business Conduct

• �Compliance Committee formulates and monitors implementation of, 
and compliance with, relevant policies and procedures; annual 
governance returns completed by each business unit

• �External Audit rotational coverage of areas and assessment of controls
• Updated policies and procedures for Bribery Act compliance
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Regulation and External Environment continued

Regulatory, economic and political risks 

In each country we operate in, we may be impacted by regulatory and 
tax changes, increased scrutiny by competition authorities, political 
developments and the economic environment 

• �External uncertainties carefully considered when developing strategy 
and reviewing performance

• �Ongoing monitoring of developments through local CEOs
• �We try to anticipate and contribute to important changes in public 

policy wherever we operate
• �Engagement with governmental and non-governmental organisations 

to represent views of our customers and employees
• �Business development follows thorough due diligence work

Activism and terrorism

A major incident or terrorist event could impact on the Group’s ability  
to trade

• �Appropriate contingency plans
• �Security systems and processes that reflect best practice

Climate change

The main environmental risk we face is climate change. It is essential  
we work to mitigate it through energy efficiency, the sustainable 
management of other resources and waste minimisation 

• �Engagement with key stakeholders and experts in developing 
environmental policy, including through the Sustainable Consumption 
Institute we endowed at Manchester University

• �Climate change strategy is part of our Community Plan and is reviewed 
regularly by our Corporate Responsibility Committee, Executive 
Committee and Board

Tesco Bank/Financial Services Risks

Tesco Bank (the Bank) primarily operates in the UK retail financial services market offering savings products, unsecured consumer lending 
products and general insurance products as well as travel money and ATM services. In addition to the principal risks above that apply generally  
to the Group as a whole, the section below sets out principal risks relating specifically to the Bank.

Funding and liquidity

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank, although solvent, either does  
not have available sufficient financial resources to enable it to meet its 
obligations as they fall due, or can secure such resources only at 
excessive cost

Funding risk is the risk that the Bank does not have sufficiently stable 
and diverse sources of funding or the funding structure is inefficient

• �Dedicated Treasury function responsible for management of funding 
and liquidity risks within the framework approved by Tesco Bank Board

• �Conservative Balance Sheet structure with prudent risk appetite 
supported by explicit targets and metrics which enable funding and 
liquidity to be managed in excess of regulatory requirements

• �Strong liquid position with a diversified stock of highly marketable 
liquid assets that can be used as a buffer against unforeseen impacts 
on cash flow or in stressed environments

• �Lending activities are primarily funded by retail deposits
• �Daily monitoring and management of key funding and liquidity ratios 

with monthly reporting to Assets & Liabilities Management Committee 
and Tesco Bank Board

• �Regular stress testing undertaken to assess the adequacy of funding 
and liquidity resources during periods of market dislocation and stress

External environment 

The Bank is exposed to general UK economic conditions as well as 
general market trends in the areas in which it operates. Economic 
conditions are subject to significant uncertainty with commentators 
split on the sustainability of the economic recovery. General economic 
and market conditions are likely to have an impact on the Bank’s  
credit portfolios

• �Independent Credit Risk team, reporting directly to Chief Risk Officer, 
responsible for the development and oversight of the credit risk 
framework and supporting the business in the implementation of 
policies and processes

• �Low credit risk appetite with focus on responsible lending and 
maintaining a risk profile better than the industry average

• �Whilst credit performance has remained strong and favourable to 
industry averages, the Bank continues to closely monitor its credit 
portfolios and make changes to its business acquisition and credit limit 
management strategies to mitigate, as far as possible, downside 
economic risks

• �The impact of extreme but plausible deterioration in economic 
conditions is considered as part of the Bank’s stress-testing programme

• �Regular reporting of credit risk information and performance against 
risk appetite to Tesco Bank’s Risk Management Committee, Board Risk 
Committee and Board
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Tesco Bank/Financial Services Risks continued

Insurance risk

The Bank is exposed to insurance risks directly through its historic 
distribution agreement with Royal Bank of Scotland Insurance (RBSI) 
and indirectly through its ownership of 49.9% of Tesco Underwriting 
Limited (TU), an authorised insurance company 

The key insurance risks within TU relate to underwriting risk and 
specifically the potential for a major weather event to generate 
significant Home insurance claims or, in relation to Motor insurance,  
the cost of settling bodily injury claims

The legacy arrangement with RBSI is now in run-off and the primary 
risk that the Bank remains exposed to is reserving risk – the risk that 
reserves set aside by RBSI will be insufficient to cover the ultimate cost 
of insurance claims arising. This is particularly relevant to Motor 
insurance claims where the ultimate cost of large bodily injury claims is 
uncertain and the time taken to settle such claims can vary significantly 
depending on the severity of the injury

Since October 2010 Pet, Travel and Breakdown insurance have all been 
distributed by the Bank on a ‘white label’ basis. The Bank does not carry 
the insurance risks associated with these products

• �Independent Tesco Bank Insurance Risk team, reporting directly to 
Chief Risk Officer, that operates as the primary contact across all risk 
disciplines for the insurance business 

• �Underwriting risks actively managed within TU with close monitoring 
of performance metrics. Independent oversight conducted by  
the Bank

• �Performance against insurance risk appetite is monitored closely  
at a senior level and reported to Tesco Bank’s Risk Management 
Committee, Board Risk Committee and Board

• �Reinsurance programme to limit the Bank’s exposure above 
predetermined levels 

• �The impact of specific Motor and Home insurance events is considered 
as part of the Bank’s stress-testing programme and ICAAP

Regulatory environment

Regulatory risk is the risk of failure to meet the Bank’s obligations under 
the Financial Services and Markets Act (FSMA), the Consumer Credit Act 
and the Data Protection Act and to meet the expectations of regulators. 
The Bank is subject to significant regulatory oversight, including 
supervision by the FSA which has substantial powers of intervention

There is currently a significant amount of regulatory change including 
the continued evolution of capital and liquidity requirements. The 
regulatory landscape is changing with current FSA responsibilities due 
to migrate to the new Prudential Regulatory Authority and the Financial 
Conduct Authority. Detailed proposals for the new regulatory authorities 
are due to be published later this year 

There remains continued regulatory focus in relation to ‘Conduct Risk’ 
or ‘Treating Customers Fairly’ (TCF). Specifically there has been 
continued focus on complaints relating to the sale of Payment 
Protection Insurance (PPI)

• �Independent Regulatory Risk team, reporting directly to Chief Risk 
Officer, providing oversight and support to the business to ensure 
that regulatory risks are identified and managed appropriately

• �The Bank has minimal appetite for regulatory risks and it maintains  
a control framework, including a suite of risk policies, to comply with 
regulatory requirements

• �Regular reporting of regulatory risks to Tesco Bank’s Risk 
Management Committee, Board Risk Committee and Board as well 
as to the FSA

• �Significant senior management time and focus allocated to 
management of regulatory risks and the ongoing regulatory 
relationship

• �The Bank has established a ‘TCF Board’ which is responsible for 
monitoring and challenging the customer-related aspects of the 
Tesco Bank business and, where appropriate, recommending  
further action

• �PPI complaints handling brought in-house to improve the customer 
experience and to ensure that the outcomes are aligned with the 
policy introduced by the Bank

• �The Bank has recognised a provision for potential customer redress, 
including compensation that may be required in relation to PPI 
complaints
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Tesco Bank/Financial Services Risks continued

Operations

Operational risk is the risk of loss caused by human error, ineffective  
or inadequately designed processes, system failure or improper  
conduct (including criminal activity)

A significant amount of services and processes are provided by  
third-party service providers and currently a key operational risk  
to the business is a failure by an outsourced provider

• �The Bank has low appetite for operational risk, although it accepts 
higher risk in the short term as a result of the transformation 
programme, with the operational risk framework overseen by a 
dedicated unit within independent Risk function

• �Risk registers maintained across the Bank which capture and quantify 
the risks arising in each of the commercial, insurance, operations and 
central functions areas

• �Third-party services are managed through a series of Commercial 
Services Agreements (CSAs) with effective oversight arrangements 
established to ensure CSAs are delivered in compliance with 
contractual terms

• �Regular reporting of operational risk information and performance, 
including financial crime, against risk appetite to Tesco Bank’s Risk 
Management Committee, Board Risk Committee and Board

Transformation programme

The Bank has embarked on a significant transformation programme to 
develop and embed its own infrastructure to allow it to migrate systems 
and support from the Royal Bank of Scotland Group infrastructure

In addition, the Bank has well-developed plans for launching 
mortgages, subject to FSA approval. Vertex, a leading global Customer 
Management Outsourcing business, will support entry into the 
mortgage market by providing IT application platforms and customer 
sales and service for the Bank’s mortgage business. Current accounts 
are another key element in widening the Bank’s product range with the 
customer proposition and detailed programme plans currently being 
developed. The addition of new products adds further to the 
complexity and delivery challenge of the transformation programme

• �The Transformation Delivery Group (TDG) is the key governance 
forum for the delivery of the programme objectives. The forum is 
chaired by the Bank’s Chief Operating Officer with representation 
across all areas of the Bank including Commercial, Operations, IT, Risk 
and Finance

• �Strong programme governance in place with TDG supported by 
Programme Implementation Boards and Project Control Committees

• �Project management disciplines in place, including detailed 
programme plans and risk and issue management to enable effective 
management of the programme scope, delivery timelines and 
adherence to budget

• �Ongoing programme of audit reviews, risk profiles and ‘health checks’ 
with monthly reporting to Tesco Bank’s Risk Management Committee, 
Audit Committee and Board
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Some of the larger UK banks have significant funding targets for 2011 
and, coupled with the expiry of the Special Liquidity Scheme, will 
increase the possibility of aggressive competition in both the retail and 
wholesale funding markets. This increase in demand could increase the 
cost of both retail and wholesale funding although improving market 
sentiment in the wholesale funding markets may generate additional 
supply. It is intended that the majority of the Bank’s funding will 
continue to be raised in the retail deposit market with a product range 
and competitive deposit rates designed to attract a wider customer 
base. The Bank also accesses the wholesale funding markets, having 
successfully completed a £125 million Wholesale Bond from the Bank’s 
Euro Medium Term Note programme which provides an additional 
source of funding from retail investors.

Interest rate risk management Our objective is to limit our profit 
and loss downside from rising interest rates. Forward rate agreements, 
interest rate swaps, caps and floors are used to achieve the desired mix 
of fixed and floating rate debt.

Our policy is to fix interest rates for the year on a minimum of 40% of 
actual and projected debt interest costs of the Group excluding Tesco 
Bank. At the year end, £6.2 billion of debt (2010 – £5.6 billion) was at 
fixed rates of interest. This equates to 91% of total debt (2010 – 72%). 
The remaining balance of our debt is in floating rate form. The average 
rate of interest paid on an historic cost basis this year, excluding joint 
ventures and associates, was 5.4% (2010 – 5.4%).

Interest rate risk arises where assets and liabilities in Tesco Bank’s 
banking activities have different repricing dates. Tesco Bank policy 
seeks to minimise the sensitivity of net interest income to changes in 
interest rates. Potential exposures to interest rate movements in the 
medium to long term are measured and controlled through position 
and sensitivity limits. Short-term exposures are measured and 
controlled in terms of net interest income sensitivity over 12 months �
to a 1% parallel movement in interest rates. Tesco Bank also uses Value 
at Risk (VaR) for risk management purposes with a time horizon of one 
trading day and a confidence interval of 95%. Interest rate risk is 
managed using interest rate swaps as the main hedging instrument.

Foreign currency risk management Our principal objective is to 
reduce the effect of exchange rate volatility on operating margins. 
Transactional currency exposures that could significantly impact �
the Group Income Statement are managed, typically using forward 
purchases or sales of foreign currencies and currency options. At the 
year end, forward foreign currency transactions, designated as cash 
flow hedges, equivalent to £1.615 billion were outstanding (2010 – 
£1.083 billion) as detailed in note 22. We do not actively hedge our 
investment in our international subsidiaries other than by ensuring that 
each subsidiary is appropriately leveraged. During the year, currency 
movements decreased the net value of the Group’s overseas assets by 
£241 million (last year increase of £477 million). We translate overseas 
profits at average foreign exchange rates which we do not currently 
further manage.

Financial review

The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to the availability �
of funds to meet business needs, fluctuations in interest and foreign 
exchange rates and credit risks relating to the risk of default by 
counterparties to financial transactions. The management of these 
risks is set out below. The Group Balance Sheet position at 26 February 
2011 is representative of the position throughout the year.

Funding and liquidity The Group finances its operations by a 
combination of retained profits, disposals of property assets, long �
and medium-term debt capital market issues, short-term commercial 
paper, bank borrowings and leases. The objective is to ensure continuity 
of funding. The policy is to smooth the debt maturity profile, to arrange 
funding ahead of requirements and to maintain sufficient undrawn 
committed bank facilities and a strong credit rating so that maturing 
debt may be refinanced as it falls due. Tesco Group has a long-term 
rating of A3 with a negative outlook by Moody’s, A- (stable) with Fitch 
and A- (stable) by Standard & Poor’s. New funding of £1.7 billion was 
arranged during the year, including a net £1.6 billion from property 
disposals and £0.1 billion from long-term debt. At the year end, net 
debt was £6.8 billion (2010 – £7.9 billion).

Liquidity and funding has been a key area of focus in the banking 
industry and for financial services regulators. The FSA’s new liquidity 
framework became effective on 1 June 2010 with Tesco Bank subject 
to additional liquidity requirements in the form of Individual Liquidity 
Guidance (ILG). 

Tesco Bank maintains a robust and prudent liquidity risk management 
approach with an effective governance structure for measuring, 
managing and monitoring liquidity, as defined in its Liquidity Risk 
Management Policy, which provides the framework which enables 
funding and liquidity to be maintained in excess of regulatory 
requirements. The Bank has built up a strong liquidity position with �
a diversified stock of highly marketable liquid assets that can be used �
as a buffer against unforeseen impacts on cash flow or in stressed 
environments. Stress testing is regularly undertaken to simulate �
how events may impact its funding and liquidity capabilities and is 
updated where required as market conditions evolve. The Bank’s first 
Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment (ILAA) was submitted to the�
FSA during the year with external assurance provided in relation to �
this report. 
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Credit risk The objective is to reduce the risk of loss arising from 
default by parties to financial transactions across an approved list of 
counterparties of good credit quality. The Group’s positions with these 
counterparties and their credit ratings are routinely monitored.

Tesco Bank retail credit risk is managed through the credit risk policy 
framework, which is agreed through the Tesco Bank Risk Management 
Committee and defines limits and standards at all stages of the 
customer lifecycle, including new account sanctioning, customer 
management and collections and recoveries activity. Customer credit 
decisions are managed principally through the deployment of bespoke 
credit scorecard models and credit policy rules which restrict specific 
areas of lending, and an affordability assessment which determines a 
customer’s ability to repay an outstanding credit amount. Wholesale 
counterparty credit risk limits are managed in accordance with a control 
framework, approved by the Tesco Bank Risk Management Committee, 
which sets limits based on counterparty creditworthiness and 
instrument type. Tesco Bank continues to use Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard & Poor’s ratings as part of the credit assessment process.

Insurance We purchased assets, earnings and combined liability 
protection from the open insurance market for higher value losses only. 
The risk not transferred to the insurance market is retained within the 
business by using our captive insurance companies, ELH Insurance 
Limited in Guernsey and Valiant Insurance Company Limited in the 
Republic of Ireland. ELH Insurance Limited covers Assets, Earnings and 
Combined Liability, while Valiant Insurance Company Limited covers 
Combined Liability only.

Statement of compliance

This Business Review has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements for a business review under the Companies Act 2006. �
The Business Review’s intent is to provide information to shareholders 
and should not be relied on by any other party or for any other purpose.

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking 
information

Where this review contains forward-looking statements, these are 
made by the Directors in good faith based on the information available 
to them at the time of their approval of this report. These statements 
should be treated with caution due to the inherent risks and 
uncertainties underlying any such forward-looking information.

The Group cautions investors that a number of important factors, 
including those in this document, could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. 
Such factors include, but are not limited to, those discussed under 
‘Principal risks and uncertainties’ on pages 51 to 57 of this Annual Report.



Company’s shareholders The Company has been notified as at 
the date of this report that Blackrock, Inc. owns 5.48%, Legal & General 
Investment Management Limited owns 3.99% and Berkshire Hathaway 
Inc. owns 3.02% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Articles of Association The Company’s Articles of Association 
may only be amended by special resolution at a General Meeting of 
the shareholders.

Directors and their interests The Directors who served during 
the year were: Charles Allen CBE; Richard Brasher; Gareth Bullock; 
Patrick Cescau; Stuart Chambers; Philip Clarke; Karen Cook; Rodney 
Chase CBE; Harald Einsmann; Ken Hanna; Andrew Higginson; Ken 
Hydon; Sir Terry Leahy; Tim Mason; Laurie McIlwee; Lucy Neville-Rolfe 
CMG; David Potts; David Reid; and Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker.  
The biographical details of the present Directors are set out on pages 
60 and 61 of this Annual Report. All our Directors will be seeking  
re-election at the 2011 AGM in accordance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code. 

The interests of Directors and their immediate families in the shares of 
Tesco PLC, along with details of Directors’ share options, are contained 
in the Directors’ remuneration report set out on pages 74 to 91.

At no time during the year did any of the Directors have a material 
interest in any significant contract with the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries. A qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined  
in Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006 is in force for the benefit  
of each of the Directors and the Company Secretary (who is also a 
Director of certain subsidiaries of the Company) in respect of liabilities 
incurred as a result of their office, to the extent permitted by law. In 
respect of those liabilities for which directors may not be indemnified, 
the Company maintained a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
policy throughout the financial year. 

Employment policies The Group depends on the skills and 
commitment of its employees in order to achieve its objectives. 
Ongoing training programmes seek to ensure that employees 
understand the Group’s customer service objectives and strive to 
achieve them. The Group’s selection, training, development and 
promotion policies ensure equal opportunities for all employees 
regardless of factors such as gender, marital status, race, age, sexual 
preference and orientation, colour, creed, ethnic origin, religion or 
belief, disability or trade union affiliation. All decisions are based on 
merit. Internal communications are designed to ensure that employees 
are well informed about the business of the Group. Employees are 
encouraged to become involved in the financial performance of the 
Group through a variety of schemes, principally the Tesco employee 
profit-sharing scheme (Shares in Success), the savings-related share 
option scheme (Save As You Earn) and the partnership share plan  
(Buy As You Earn). 

Principal activity, business review and future developments The 
principal activity of the Group is retailing and associated activities in the 
UK, China, the Czech Republic, Hungary, the Republic of Ireland, India, 
Japan, Malaysia, Poland, Slovakia, South Korea, Thailand, Turkey and 
the US. The Group also provides retail banking and insurance services 
through its subsidiary, Tesco Bank. 

Group results Group revenue (excluding VAT) rose by £4 billion to 
£60.9 billion, representing an increase of 7.1%. Group profit before  
tax increased by £359 million to £3,535 million. Profit for the year was 
£2,671 million, of which £2,655 million was attributable to equity 
holders of the parent company. 

Dividends The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend 
of 10.09p per ordinary share, to be paid on 8 July 2011 to members on 
the Register at the close of business on 3 May 2011. Together with the 
interim dividend of 4.37p per ordinary share paid in December 2010, 
the total dividend for the year will be 14.46p compared with 13.05p for 
the previous year, an increase of 10.8%. 

Fixed assets Capital expenditure (excluding business combinations) 
amounted to £3.7 billion compared with £3.1 billion the previous year. 
In the Directors’ opinion, the properties of the Group have an open 
market value well in excess of the book value of £26 billion which has 
been included in these financial statements. 

Share capital and control of the Company Details of the Company’s 
share capital, including changes during the year in the issued share 
capital and details of the rights attaching to the Company’s ordinary 
shares, are set out in note 29 on page 140. Details of shares held by the 
Company’s Employee Benefit Trusts are shown in note 27 on page 135. 
No shareholder holds securities carrying special rights with regards to 
control of the Company and there are no restrictions on voting rights. 
The Company was authorised by shareholders at the 2010 AGM to 
purchase its own shares in the market up to a maximum of 
approximately 10% of its issued share capital. No shares were 
purchased under that authority during the financial year and the 
Company is seeking to renew the authority at the forthcoming AGM 
within the limits set out in the notice of that meeting.

Shares held by the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Plan Trust, 
International Employee Benefit Trust and Tesco Ireland Share Bonus 
Scheme Trust rank pari passu with the shares in issue and have no 
special rights. Voting rights and rights of acceptance of any offer 
relating to the shares held in these trusts rests with the trustees, who 
may take account of any recommendation from the Company. Voting 
rights are not exercisable by the employees on whose behalf the shares 
are held in trust.

The Company is not party to any significant agreements that would 
take effect, alter or terminate following a change of control of the 
Company. The Company does not have agreements with any Director 
or Officer that would provide compensation for loss of office or 
employment resulting from a takeover, except that provisions of the 
Company’s share plans may cause options and awards granted under 
such plans to vest on a takeover.
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Events after the Balance Sheet date There were no material events 
after the Balance Sheet date. 

Auditors A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
as auditors of the Company and the Group will be proposed at the  
2011 AGM.

Directors’ statement of disclosure of information to auditors 
Having made the requisite enquiries, the Directors in office at the date 
of this Annual Report and Financial Statements have each confirmed 
that, so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information  
(as defined by Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006) of which the 
Group’s auditors are unaware, and each of the Directors has taken all 
the steps he/she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself/
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that  
the Group’s auditors are aware of that information. This confirmation  
is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Political and charitable donations Cash donations to charities 
amounted to £15,613,319 (2010 – £31,221,573). Total contributions  
to community projects including cash, cause-related marketing, 
gifts-in-kind, staff time and management costs amounted to 
£64,254,910 (2010 – £61,592,464). There were no political donations 
(2010 – £nil). During the year, the Group made contributions of 
£55,085 (2010 – £49,365) in the form of sponsorship for political 
events: Conservative Party £8,491; Labour Party £13,506; Liberal 
Democrat Party £7,637; Plaid Cymru £1,640; Scottish National Party 
£4,700; Waste Watch £1,000; trade unions £18,111. 

Supplier payment policy Tesco PLC is a signatory to the Prompt 
Payment Code in the UK. More information about the Code can be 
found at www.promptpaymentcode.org.uk. Payment terms and 
conditions are agreed with suppliers in advance and the Group pays  
its creditors in accordance with those terms. Payment terms vary 
according to the type of product and territory in which the suppliers 
operate. Tesco PLC is a holding company and therefore has no trade 
creditors on its Balance Sheet.  

Compliance with the Groceries (Supply Chain Practices) Market 
Investigation Order 2009 and the Groceries Supply Code of 
Practice (Code) The Code came into force in the UK on 4 February 
2010 and places obligations on grocery retailers with a turnover greater 
than £1 billion to build a compliance programme, which includes 
training staff and providing information to the OFT as requested.  
In addition, the Code sets out a number of provisions which relate  
to different aspects of the retailer/supplier relationship.

We are committed to treating our suppliers fairly and work in 
collaboration with them wherever possible. It is in our nature to  
treat compliance with the Code very seriously.

Prior to the introduction of the Code, Tesco took a number of steps  
to ensure that it was ready to comply. We have in place a compliance 
training programme for our buying teams and a comprehensive training 
course is provided for all relevant new starters. Annual refresher training 
is provided via a bespoke e-learning programme.

We have appointed a Code Compliance Officer (CCO) supported by a 
small team including an auditor. We have developed an audit plan and 
our approach enables us to identify any gaps in our processes so they 
can be quickly fixed.

All alleged breaches of the Code raised by suppliers have been resolved 
internally. We had an instance of a supplier initiating the Dispute 
Resolution Procedure set out in the Code. This matter was escalated 
within the relevant commercial category and resolved.

The CCO submits reports to the Audit Committee which considers that 
it retains effective oversight of our compliance with the Code.

Going concern The Directors consider that the Group and the 
Company have adequate resources to remain in operation for the 
foreseeable future and have therefore continued to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. As with all business 
forecasts, the Directors’ statement cannot guarantee that the going 
concern basis will remain appropriate given the inherent uncertainty 
about future events. 
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Our Board currently comprises seven Executive 
Directors, seven independent Non-executive 
Directors and David Reid, Non-executive Chairman. 
Patrick Cescau is Senior Independent Director. 
Biographies for each of our Directors and the 
Company Secretary are set out below.

1. David Reid – 64  
Non-executive Chairman 
David Reid became Non-executive Chairman  
on 2 April 2004. Prior to his appointment he was 
Deputy Chairman of Tesco PLC and has served  
on the Tesco Board since 1985. David is a 
Non-executive Director (SID) of Reed Elsevier 
Group PLC and Chairman of both Kwik-Fit Group 
and Whizz-Kidz. In November 2010 David was 
appointed one of Prime Minister David Cameron’s 
Business Ambassadors. 

2. Philip Clarke – 50  
Group Chief Executive 
Philip Clarke was appointed to the Board on  
16 November 1998. Prior to his appointment as 
CEO in March 2011 he was Asia, Europe & IT 
Director and has previously held a number of roles 
in store operations, commercial and marketing.

3. Tim Mason – 53
Deputy Group CEO and CMO  
and CEO Fresh & Easy
Tim Mason has been President and Chief 
Executive Officer, Fresh & Easy Neighborhood 
Market since January 2006 and became Deputy 
Group CEO and Chief Marketing Officer in  
March 2011. He was appointed to the Board  
on 16 February 1995. He joined Tesco in 1982.

4. Richard Brasher – 49
CEO – UK and ROI 
Richard Brasher was appointed to the Board on 
15 March 2004. He joined Tesco in 1986. He has 
held a number of marketing, commercial and 
store operations positions, most recently Board 
Commercial Director, before being appointed UK 
and ROI CEO in March 2011.

5. Andrew Higginson – 53
CEO – Retail Services  
Andrew Higginson was appointed to the Board  
on 17 November 1997. Prior to his appointment 
as Chief Executive of Retailing Services in  
July 2008 he was Group Finance and Strategy 
Director. He is Chairman of Tesco Bank and  
a Non-executive Director of BSkyB plc.

6. Laurie McIlwee – 48
Chief Financial Officer 
Laurie McIlwee was appointed to the Board on  
27 January 2009. He joined Tesco in 2000 as  
UK Finance Director and became Distribution 
Director in 2005. Laurie is a Chartered 
Management Accountant.

7. Lucy Neville-Rolfe, CMG – 58
Executive Director (Corporate and Legal Affairs) 
Lucy Neville-Rolfe was appointed to the Board  
on 14 December 2006. She joined Tesco in 1997 
from the Cabinet Office. She is Deputy Chair of 
the British Retail Consortium, a Non-executive 
Director of ITV plc and the Carbon Trust and a 
member of the China Britain Business Council, 
the UK India Business Council and the Corporate 
Leaders Group on Climate Change.

8. David Potts – 53
CEO – Asia 
David Potts was appointed to the Board on  
16 November 1998. He joined Tesco in 1973. 
From 1997 he directed the integration of our 
businesses in Northern Ireland and the Republic 
of Ireland before returning to the UK in 2000 as 
Director responsible for UK Retail Operations. 
From 2004, David’s responsibilities also included 
the UK Supply Chain and the Republic of Ireland, 
before being appointed CEO Asia in March 2011.

 	 �Member of the 
Nominations Committee

	 �Member of the Audit 
Committee

	 �Member of the 
Remuneration Committee

Directors’ ages as at 26 February 2011

5 6 7 8

21 3 4
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9. Patrick Cescau – 62    
Senior Independent Director 
Patrick Cescau was appointed a Non-executive 
Director on 1 February 2009 and became  
Senior Independent Director in July 2010. He  
was Group Chief Executive of Unilever from  
2005 to 1 January 2009, and prior to this he was 
Chairman of Unilever plc and Vice Chairman of 
Unilever NV. He has also been a Non-executive 
Director of Pearson plc since 2002, becoming 
Senior Independent Director in April 2010, and 
IAG (International Consolidated Airlines Group) 
since September 2010. Patrick was appointed a 
Chevalier de la Légion d’honneur in 2005. In June 
2009, Patrick joined the Board of INSEAD.

10. Gareth Bullock – 57   
Non-executive Director 
Gareth Bullock was appointed a Non-executive 
Director on 3 July 2010. He was Group Executive 
Director of Standard Chartered PLC on his 
retirement in April 2010. He was also responsible 
for the Group’s risk and special asset management 
function. He is Senior Independent Director and 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of 
Spirax-Sarco Engineering Plc.

11. Stuart Chambers – 54   
Non-executive Director 
Stuart Chambers was appointed a Non-executive 
Director on 3 July 2010. He was Group Chief 
Executive of NSG Group from 2008 to 2009. Prior 
to NSG’s acquisition of Pilkington plc in 2006, 
Stuart was Group Chief Executive of Pilkington 
plc. Previously he held a number of senior roles  
at Pilkington plc and the Mars Corporation. He  
is a Non-executive Director of Smiths Group  
PLC, where he is Chairman of the Remuneration  
Committee, and of the Manchester Airport  
Group PLC.

12. Karen Cook – 57   
Non-executive Director 
Karen Cook was appointed a Non-executive 
Director on 1 October 2004. She is a Managing 
Director of Goldman Sachs International and 
President of Goldman Sachs, Europe. She is also  
a member of the firm’s European Management 
Committee and Partnership Committee.

13. Ken Hanna – 57    
Non-executive Director 
Ken Hanna was appointed a Non-executive 
Director on 1 April 2009. He is Chairman of 
Inchcape PLC and a Non-executive Director of 
Aggreko plc. He was previously Chief Financial 
Officer of Cadbury plc until March 2009 and  
prior to that an Operating Partner of Compass 
Partners and CFO and then CEO of Dalgety PLC. 
He has also been CFO of United Distillers and  
Avis Europe plc.

14. Ken Hydon – 66   
Non-executive Director 
Ken Hydon was appointed a Non-executive 
Director on 23 February 2004 and is Chairman  
of the Audit Committee. He is also a Non-
executive Director of Reckitt Benckiser plc,  
The Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation Trust and 
Pearson plc.

15. Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker – 57   
Non-executive Director 
Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker was appointed  
a Non-executive Director on 1 January 2009.  
She was a Director General at the Ministry of 
Transport in the Netherlands from 2001 to  
2007 and has held senior positions at Quest 
International, McKinsey & Co and Shell. Jacqueline 
is a Non-executive Director of Vivendi and was 
appointed a Chevalier de la Légion d’honneur  
in 2006.

16. Jonathan Lloyd – 44
Company Secretary 
Jonathan Lloyd was appointed Company 
Secretary to the Board in December 2006.  
He joined Tesco as Deputy Company Secretary 
and Corporate Secretariat Director in April 2005 
from Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer. Jonathan  
is also Company Secretary of Tesco Bank.

14 15 16

9 10 11 12

13
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Introduction from the Chairman

At Tesco PLC we are committed to the highest standards of corporate 
governance, as we recognise that strong governance is crucial in 
helping the business to deliver its strategy, generating shareholder 
value and safeguarding our shareholders’ long-term interests.  
We have been active in contributing to the debate on governance,  
and will continue to put forward our views on what constitutes good 
governance. As a demonstration of our commitment to corporate 
governance we have chosen to report against the new UK Corporate 
Governance Code (New Code) before it applies to us fully.

The composition of our Board has been developed to ensure that the 
Company can benefit from the depth of experience, independence  
and knowledge of our Directors, whilst allowing the Board to discharge 
its duties effectively. We have rigorous director selection and evaluation 
processes, which include assessing their time commitments as well  
as their skills. During 2010 the Nominations Committee oversaw the 
appointment of two new Non-executive Directors and the implementation 
of the succession plan for a new CEO following Sir Terry Leahy’s 
decision to retire. We welcome Stuart Chambers and Gareth Bullock  
as new Non-executive Directors and Philip Clarke as the new CEO;  
we thank Charles Allen, Rodney Chase and Harald Einsmann for their 
guidance and support as Non-executive Directors over a number of 
years, and Sir Terry Leahy for his loyal service and contribution to Tesco 
as CEO for the past 14 years. In addition, we were pleased to appoint 
Patrick Cescau as Senior Independent Director following Rodney 
Chase’s retirement.

We have a solid and experienced leadership team, who are collectively 
responsible for the long-term success of the Company. We have a clear 
understanding of our roles and responsibilities in running the business 
and an honest and open environment in which both Executive  
and Non-executive Directors can constructively contribute to the 
development of the Company. We have a robust culture of good 
governance, including maintaining high ethical standards and strong 
personal integrity – this is formalised in our Group Code of Business 
Conduct, which has been adopted across the business and sets out 
clearly our expectations of how our employees will behave. All 
businesses within the Group are required to monitor their compliance 
with the Group’s governance framework and this compliance is 
reviewed regularly.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code

Both the existing Combined Code and the New Code set out main 
principles and specific provisions on how companies should be directed 
and controlled to follow good governance practice. The Financial 
Services Authority (FSA) requires companies listed in the UK to disclose, 
in relation to the Code and New Code, how they have applied those 
principles and whether they have complied with the provisions 
throughout the financial year. Where the provisions have not been 
complied with companies must provide an explanation for this.

Tesco has performed strongly 
during the year 2010/11, whilst 
maintaining our strong culture of 
good governance and recognising 
the needs of our shareholders 
which has helped to build 
our business.

David Reid 
Chairman
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The Board considers that Tesco PLC complied in full with the Code and 
New Code for the whole of the year ended 26 February 2011, with the 
exception of:

(i)		� Provision A.3.2 of the Code (Provision B.1.2 of the New Code), 
which requires that at least half of the Board, excluding the 
Chairman, should comprise Non-executive Directors determined 
by the Board to be independent. The Board recognises the 
importance of a balanced board with an appropriate level of 
independence. Tesco had one more Executive Director than 
Non-executive Directors (excluding the Chairman) between 
July 2010 and the end of the financial year. However, following  
Sir Terry Leahy’s retirement and the appointment of Philip Clarke 
as his successor as CEO in March 2011, there is now an equal 
number of Executive and independent Non-executive Directors 
and the Board is again balanced and compliant with the  
relevant provisions.

(ii)	� Provision B.6.2 of the New Code, which requires that every three 
years there should be an externally led evaluation of the Board’s 
performance. The Board usually carries out an external Board 
evaluation every three years, with internal evaluations in the 
intervening years. The last external evaluation took place in 2007 
and an externally facilitated evaluation would normally have taken 
place this year. Given the extensive Board and senior management 
changes taking place this year, however, it was decided that it 
would be more appropriate to conduct an internal evaluation 
process and to carry out an externally facilitated process next  
year, once those changes have had an opportunity to bed in.

Further information on the Code and New Code can be found at  
www.frc.org.uk. 

We consider corporate governance critical to our business integrity  
and to maintaining investors’ trust. I hope this report provides you with 
a clear understanding of our governance processes and procedures and 
how the Company complies with the Code and New Code.

David Reid 
Chairman

Board composition and independence 

As at 26 February 2011, the Board of Tesco PLC comprised eight 
Executive Directors, seven independent Non-executive Directors and 
David Reid, Non-executive Chairman. Sir Terry Leahy retired as Group 
CEO on 2 March 2011 and was replaced by Philip Clarke. Patrick Cescau 
is our Senior Independent Director. We believe that the size of the 
Board is appropriate given the diverse markets the Group operates  
in and the breadth of operations and services offered in each market.

The structure of the Board and the way that it operates, based on 
strong governance processes, together with the integrity of the 
individual Directors, ensure that no single individual or group 
dominates the decision-making process.

Biographies for the Directors can be found on pages 60 and 61 of this 
Annual Report.

Changes to the Board since 27 February 2010 are as follows: 

Sir Terry Leahy Executive Director Retired as CEO �
2 March 2011

Philip Clarke Executive Director Appointed CEO �
2 March 2011*

Charles Allen Non-executive 
Director

Resigned �
2 July 2010

Rodney Chase Non-executive 
Director and Senior 
Independent Director

Resigned �
2 July 2010

Harald Einsmann Non-executive 
Director

Resigned �
2 July 2010

Gareth Bullock Non-executive 
Director

Appointed �
3 July 2010

Stuart Chambers Non-executive 
Director

Appointed �
3 July 2010

Patrick Cescau Non-executive 
Director appointed 
Senior Independent 
Director 

Appointed �
3 July 2010**

*	�� Prior to 2 March 2011 Philip Clarke was the Executive Director responsible for International 
and IT.

**	 Prior to 3 July 2010 Patrick Cescau was a Non-executive Director.

Election of Directors

The Directors will comply with the New Code requirement to submit 
themselves for re-election every year if they wish to continue serving 
and are considered by the Board to be eligible. The Company’s Articles 
of Association require all new Directors to be submitted for election by 
shareholders in their first year following appointment.
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Board responsibilities 

The Board held nine scheduled meetings during the year. It also holds 
an annual two-day off-site meeting, which considers the Group’s 
strategy. The Board maintains a clear Schedule of Matters Reserved for 
Board Decision in order to ensure that it has appropriate overall control 
of the Group’s affairs. The Matters Reserved include the approval of:

•	 the Company’s strategic and operating plans;

•	 annual and interim financial statements;

•	 major acquisitions and disposals;

•	 authority levels for expenditure;

•	 treasury policies;

•	 risk management and internal control systems;

•	 Group governance policies; and 

•	 succession planning for senior executives. 

The Board delegates to management the detailed planning and 
implementation of these matters in accordance with appropriate risk 
parameters. The Board monitors compliance with policy and 
achievement against objectives by holding management accountable 
for its activities through regular updates. In addition, each business unit 
within the Group is required to update the Board on a regular basis, 
giving the Board the opportunity to understand and explore issues in 
depth as appropriate. All Directors have access to the services of the 
Company Secretary and may take independent professional advice  
at the Company’s expense in conducting their duties. The Company 
provides insurance cover and indemnities for its Directors and Officers.

During the year ended 26 February 2011, the Board’s scheduled 
activities included:

•	 receiving reports from key businesses within the Group; 

•	� receiving regular reports on the financial position of the Group and 
the various businesses within the Group;

•	 approving the budget and long-term plan for the Group;

•	 approving interim and full-year results;

•	 discussing and approving Group strategy;

•	 considering opportunities for business development;

•	� discussing risk management and controls within the Group, including 
a detailed review of the Key Risk Register;

•	� receiving reports from the Remuneration Committee, Audit 
Committee and Nominations Committee and other key committees 
within the Group including the Compliance Committee and 
Corporate Responsibility Committee;

•	 receiving reports on governance issues affecting the Group; and

•	 conducting a review of the effectiveness of the Board.

The Chairman 

There is a clear and effective division of accountability and responsibility 
between the roles of our Chairman and CEO and these are set out in 
writing. The Chairman has primary responsibility for leading the Board, 
to promote openness and effective debate, setting its agenda and 
ensuring sufficient time is given to strategic issues. The Chairman is 
also responsible for ensuring that the Board acts in the best interests  
of the Company’s stakeholders and guiding the Company’s business 
conduct and ethical standards. The Chairman has regular one-to-one 
meetings with the CEO and also separate group and individual 
meetings with the Non-executive Directors. The CEO has executive 
responsibilities for the day-to-day operations and performance of the 
Group, making proposals to the Board for the strategic development  
of the Group and ensuring effective communication to employees  
and shareholders.

Senior Independent Director

Rodney Chase was the Senior Independent Director until his retirement 
on 2 July 2010. Patrick Cescau, who has served on the Board since 
February 2009, was appointed Senior Independent Director from 3 July 
2010. Patrick was selected for the role because of his experience and 
expertise, both as an Executive and a Non-executive Director. Patrick 
was Group Chief Executive of Unilever from 2005 to 2009. Prior to that 
he was Chairman of Unilever plc and Vice Chairman of Unilever NV.  
He joined Unilever in 1973 and became Finance Director of Unilever 
Indonesia in 1986, then led the business in Portugal, before returning  
to Indonesia as Chairman/CEO in 1991. Patrick ran the Van den Bergh 
Foods and Lipton beverage and foods businesses in the US from 1995 
to 1998, before becoming Group Finance Director in 1999 and Foods 
Director in 2001. He has been a Non-executive Director of Pearson plc 
since 2002 and a Director of INSEAD since 2009.

In his role as Senior Independent Director (SID), Patrick Cescau is 
available to assist in resolving shareholder concerns should alternative 
channels be exhausted or inappropriate. The SID’s role includes 
responsibility for Chairman appraisal and succession.

Non-executive Directors

Our Non-executive Directors have a wide range of skills and experience. 
They provide constructive challenge and help to develop our strategy. 
The Non-executive Directors have satisfied themselves with regard to 
the integrity of the Group’s financial information, financial controls and 
risk management systems.

The independence of each Non-executive Director is assessed annually 
and the Board makes a careful assessment of the time commitment 
required from the Chairman and Non-executive Directors to discharge 
their roles properly. During the year the Chairman conducted a rigorous 
assessment of the effectiveness of each Non-executive Director’s 
performance and independence, as well as a review of their contribution 
to the Board. Particular consideration was given to the independence  
of Karen Cook and Ken Hydon, who have both served for six years.  
The review concluded that each Non-executive Director continues  
to be independent and effective and to demonstrate commitment  
to the role.

Our Non-executive Directors have historically been appointed for  
a period of three years and have then submitted themselves for  
re-election on rotation if they wished to continue to serve and remain 
independent. Going forward, in line with the provisions of the New 
Code, all Non-executive Directors will be submitted for re-election  
on an annual basis, subject to remaining independent. The terms  
and conditions of appointment of our Non-executive Directors are 
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.
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Procedures to deal with Directors’ conflicts of interest 

The Company has comprehensive procedures in place to deal with any 
situation where a Director has an actual or potential conflict of interest. 
Under these procedures members of the Board are required to:

•	 consider each conflict situation separately on its particular facts;

•	� consider the conflict situation in conjunction with the rest of their 
duties under the Companies Act 2006;

•	� keep appropriate records and Board minutes demonstrating any 
authorisation granted by the Board for such conflict and the scope  
of any approvals given; and

•	 regularly review conflict authorisations.

Training and development

All new Directors receive a personalised induction programme, tailored 
to their experience, background and particular areas of focus, which is 
designed to develop their knowledge and understanding of the Group’s 
culture and operations. The programme has evolved over time to take 
into account feedback from new Directors and the development of best 
practice, and will usually include a combination of meetings with senior 
management from across the Group, comprehensive briefing materials 
and opportunities to visit the Group’s operations across the world. The 
Chairman agrees the personalised induction plan for each new Director 
and ensures that it is appropriately tailored. Areas of focus for the 
induction process include an overview of the business model and Board 
processes, as well as briefings on key issues (including social, ethical 
and environmental (SEE) issues). Directors also receive a tailored 
induction in relation to those Board Committees they will serve on. 

The need for Director development is regularly assessed by the Board 
and training sessions are arranged to upskill the Directors on a variety 
of areas relevant to the Group’s business, including SEE issues. In the 
last year the Board received training focusing, inter alia, on recent 
corporate governance developments, including the implications of the 
Walker Review and the publication of the New Code. Training was also 
provided in relation to the business of Tesco Bank, including its ongoing 
migration programme and the issues involved in operating a mortgage 
business. It is planned to provide training on a number of key areas in 
the coming year.

The Board usually holds at least one meeting overseas each year, to 
facilitate the Directors’ understanding of the Group’s international 
operations. In February 2010 the Board visited China and Korea, and  
in March 2011 the Board visited our US business. Board trips allow the 
Directors to view first-hand the progress and direction of our businesses 
in these markets, as well as meeting our teams there. 

Board performance evaluation 

The performance of the Board is a fundamental component of the 
Group’s success. The Board regularly reviews its own performance and 
during the year ended 26 February 2011 it carried out an internally led 
evaluation. This was the third year since a review of the Board’s 
performance was last externally facilitated but, given the Board and 
senior management changes taking place this year, it was decided that 
it would be appropriate to carry out a further internally facilitated 
evaluation process this year, with an externally facilitated process next 
year, once those changes have had an opportunity to bed in. This year’s 
review was coordinated and directed by the Chairman with the support 
of the Company Secretary. In-depth interviews were conducted with 
each Director and there was a wide-ranging discussion of the Board’s 
effectiveness. The results of the review were considered in detail by the 
Board, and a number of next steps to improve Board effectiveness 
further were agreed. 

The review confirmed that the Board had focused on the important 
issues in creating shareholder value, including the UK and key 
international businesses such as China and the US. The Board  
had performed well on governance and much effort was taken on  
an ongoing basis to ensure compliance with the Code and other 
requirements. There was a good focus on societal issues and the 
increasing focus on a global approach was welcomed. The review  
also highlighted that there was a high level of understanding of, and 
commitment to, the Board’s strategy and the balance of skills and 
experience on the Board had strengthened in recent years. The Board 
was seen to respond openly and constructively to events and  
there were open channels of communication with management.  
The CEO succession process was praised as exemplary. The review 
recommended that going forward the Board should have a particular 
focus on the resources required to build a global business in terms of 
financial capacity, people development and operational capabilities.

Annual reviews of the performance of the Nominations, Remuneration 
and Audit Committees have been carried out, led by each Committee’s 
Chairman. These reviews have confirmed that each Committee 
continues to operate effectively. 

Our CEO reviews the performance of each Executive Director and our 
Chairman reviews the performance of the CEO and each Non-executive 
Director. Having completed these evaluations, the CEO and Chairman 
confirm that each individual whose performance they have assessed 
continues to be effective and committed to their role. The Senior 
Independent Director assessed the Chairman’s performance in the year, 
taking into account the views of both the Non-executive and Executive 
Directors, and confirms that he continues to be effective and 
committed to his role. 

During the year, the Chairman met with the Non-executive Directors, 
without the Executive Directors present, to discuss Board issues and 
how to build the best possible team. 

Attendance at meetings

The Board held nine scheduled meetings in the year ended 26 February 
2011, and ad hoc meetings were also arranged to deal with matters 
between scheduled meetings as appropriate. It is expected that all 
Directors attend scheduled Board and relevant Committee meetings, 
unless they are prevented from doing so by prior commitments, and 
that all Directors will attend the AGM. Where Directors are unable to 
attend meetings, they receive the papers scheduled for discussion in 
the relevant meetings, giving them the opportunity to raise any issues 
and give any comments to the Chairman in advance of the meeting. 
Following the meeting the Chairman briefs any member not present on 
the discussions and any decisions taken at the meeting. Directors leave 
the meeting where matters relating to them, or which may constitute a 
conflict of interest for them, are being discussed. None of the Executive 
Directors holds more than one FTSE 100 external non-executive 
directorship and Philip Clarke resigned his position as Non-executive 
Director of Whitbread plc effective from 1 March 2011. The other 
directorships held by the Non-executive Directors are set out in their 
biographies which can be found on pages 60 and 61.
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Full Board meetings

Number of meetings

Number of
possible

meetings
attended

Actual
meetings
attended

Non-executive Directors

David Reid (Chairman) 9 9

Gareth Bullock �
(appointed 3 July 2010)

4 4

Patrick Cescau �
(Senior Independent Director �
from 3 July 2010)

9 9

Stuart Chambers �
(appointed 3 July 2010)

4 4

Karen Cook 9 9

Ken Hanna 9 9

Ken Hydon 9 9

Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker 9 9

Executive Directors

Sir Terry Leahy �
(retired 2 March 2011)

9 9

Richard Brasher 9 9

Philip Clarke 9 9

Andrew Higginson 9 9

Tim Mason 9 9

Laurie McIlwee 9 9

Lucy Neville-Rolfe CMG 9 9

David Potts 9 9

Past Non-executives Directors

Charles Allen CBE �
(retired 2 July 2010)

5 5

Rodney Chase CBE �
(retired 2 July 2010)

5 3

Harald Einsmann �
(retired 2 July 2010)

5 5

The Board’s key activities

The Board governs through a number of key Committees – in particular 
the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees – to which 
certain responsibilities and duties are delegated. These Committees  
are properly authorised under the constitution of the Company to take 
decisions and act on behalf of the Board within the parameters laid 
down by the Board. The Board is kept fully informed of the work of 
these Committees and any issues requiring resolution are referred  
to the full Board as appropriate. A summary of the operations of  
these Committees is set out below. The effectiveness of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nominations Committees is underpinned by their 
Non-executive Director membership, which provides independent 
insight on governance matters. A copy of each Committee’s Terms  
of Reference is available on our website www.tescoplc.com/
boardprocess/. The Board is serviced by the Company Secretary, who 
reports to the Chairman in respect of his core duties to the Board. 

The table below shows the attendance of Directors at scheduled Board 
meetings during the year. 

Monitoring 
Committees*
• Corporate 
 Responsibility
 Committee
• Compliance 
 Committee

Main Board 
Committees
• Audit Committee
• Remuneration
 Committee
• Nominations
 Committee

Operational
Committees

Joint Venture
Boards

Executive
Committee

Subsidiary
Boards

PLC Board

* Reports are discussed by PLC Board on a regular basis.
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The Nominations Committee leads the process for Board appointments 
and the re-election and succession of Directors, as well as making 
recommendations for the membership of the Board’s main committees. 

The Committee is chaired by David Reid and the Company Secretary 
also attends meetings in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee. 
Where matters discussed relate to the Chairman, the Senior 
Independent Director chairs the meeting. 

The Nominations Committee met four times formally in the year  
to discuss the ongoing shape and capability of the Board. There  
were also a number of ad hoc meetings during the year to discuss 
Board succession matters. As well as reviewing the performance  
and development of the Executive Directors and the senior executive 
levels below the Board, the Committee also regularly considers:

•	 the Board’s structure, size and composition;

•	� the skills, experience and knowledge of the Board, and identifies 
candidates to fill Board vacancies and enhance its capability;

•	� succession planning for Directors and other senior executives, taking 
into account the challenges and opportunities facing the business, 
and what skills and expertise are therefore needed on the Board in 
the future;

•	 the time commitment required from Non-executive Directors;

•	� the leadership needs of the organisation, both executive and non-
executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the 
organisation to compete effectively in the marketplace; and

•	� strategic issues and commercial changes affecting the Group  
and the market in which it operates.

During the year consideration was given to finding an appropriate 
replacement for retiring CEO, Sir Terry Leahy, and for the retiring 
Non-executive Directors. The Nominations Committee considered  
the skills and experience that would be required for these positions  
to create detailed role descriptions. After a rigorous selection process 
involving a number of external candidates, which included interviews 
with the Executive and Non-executive Directors, Gareth Bullock and 
Stuart Chambers were selected for the Non-executive roles. Philip 
Clarke was chosen as the strongest candidate for CEO following a 
thorough assessment of internal and external candidates.

As part of the succession planning process the Nominations Committee 
considered appointing three new Non-executive Directors to replace 
the three Directors retiring in July 2010, but it was considered that  
the appointment of two new Directors would be sufficient, given  
the balance of skills and experience there would be among the  
Non-executive Directors (taking into account these appointments),  
and the fact that the Company’s non-compliance with the board 
balance provisions in the Code would only be temporary. Copies of  
the Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointment are available for 
inspection from the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered 
office and also at the AGM. 

The Committee’s effectiveness review concluded that the Committee 
was provided with sufficient resources to carry out its duties.

Full terms of reference of the Tesco PLC �
Nominations Committee are available at: 
www.tescoplc.com/boardprocess/

Members

Number of
possible 

meetings
attended

Actual 
meetings 
attended

David Reid (Chairman) 4 4

Gareth Bullock �
(from 3 July 2010)

1 1

Patrick Cescau 4 4

Stuart Chambers �
(from 3 July 2010)

1 1

Karen Cook 4 4

Ken Hanna 4 4

Ken Hydon 4 4

Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker 4 4

Sir Terry Leahy �
(retired 2 March 2011)

4 4

Philip Clarke �
(from 2 March 2011)

1 1

Past committee members

Charles Allen 3 3

Rodney Chase 3 2

Harald Einsmann 3 3

Our Nominations Committee 
comprises seven independent 
Non-executive Directors, the 
Non-executive Chairman and 
the CEO.

Nominations 
Committee

David Reid 
Nominations Committee 
Chairman
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Members (all independent  
Non-executive Directors)

Number of
possible 

meetings
attended

Actual 
meetings 
attended

Patrick Cescau 5 5

Stuart Chambers �
(from 3 July 2010)

3 3

Karen Cook 5 5

Ken Hanna 5 5

Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker �
(from 3 July 2010)

3 3

Past Committee members

Charles Allen 2 1

Rodney Chase 2 1

Harald Einsmann 2 2

The Remuneration Committee’s role is to determine and recommend 
to the Board the remuneration of the Executive Directors. It also 
monitors the levels and structure of remuneration for senior management 
and seeks to ensure that the remuneration arrangements are designed 
to attract, retain and motivate the Executive Directors needed to run 
the Company successfully. 

At the invitation of the Committee the Chairman of the Board normally 
attends meetings and the CEO and Chief Financial Officer attend as 
appropriate. Representatives of the Group’s Personnel and Finance 
functions attend as appropriate to provide support and the Company 
Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee.

The Committee met five times this year. The Committee’s effectiveness 
review concluded that the Committee was provided with sufficient 
resources to carry out its duties.

Details of the work of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 74 to 91.

Each year the Committee conducts a review of its own effectiveness 
and its Terms of Reference. The responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee, and an explanation of how it applies the Directors’ 
remuneration principles of the Code and other applicable rules and 
regulations governing remuneration, are set out in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on pages 74 to 91.

Full terms of reference of the Tesco PLC �
Remuneration Committee are available at 

www.tescoplc.com/boardprocess/

Our Remuneration Committee 
comprises five independent  
Non-executive Directors.

Remuneration 
Committee

Stuart Chambers 
Remuneration Committee 
Chairman
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Members (all independent  
Non-executive Directors)

Number of
possible 

meetings
attended

Actual 
meetings
attended

Ken Hydon (Chairman) �
(Fellow of CIMA, ACCA and ACT)

5 5

Gareth Bullock �
(from 3 July 2010) �
(MA Modern Languages)

2   1*

Patrick Cescau 5 5

Ken Hanna (Fellow of ICAEW) 5   4*

Past Committee members

Rodney Chase 3 2

* �Ken Hanna was not able to attend the April meeting due to the disruption created by the 
Icelandic ash cloud. Gareth Bullock was not able to attend the September meeting due  
to a pre-existing commitment made before his appointment.

Other regular attendees at the invitation of the Committee include:

•	 Chairman of the Board;

•	 Chief Financial Officer and his team (as appropriate);

•	 Head of Internal Audit;

•	 Executive Director (Corporate and Legal Affairs);

•	 Executive Directors as appropriate; and

•	 External Auditors.

The Company Secretary also attends in his capacity as Secretary  
of the Committee.

The Chairman of the Tesco Bank Audit Committee attends the 
Committee twice a year to provide an update on the work of the Bank’s 
Audit Committee in overseeing the Bank’s internal control and risk 
assurance processes.

The Audit Committee structure requires the inclusion of at least one 
member with recent and relevant financial experience. The Committee 
Chairman and several other members fulfil this requirement, and all 
other Committee members have an appropriate understanding of 
financial matters.

The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities are:

•	� to review the financial statements and announcements relating  
to the financial performance of the Company;

•	 to review the Group’s internal control and risk assurance processes;

•	� to consider the appointment of the external auditors, their reports  
to the Committee and their independence, which includes an 
assessment of their appropriateness to conduct any non-audit work; 
and

•	 to review the programme of Internal Audit.

The Committee met five times this year and the Committee’s 
effectiveness review concluded that the Committee was provided with 
sufficient resources to carry out its duties. While fulfilling the above 
responsibilities, during the year the Committee received detailed 
updates from a number of businesses within the Group, as well as 
discussing a number of topics including:

•	 fraud risks; 

•	 business continuity and crisis management; 

•	 whistle-blowing; 

•	 Groceries Supply Code of Practice;

•	 going concern; and 

•	 IT controls. 

A Board visit is organised each year to one or more of the Group’s 
international businesses and the Committee takes advantage of these 
visits to meet with local management and discuss the extent to which 
Group internal controls and risk management processes are embedded 
in those businesses.

The need for training is kept under review and the annual agenda ensures 
substantial time is dedicated to technical updates, which are generally 
provided by external experts. This year training was provided, inter alia, 
on accounting and reporting developments under IFRS and IAS and 
governance developments proposed by the FRC. With respect to Tesco 
Bank, training was provided on regulatory, accounting, governance and 
risk management requirements. Training is also provided on an ongoing 
basis to meet specific individual needs of Committee members.

The Committee conducted a review of its own effectiveness and its 
Terms of Reference during the year. The Committee also had regular 
private meetings with the external auditors and the Head of Internal 
Audit during the year at which an honest and open working relationship 
is maintained and developed.

Full terms of reference of the Tesco PLC �
Audit Committee are available at

www.tescoplc.com/boardprocess/

Our Audit Committee  
comprises four independent 
Non-executive Directors.

Audit 
Committee

Ken Hydon 
Audit Committee  
Chairman
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Executive Committee 

The Board delegates responsibility for formulating and implementing 
the Group’s strategic plan and for management of the Group to the 
Executive Committee, which is chaired by the CEO and comprised 
the eight Executive Directors during the year. A senior executive, 
Colin Holmes, was also a member of the Committee until he left the 
Group on 29 October 2010. From 1 March 2011 this Committee has 
been expanded to reflect the scale and scope of the business. The 
Committee now consists of the seven Executive Directors and the 
following senior executives:

1.	Gordon Fryett – Property Strategy Director for the Group 

2.	Alison Horner – Group Personnel Director 

3.	�Trevor Masters – responsible for operations in the Czech Republic, 
Hungary, Poland, Slovakia and Turkey 

4.	Mike McNamara – Chief Information Officer 

5.	Bob Robbins – Chief Operating Officer of the UK business 

6.	Ken Towle – Internet Retailing Director 

The Committee has authority for decision-making in all areas except 
those set out in the Schedule of Matters Reserved for Board 
Decision, and meets formally on a regular basis. The Company 
Secretary attends in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee.

The Executive Committee is responsible for implementing Group 
strategy and policy and for monitoring the performance and 
compliance of the business, drawing on the work of relevant 
committees, and reporting on these matters in full to the Board.

The Committee has set up further committees, including the 
Compliance and Corporate Responsibility Committees, together  
with a number of operational groups which have responsibility for 
implementing the key elements of the Group’s strategic plan and 
managing its UK and international operations, joint ventures, 
property acquisitions, finance, funding and people matters. These 
committees and groups have as members an appropriate mixture of 
Executive Directors and senior management from relevant functions. 

Whistle-blowing 

The Group operates a whistle blowing policy which is reviewed 
annually. In every business we operate a confidential telephone  
and email service which enables concerned employees to report, 
anonymously if they choose, any instances of inappropriate behaviour 
or malpractice within the business. Such issues include unethical or 
illegal behaviour such as fraud, dishonesty and any practices that 
endanger our staff, customers or the environment. During the year 
the majority of the issues related to personnel matters, which is 
common in most businesses, with a number of security issues  
also raised.

All complaints made are treated as confidential and are investigated  
by the relevant department. Employees are kept updated on request. 
Where there is a serious issue, this will be escalated to the country CEO. 
This policy is monitored by the compliance committees in country, by 
the Group Compliance Committee annually and by the Group Audit 
Committee annually. In addition, the whistle blowing line was internally 
audited during the year.

Management of the Group

Compliance Committee 

Membership of the Compliance Committee includes three Executive 
Directors and members of senior management. The Committee is 
chaired by Lucy Neville-Rolfe, Executive Director (Corporate and 
Legal Affairs). The Committee normally meets six times a year and 
its remit is to ensure that the Group complies with all necessary 
laws, regulations and other compliance policies in all of its 
operations worldwide. The Committee has a schedule for the 
regular review of operational activities across the Group. Each 
business in the Group has its own compliance committee which 
reviews compliance with Group and local compliance policies, and 
each compliance committee reports to the Group Compliance 
Committee on a regular basis. 

Corporate Responsibility Committee 

The Committee is chaired by Lucy Neville-Rolfe, Executive Director 
(Corporate and Legal Affairs), and membership comprises both 
Executive Directors and senior executives from across the Group. 
Regular support and contributions are also received from Non-
executive Directors, who provide the Committee with the benefit of 
their experience outside Tesco. The Committee meets at least four 
times a year to support, develop and monitor policies on Social, 
Ethical and Environmental (SEE) issues, and to review threats and 
opportunities for the Group. Progress in developing community 
initiatives is monitored by the use of relevant KPIs for the businesses 
within the Group. The Board formally discusses the work of the 
Committee on a regular basis, including progress in implementing 
our Community Plan.

The Corporate and Legal Affairs Department and the Trading Law  
and Technical Department provide assurance and advice on legal 
compliance, health and safety, and SEE matters. These functions 
report on their work on a regular basis and escalate matters  
as appropriate.

1 2

43

5 6
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Risk management and internal controls 

Accountabilities 
Accepting that risk is an inherent part of doing business, our risk 
management systems are designed both to encourage entrepreneurial 
spirit and also provide assurance that risk is fully understood and 
managed. The Board has overall responsibility for risk management 
and internal control within the context of achieving the Group’s 
objectives. Executive management is responsible for implementing  
and maintaining the necessary control systems. The role of Internal 
Audit is to monitor the overall internal control systems and report on 
their effectiveness to executive management, as well as to the Audit 
Committee, in order to facilitate its review of the systems. 

Background 
The Group has a five-year rolling business plan to support the delivery 
of its strategy. Every business unit and support function derives its 
objectives from the five-year plan and these are cascaded to managers 
and staff by way of personal objectives. 

Key to delivering effective risk management is ensuring our people 
have a good understanding of the Group’s strategy and our policies, 
procedures, values and expected performance. We have a structured 
internal communications programme that provides employees with  
a clear definition of the Group’s purpose and goals, accountabilities  
and the scope of permitted activities for each business unit, as well as 
individual line managers and other employees. This ensures that all our 
people understand what is expected of them and that decision-making 
takes place at the appropriate level. We recognise that our people may 
face ethical dilemmas in the normal course of business so we provide 
clear guidance based on the Tesco Values. The Values set out the 
standards that we wish to uphold in how we treat people. These are 
supported by the Group Code of Business Conduct which offers 
guidance on relationships between the Group and its employees, 
suppliers and contractors. 

Risk management 
The Group maintains a Key Risk Register. The Register contains the key 
risks faced by the Group, including their likelihood and impact, as well 
as the controls and procedures implemented to mitigate these risks 
(see table below). The content of the Register is determined through 
regular discussions with senior management and review by the 
Executive Committee and the full Board. A balanced approach allows 
the degree of controllability to be taken into account when we consider 
the effectiveness of mitigation, recognising that some necessary 
activities carry inherent risk which may be outside the Group’s control. 
Our key risks are summarised on pages 51 to 57 of the Business Review 
section of this Annual Report. 

The risk management process is cascaded through the Group, with 
operating subsidiary boards maintaining their own risk registers  
and assessing their control systems. The same process also applies 
functionally in those parts of the Group requiring greater overview.  
For example, the Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference require it  
to oversee the Finance Risk Register. The Board assesses significant 
SEE risks to the Group’s short-term and long-term value, and 
incorporates SEE risks on the Key Risk Register where they are 
considered material or appropriate. During the year the Board regularly 
reviewed the Key Risk Register and undertook deep dive assessments 
of property and fraud risks.

We recognise the value of the ABI Guidelines on Responsible 
Investment Disclosure and confirm that, as part of its regular risk 
assessment procedures, the Board takes account of the significance  
of SEE matters to the business of the Group. We recognise that a 
number of investors and other stakeholders take a keen interest in how 
companies manage SEE matters and so we report more detail on our 
SEE policies and approach to managing material risks arising from SEE 
matters and the KPIs we use both on our website (http://www.tescoplc.
com/corporate-responsibility/) and in our Corporate Responsibility 
Report 2011. To provide further assurance, the Group’s Corporate 
Responsibility KPIs are audited on a regular basis by Internal Audit.
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Impact ratings (over a one-year period)

High risk

Medium risk

Significant risk

The Company can totally control 
this risk
 
 
The Company can largely 
control this risk or influence the 
environment
 
The Company is one of a number of 
entities that can control the risk or 
influence the environment
 
The Company can only marginally 
influence or effect control in this risk 
environment
 
The Company has no effective 
influence over the control of this risk

Controllability factors
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Internal Audit 
The Internal Audit department is independent of business operations  
and has a Group-wide mandate. It undertakes a programme to address 
internal control and risk management processes with particular 
reference to the Turnbull Guidance. It operates a risk-based methodology, 
ensuring that the Group’s key risks receive appropriate regular 
examination. Its responsibilities include maintaining the Key Risk 
Register, reviewing and reporting on the effectiveness of risk 
management systems and internal control with the Executive 
Committee, the Audit Committee and ultimately to the Board.  
Internal Audit facilitates oversight of risk and control systems across  
the Group through risk committees in Asia and Europe and audit 
committees in a number of our businesses and joint ventures. The  
Head of Internal Audit also attends all Audit Committee meetings. 

External audit 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s external auditor, 
contributes a further independent perspective on certain aspects of  
our internal financial control systems arising from its work, and reports 
to both the Board and the Audit Committee. The engagement and 
independence of external auditors is considered annually by the Audit 
Committee before it recommends its selection to the Board. 

The Company has a non-audit services policy for work carried out  
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. This is split into three categories as 
explained below: 

(a)	� pre-approved for the external auditors – is predominantly the 
review of subsidiary undertakings’ statutory accounts and is 
Audit-related in nature;

(b)	� work for which Audit Committee approval is specifically required 
– transaction work and corporate tax services, and certain advisory 
services; and

(c)	 work from which the external auditors are prohibited. 

The Audit Committee concluded that it was in the best interests of the 
Company for the external auditors to provide a number of non-audit 
services during the year due to their experience, expertise and 
knowledge of the Group’s operations.

Auditor objectivity and independence was achieved by ensuring  
that personnel involved in the non-audit work were not involved in  
the audit, and by ensuring that management took responsibility for  
all decisions made. 

The fees paid to the auditors in the year are disclosed in note 3 to the 
Group Financial Statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP also follows its own ethical guidelines 
and continually reviews its audit team to ensure its independence  
is not compromised. 

Tesco Bank

Tesco Bank monitors the risks it faces through its governance 
structures, assessing any potential impact and action required to 
manage them. The work of the Tesco Bank Risk Committee focuses  
on systematic risks such as funding, credit risk and risks in the insurance 
business, while the Tesco Bank Audit Committee considers internal 
controls and assurance. The Bank’s Board has overall responsibility  
for ensuring that it has an appropriate approach to risk management 
and internal control within the context of achieving its objectives. 
Executive management is responsible for implementing and maintaining 
the necessary control systems with the independent risk function 
providing oversight and assurance in relation to risk profiles. The role  
of Tesco Bank Internal Audit is to monitor the overall internal control 
systems and report on their effectiveness. 

Internal controls 
The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of internal controls 
and for reviewing the effectiveness of such a system. We have a 
Group-wide process for clearly establishing the risks and responsibilities 
assigned to each level of management and the controls which are 
required to be operated and monitored. 

The CEO of each subsidiary business is required to certify by way  
of an annual governance return that the Group’s governance and 
compliance policies and processes have been adopted. The returns 
received from across the Group are reviewed and discussed by the 
Compliance Committee and the results of that review are included in 
the Compliance Committee’s annual report to the Board. For certain 
joint ventures, the Board places reliance upon the internal control 
systems operating within our partners’ infrastructure and the 
obligations upon partners’ boards relating to the effectiveness  
of their own systems. 

Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

In respect of Group financial reporting, Group Finance is responsible  
for preparing the Group financial statements, incorporating the 
consolidation process. Group Finance contains a consolidation team 
and technical accounting team, which reviews external technical 
accounting developments, financial reporting and accounting policy 
issues. It is also responsible for the maintenance of the Group’s 
accounting policy manual, which is in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. Group Finance also maintains its own 
risk register and assesses its own controls systems. This incorporates 
risks such as wrong or unclear accounting policies, ineffective financial 
close processes, inaccurate or incomplete Group financial and 
management accounts, reputational risk, IT risks, fraud and people 
risks. Internal Audit also reviews the effectiveness of controls operating 
in the Group Finance function. The results of Group Finance’s risk 
register review and Internal Audit’s findings are reported to the Audit 
Committee on an annual basis. 

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of internal 
controls and is satisfied that the controls in place remain appropriate.

Monitoring 
The Board oversees the monitoring system and has set specific 
responsibilities for itself and the various committees as set out below. 
Both Internal Audit and our external auditors play key roles in the 
monitoring process, as do several committees including the 
Compliance Committee and the Corporate Responsibility Committee. 
The minutes of the Audit Committee and the other committees are 
distributed to the Board and each committee submits a report for 
formal discussion at least once a year. These processes provide 
assurance that the Group is operating legally, ethically and in 
accordance with approved financial and operational policies. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee reports to the Board each year on its review of 
the effectiveness of the internal control systems for the financial year 
and the period to the date of approval of the financial statements. 
Throughout the year the Committee receives regular reports from  
the external auditors covering topics such as quality of earnings and 
technical accounting developments. The Committee also receives 
updates from Internal Audit and has dialogue with senior managers on 
their control responsibilities. It should be understood that such systems 
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss. 
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The Bank has established a risk management framework to manage 
the risks arising across the business. The framework is driven at a 
strategic level by the Bank’s Risk Appetite, which is approved by its 
Board. The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) is 
the Bank’s internal assessment of capital adequacy designed to address 
the requirements under Pillar 2 of the Basel II framework. The ICAAP 
process considers all of the risks faced by the Bank, how these risks  
are mitigated and the amount of capital that requires to be held both 
currently and in the future. The Bank performs a full ICAAP at least 
annually with approval provided by its Board. 

The Bank maintains a Key Risk Register, which is subject to regular 
review to enable management to determine additional mitigating 
actions in cases where the residual risk is outside its Risk Appetite.  
The content of the Register is determined through regular discussions 
with senior management and reviewed by the Bank’s Board Risk 
Committee, its Board and the Tesco PLC Board on a regular basis.

Relations with stakeholders

We are committed to having a constructive dialogue with stakeholders 
to ensure we understand what is important to them and allow ourselves 
the opportunity to present our position. Every year we carry out a 
survey of a cross section of shareholders in order to assess shareholder 
perceptions of the Company. The results of this survey are reviewed by 
the Board. Engagement helps us identify new risks and opportunities  
to ensure that our long-term strategy is sustainable. In some instances 
we find that working with stakeholders in partnership can help deliver 
shared goals. We might not be able to satisfy all stakeholder concerns 
all the time but through engagement we can do our best to balance 
competing demands. We know that customers need to be able to trust 
our business and they will only trust us if they believe that we are 
engaging on an appropriate basis with our stakeholders. 

Our programme of engaging with stakeholders including customers, 
staff, suppliers, investors, government, regulators, non-governmental 
organisations and others, is set out in more detail in our Corporate 
Responsibility Report 2011 and on our website. 

Shareholder engagement
We maintain a good dialogue with shareholders through proactively 
organising meetings and presentations as well as responding to a wide 
range of enquiries. We seek shareholder views on a range of issues from 
strategy to corporate governance and SEE issues. We recognise the 
importance of communicating appropriately any significant Company 
developments.

During the year, the Chairman, CEO and Chief Financial Officer met  
with a number of our leading shareholders to discuss issues relating  
to the performance of the Group and its strategy, as well as new 
developments within the business and a range of governance matters. 
The Chairman’s meetings with major shareholders took place 
independently from the Executive team’s meetings. This year the 
Remuneration Committee Chairman also met with a number of major 
shareholders to discuss proposed changes to the remuneration 
structure for Executive Directors. In addition to this, Investor Relations 
engage with shareholders on a regular basis, and on a wide range of 
issues. Lucy Neville-Rolfe leads the Company’s contact with socially 
responsible investors (SRIs) and has regular meetings, on both a 
one-to-one and group basis, to discuss the work the Group is doing on 
corporate responsibility and governance-related issues. Following these 
meetings the matters raised are discussed with the Board as a whole. 

An Investor Relations report is produced for the Board periodically.  
This report summarises feedback from shareholders particularly in 
terms of our management and strategy, and ensures the Board has  
a balanced perspective on the views of our major shareholders.

It is normal that institutional shareholders may be in more regular 
contact with the Group than other shareholders, but care is exercised  
to ensure that any price-sensitive information is released to all 
shareholders, institutions and private, at the same time in accordance 
with applicable legal and regulatory requirements. All major 
presentations to institutional shareholders are made available to  
private shareholders through the Tesco PLC website.

Every shareholder may choose to receive a full Annual Report and 
Financial Statements or the Annual Review and Summary Financial 
Statement, either in paper or electronic form. These reports, together 
with publicly made trading statements, are available on the Group’s 
website, www.tescoplc.com

The Tesco PLC AGM
The Annual General Meeting offers the opportunity for the Board to 
communicate the Company’s progress directly to shareholders. Our last 
Annual General Meeting in July 2010 was held in London. The 2011 
AGM will be held in Nottingham at 11am on Friday 1 July. The choice of 
location is based on our policy of widening the opportunity for our 
shareholders to attend the AGM, by moving to different locations in the 
UK each year.

The whole Board attends the AGM and is available to answer questions 
from shareholders present. To encourage shareholder participation, we 
offer electronic proxy voting and voting through the CREST electronic 
proxy appointment service. At our last Annual General Meeting, all 
resolutions were voted by way of electronic poll. This follows best 
practice guidelines and allows the Company to count all votes, not just 
those of shareholders attending the meeting. The Chairman announces 
the provisional voting results at the meeting, and the final results are 
announced the same day through the Regulatory News Services and 
the Tesco PLC website.

By Order of the Board  
Jonathan Lloyd 
Company Secretary 
6 May 2011

Tesco PLC 
Registered Number: 445790 
Registered in England and Wales 
Registered Office: Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt, 
Hertfordshire EN8 9SL

VAT Registration Number: GB 220 4302 3
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Following my appointment as Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee, I took the opportunity to meet with our largest 
shareholders in November 2010 to understand their views and  
concerns in relation to remuneration arrangements. The Remuneration 
Committee has since reviewed all our executive remuneration 
arrangements in the light of our strategy, our operational goals and the 
feedback from shareholders. Whilst we believe that our remuneration 
arrangements are broadly competitive and operate well, the Committee 
has found opportunities to simplify, and rebalance where appropriate.

In carrying out this review, we have followed four guiding principles. 
These principles as well as the key outcomes of the review are as follows: 

1	� Simplification – We will remove share options and operate only one 
long-term incentive plan (currently four plans) with two performance 
measures (currently five measures). We will also reduce the annual 
bonus metrics to seven key measures (currently more than 20 
individual measures are considered).

2	� A collegiate approach – The focus for our long-term incentives will 
be on Group results only for both the CEO and Executive Directors 
and there will be no separate long-term incentives for Executive 
Directors in relation to the US or other businesses. Going forward, 
the US CEO will participate in the same incentive arrangements  
as other executives and will no longer participate in the US LTIP.

3	� Strategic alignment – We will emphasise earnings growth in the 
long-term plan as well as delivering sustainable return on capital.  
We are also increasing our executive shareholding guidelines to four 
times base salary for the CEO and three times base salary for the 
Executive Directors to enhance the alignment of interests between 
executives and our shareholders. 

4	 �Appropriate pay levels – The simplified remuneration 
arrangements are of broadly the same expected value as the current 
executive remuneration arrangements. 

We are asking shareholders at this year’s AGM to approve the renewal of 
the Performance Share Plan for a further ten years on broadly its existing 
terms. In order to allow for the replacement of share options with a 
performance share award and to allow for the Committee to structure 
the reward of the CEO so that it is more focused on performance related 
elements, our current intention is for the maximum award under the 
long-term incentive plan (PSP) to be 225% of base salary for Executive 
Directors and 275% of base salary for the CEO. To ensure that we have 
sufficient headroom to grant awards in exceptional circumstances,  
in line with usual practice, we are seeking shareholder approval to 
increase the maximum award opportunity under the PSP to 350% of 
base salary. In the event that this award policy changes we would expect 
to consult our largest shareholders in advance. 

Further details of the proposed remuneration arrangements are set out 
on pages 76 to 79.

I believe that the remuneration arrangements we are proposing are 
appropriate and will help incentivise executives to create future growth 
in shareholder value. I very much hope that shareholders will support 
our remuneration arrangements at our forthcoming AGM.

Last year’s remuneration
2010/11 was another strong performance year for Tesco in challenging 
markets. Remuneration payouts for the year were based on the existing 
reward framework and average payouts for the year were lower than  
for 2009/10. Further details of this are provided on pages 80 to 83. 

Stuart Chambers 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

As the new Remuneration 
Committee Chairman I am 	
pleased to present Tesco PLC’s 
2010/11 Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to you.

Stuart Chambers 
Remuneration Committee Chairman 

This report sets out the remuneration policy for the Executive and 
Non-executive Directors of Tesco PLC and describes the individual 
remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 26 February 2011. 

remuneration committee

75	� Governance and risk 
management, including the 
role, membership and advisors 
to the Committee

�Remuneration strategy  
and policy

76	� Remuneration strategy and 
policy from 2011/12

77	� Fixed remuneration from 
2011/12

78	� Performance related 
remuneration from 2011/12

79	 Share ownership guidelines
79	 Service agreements

Remuneration for 2010/11

80	 Fixed remuneration for 2010/11
80	� Performance related 

remuneration for 2010/11 
83	� 2010/11 long term performance 

awards

Other information

84	 Outside appointments
84	 Other remuneration matters
84	 Non-executive Directors
84	 Compliance
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Remuneration Committee

Membership of the 
Remuneration Committee

Stuart Chambers (Committee Chairman) (joined the Committee on 3 July 2010) 
Patrick Cescau 
Karen Cook  
Ken Hanna 
Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker (joined the Committee on 3 July 2010)
• �The Directors’ biographies can be found on pages 60 and 61 of this Annual Report.
• �Members’ attendance at Committee meetings is listed in the Corporate Governance section on page 68 of this 

Annual Report.
• �No member of the Committee has any personal financial interest in the matters being decided, other than  

as a shareholder, nor any day-to-day involvement in running the business of Tesco.
• �Charles Allen, Rodney Chase and Harald Einsmann were also members of the Committee until their retirement 

from the Board at the 2010 AGM on 2 July. Mr Allen chaired the Committee until this date.

Role of the Remuneration 
Committee and activities 
during the year

The Committee’s responsibilities are to:
• determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration policy for the Chairman and Executive Directors; 
• �ensure the level and structure of remuneration is designed to attract, retain and motivate the Executive 

Directors needed to run the Company;
• �review and approve awards made under our share schemes;
• �agree performance frameworks and targets for annual and long-term awards, and review performance against 

these;
• �monitor the level and structure of remuneration for senior management ensuring that it is aligned with 

shareholders’ interests; 
• �ensure the remuneration relationship between the Executive Directors and the wider workforce is appropriate;
• review compliance with director shareholding guidelines;
• approve the annual Directors’ Remuneration Report for presentation to shareholders;
• �consider developments in best practice and updated guidelines on executive compensation from shareholder 

advisory bodies; and
• review the Chairman’s pay and benefits.
In addition to carrying out these responsibilities, during the year the Committee undertook a detailed review  
of remuneration arrangements and proposed changes to both policy and structures. The Committee also set  
a reward framework for our new CEO.
As it does every year, the Committee undertook a review of its own performance and agreed steps to enhance  
its effectiveness.
As required by the FSA, Tesco Bank has a separate independent remuneration committee. The Group 
Remuneration Committee is consulted on, and makes recommendations in relation to the remuneration 
arrangements for Tesco Bank employees, with the aim of encouraging consistency with Group remuneration  
policy, but it does not make decisions in relation to, or direct, how remuneration is managed within Tesco Bank.

Number of meetings • Normally four meetings per year
• In the year ending 26 February 2011 the Committee met formally five times 

External advisors Deloitte LLP 
Deloitte also provided advisory services in respect of corporate tax planning, share schemes, international 
taxation, corporate finance and treasury to the Group during the year. 

Internal advisors • Jonathan Lloyd, the Company Secretary, is Secretary to the Committee. 
• �David Reid, Non-executive Chairman, Philip Clarke, Chief Executive of the Group and Laurie McIlwee, Group 

CFO, all attend meetings at the invitation of the Committee. They are not present when their own remuneration 
is being discussed.

• The Committee is supported by the Group Personnel and Finance functions.

Terms of reference Available from the Company Secretary upon request or can be viewed at www.tescoplc.com/boardprocess/

Governance Oversight Committee (GOC)

Membership of the  
Committee

Senior Independent Director – Patrick Cescau (Committee Chairman)
Chairman of the Audit Committee – Ken Hydon
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee – Stuart Chambers
The Chairman attends meetings and the Company Secretary serves as its secretary.

Role of the Governance 
Oversight Committee

The Committee’s purpose is to review and report to the Remuneration Committee at the end of each financial 
year on the allocation of Group capital.
The Remuneration Committee takes account of the GOC’s report together with the view of the Audit Committee 
to ensure that financial performance against targets is indicative of strong and robust business performance. 
If appropriate, vesting under long-term incentive plans may be adjusted by the Remuneration Committee.  
Any such adjustments to vesting for Executive Directors will be reported to shareholders in the Remuneration 
Report at the relevant time.
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The key features of the revised arrangements are:

•� �Common remuneration arrangements with a Group focus – 
There will be a return to a common set of incentive arrangements 
with a focus on Group performance for short-term and long-term 
reward. All executives, including the CEO and the US CEO, will 
participate in the same plans going forward.

• �Retain focus on performance related reward and delivery in 
shares – The Remuneration Committee continues to believe that 
the majority of total remuneration should be performance related  
and delivered largely in shares, to closely align the interests of 
shareholders and Executive Directors. This remains a feature  
of the revised arrangements. To further enhance alignment with 
shareholder interests, the Committee has decided to increase the 
executive shareholding guideline from one times base salary to  
four times base salary for the CEO and three times base salary  
for the other executives.

• �Removal of share options – Executive share options will no longer 
be granted and will be replaced by a performance share award of 
comparable expected value.

• �Reduction in measures – The number of performance measures 
will be reduced going forward, with a focus on delivery of ongoing 
earnings growth and sustainable return on capital for long-term 
elements of reward.

• �Rebalancing of the CEO package – The CEO’s package has 
been rebalanced compared to his previous package as an Executive 
Director, to focus it more on performance-related rather than fixed 
elements of reward.

• �Introduction of ‘clawback’ – To reflect best practice, we have also 
introduced ‘clawback’ for deferred share awards under the annual 
bonus plan and long-term incentive (PSP) awards to allow the 
Committee to scale back awards in the event that results are 
materially misstated.

The following chart shows the make-up of remuneration:

REMUNERATION STRATEGY AND POLICY FROM 2011/12 
ONWARDS

Executive Directors’ remuneration strategy

Tesco has a long-standing strategy of rewarding talent and experience. 
We seek to provide incentives for delivering strong, sustainable and 
profitable growth, thereby creating substantial additional value for 
shareholders. We operate in a keenly competitive and rapidly changing 
retail environment. Business success depends on the talents of the key 
team, but outstanding business performance comes from teamwork. 
Tesco has a stable and successful management team, and motivating 
and incentivising that team at senior levels to deliver yet higher levels of 
performance is vital to our ongoing success. We believe our incentives 
should support the continued growth and the strengthening of our 
returns from across the Group, as well as the creation and development 
of significant new businesses. 

Total remuneration levels of Executive Directors are reviewed annually 
by the Committee, taking into account their contribution in terms of 
continuing strong performance, their potential and competitive market 
practice. When setting the remuneration of Executive Directors, the 
Committee considers the Group’s performance against a mixture of 
corporate objectives and financial measures. Consideration is also given 
to reward levels at the next tier of management below the Board and 
across the Group in order to sustain a common sense of purpose and 
sharing of success.

Remuneration policy for 2011/12

The Remuneration Committee has undertaken a detailed review  
of executive remuneration arrangements in the past few months.  
As outlined in the Chairman’s introduction, the objectives of this review 
were to simplify arrangements and return to using measures relevant  
to group performance for all Executive Directors. In addition, the review 
focused on ensuring that executive arrangements are aligned with 
strategy and shareholder value creation, while offering the right pay  
for the right level of performance. In carrying out its review of Tesco’s 
remuneration approach, the Committee considered total remuneration 
levels and decided that there should be no overall increase in incentive 
opportunity. The Committee believes that this package is appropriate 
for the scope and responsibility of the Executive Director roles.

When reviewing remuneration and determining the revised level and 
structure of reward, the Remuneration Committee has also been 
conscious of the economic background and wider concerns around 
executive pay and has sought to ensure reward outcomes are 
proportionate to the performance outcome. 

Base salary

Short-term performance Long-term performance

Performance share plan
Cash bonus Deferred 

share bonus

Fixed element

Performance-related element

c14% – 40% depending on individual incentive arrangements and performance

c60% – 86% depending on individual incentive arrangements and performance
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Pension
Pension provision is central to our ability to foster loyalty and retain 
experience, which is why Tesco wants to ensure that the Tesco PLC 
Pension Scheme is a highly valued benefit. All Executive Directors are 
members of the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme, which provides a pension 
of up to two-thirds of base salary on retirement, normally at age 60, 
dependent on service. Pension drawn before age 60 will be actuarially 
reduced to reflect early retirement. The Final Salary Scheme is now 
closed to new entrants but has been replaced throughout the 
organisation by a defined-benefit pension scheme based on career 
average earnings. Our defined benefit pension is a key incentive and 
retention tool throughout the organisation and remains an important 
part of our reward package. Since April 2006, following implementation 
of the regulations contained within the Finance Act 2004, Executive 
Directors have been eligible to receive the maximum pension that can 

Fixed remuneration from 2011/12

CEO1 Executive Directors Commentary

Base salary • ���£1,100,000 (from 2 March 2011)
• Next review 1 July 2012 

• �Operational executives – 
£832,000

• �Executive Director (Corporate 
and Legal Affairs) £624,000

• Next review 1 July 2011

• �For the last few years executive 
salary increases have normally 
been limited to around inflation 
and have generally been at a 
similar level to increases 
throughout the Group.

Pension • �Current pension provision of defined benefit with a 10% contribution 
and pension of two-thirds base pay at retirement. This is provided 
through registered arrangements and secured unfunded 
arrangements.

• �Pension arrangements are 
currently being reviewed in the 
context of changes in pension 
and tax legislation.

Other benefits • �The Executive Directors will continue to be eligible for car benefits, life assurance, disability and health 
insurance and staff discount. 

• �They will continue to be eligible to participate in the Company’s all employee share schemes on the same 
terms as UK employees, details of which are set out in the tables at the end of this report.

• �In line with our policy for senior executives working abroad, the US CEO will receive a net expatriate 
allowance of £282,000 per annum to cover costs incurred in relation to his US assignment.

1 Sir Terry Leahy’s base salary with effect from 1 July 2010 to his retirement on 1 March 2011 was £1,444,000.

Base salary

Policy • Base pay is designed to attract and retain talented individuals. 
• �It needs to reflect individual capability and any changes in responsibilities as the Group faces new 

opportunities and challenges.

Benchmarking group • �The Committee examines salary levels at the major retailers, the leading FTSE companies and ensures 
consideration is also given to international competitors. 

Relationship to all employee pay • �The Committee also takes into account pay conditions throughout the Group in deciding executive annual 
salary increases. 

• �The average increase for established Executive Directors last year was 2.46%. The average increase for 
senior management below Board level last year was 2.4%, and for other employees the average increase 
was typically around 2.3%. 

• �Pay levels Group-wide are determined with consideration to a number of factors, including the prevailing 
economic environment, discussions with employee representative groups, and current market practice. 

Review date • Base salaries are typically reviewed with effect from 1 July each year.
• �The next salary review will be 1 July 2011 (other than for the CEO) and Executive Director salaries following 

this review will be disclosed in next year’s report. 

be provided from the registered pension scheme before the Finance 
Act 2004 changes apply. The balance of any pension entitlement for  
all Executive Directors is delivered through an unapproved retirement 
benefits scheme (SURBS). Except for Tim Mason, the SURBS is ‘secured’ 
by using a fixed charge over a cash deposit in a designated account.

Over the last few years employee pension contributions by our 
Executive Directors have been increasing progressively. In 2010/11  
the level of employee contribution was 9% of salary, which is in line  
with contribution levels by senior management below Board level. 
Contributions will rise to 10% in 2011/12. Further details of the pension 
benefits earned by the Directors can be found on page 85.

The pension arrangements are currently being reviewed in light of  
the recent changes to pension tax relief and other tax legislation.
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Short-term performance targets for 2011/12

Following the remuneration review, the following short-term 
performance measures will be adopted for the 2011/12 annual  
bonus arrangements for all Executive Directors:

Short-term bonus opportunity
• Maximum of 250% of salary for the CEO
• Maximum of 200% of salary for the other Executive Directors
• �Half payable in cash and half payable in shares which are  

deferred for three years

Profitability  
(70% of short-term performance)

Strategic 
(30% of short-term performance)

Measured in relation to  
underlying profit

Based on performance against 
key metrics. For 2011/12 these 
metrics will be:
1. UK like-for-like sales growth
2. UK return on capital employed 
3. Group new space expansion
4. Group internet sales
5. Group employee engagement
6. Group CO2 reduction

This measure incentivises the 
delivery of annual shareholder 
value through improved bottom-
line financial results.

These measures contain a mix of 
financial, strategic and corporate 
responsibility targets and were 
selected to incentivise sustainable 
improvements in the underlying 
drivers of performance. 

If performance is lower than the maximum targets, incentive payments 
will reduce accordingly and will be zero if threshold levels of performance 
are not attained. 

US reward from 2011/12
Since 2007, Tim Mason, the US CEO, has participated in remuneration 
arrangements which were focused on the performance of the US 
business as well as that of the Group. In light of the renewed focus  
on a collegiate approach to remuneration, together with Mr Mason’s 
appointment to the roles of Deputy CEO and Chief Marketing Officer,  
it has been agreed that Mr Mason will no longer be eligible for awards 
under the US annual or long-term incentive programmes. Mr Mason 
will therefore no longer participate in the US LTIP and the two million 
shares granted to him in 2007 will lapse.

From 2011/12, Mr Mason will participate in the same collegiate  
(Group-focused) remuneration arrangements as other Executive 
Directors. In line with our policy for senior executives working abroad,  
Mr Mason will receive a net expatriate allowance of £282,000 per 
annum to cover costs incurred in relation to his US assignment. 

The Committee believes that it is appropriate for Executive Directors  
to participate in the same arrangements and to be rewarded based  
on the achievement of measures that are key to Group performance. 
Moving Mr Mason’s remuneration package entirely to the same 
structure as other Executive Directors will further support the collegiate 
approach to working which is considered essential to the delivery of our 
long-term business strategy.

Performance related remuneration from 2011/12

The Committee has considered the performance conditions for each of the incentive arrangements against the Group’s business strategy, its 
growing global leadership, its position as one of the rising companies at the top of the FTSE 100 and the intensely competitive sector in which 
 it operates, and has concluded that they provide a set of comprehensive and robust measures of management’s effort and success in creating 
shareholder value. 

 
Performance measures

 
CEO

Other Executive 
Directors

 
Commentary

Short-term 
performance 
measures
(one year 
performance)

• �70% of bonus based 
on underlying profit 
performance

• �30% of bonus based 
on performance 
against six key 
strategic 
performance 
measures

Maximum of 
250% of base 
salary

Maximum of 
200% of base 
salary

• �These bonus measures have been selected as they are 
considered to be closely aligned to long-term shareholder 
value creation. 

• �Strategic performance measures include specific measures 
based on environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors, 
an integral part of the corporate strategy. Inclusion of these 
specific measures will help reinforce positive and responsible 
behaviour by senior management.

• Delivered half in cash; and
• �half in shares which are deferred 

for three years
• �‘Clawback’ introduced for 

deferred shares to allow the 
Committee to scale back 
deferred share awards in the 
event that results are materially 
misstated

Long-term 
performance 
measures
(three year 
performance)

Matrix of ROCE/EPS 
performance

Maximum of 
275% of base 
salary

Maximum of 
225% of base 
salary

• �Share options will no longer form part of the package for 
Executive Directors (other than in exceptional circumstances). 

• �The new PSP awards have been set to be of broadly equivalent 
expected value to the current PSP and option awards for 
Executive Directors. The Committee considered the relative 
expected values of the PSP and share option awards and 
determined that a PSP award of 75% of salary is broadly 
equivalent to the current share option award of 200% of 
salary resulting in an increase in PSP from 150% to 225%  
of base salary.

• �The CEO will receive an additional opportunity of 50% of  
base salary.

• �‘Clawback’ introduced to allow the Committee to scale back 
PSP awards in the event that results are materially misstated.
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About 85% of annual bonus entitlement is based directly or indirectly 
on financial metrics. These measures are considered to be important 
for laying the foundations for future performance growth.

The balance of measures is illustrated in the pie chart below:

30% Strategic
70% Profitability

The targets will be clearly measurable and appropriately stretching.  
The intention is that when payouts are made, the Committee will 
include a description of the extent to which targets have been met,  
as well as the rationale for why the Committee believes that the level of 
payouts is appropriate. Naturally for reasons of commercial sensitivity 
we will not be able to publish specific target figures in advance.

Long-term performance targets from 2011/12

Long-term plan opportunity
• Maximum of 275% of salary for the CEO
• Maximum of 225% of salary for the other Executive Directors
• �Shares vest in three years’ time subject to performance targets  

being met

Tesco believes that the best way to enhance shareholder value is to 
grow earnings over the long term while maintaining a sustainable level 
of return on capital – in other words to keep growing the size of the 
business in an efficient way.

For awards granted from 2011 onwards, the Committee intends  
that performance targets will be set as a matrix of stretching  
earnings growth targets and sustainable return on capital employed 
performance. The Committee believes that this combination of EPS 
growth and ROCE performance is strongly aligned with our strategic 
objectives and also reflects the drivers of long-term shareholder value. 
In order for full vesting to occur, cumulative earnings have to grow by at 
least 12% per annum over the next three years and ROCE for 2013/14 
must have increased to at least 14.6%. No payout at all will be made 
unless ROCE is increased from last year’s actual ROCE of 12.9% to 
above 13.6% (a 70 basis point increase). For maximum vesting therefore 
management is not only required to increase earnings significantly over 
the three-year period but also to increase the efficiency of the use of 
Group capital. 

The Committee also believes that these targets are appropriately 
stretching and if they are achieved will have generated significant value 
for our shareholders. The vesting matrix and targets are illustrated below:

% of initial award vesting

EPS

Targets Threshold Target EPS

7% 10% 12%

ROCE
14.6% 45% 75% 100%

13.6% 20% 60% 85%

In previous years, under the existing plan, ROCE performance outcomes 
were adjusted to take into account acquisitions which were not 
envisaged when the targets were set. The Remuneration Committee 

reserves the right to make such adjustments under the new plan but 
will only do so when the impact is material.

Share ownership guidelines

Shareholding guidelines
4 x base salary  
for the CEO

3 x base salary for 
other Executive 
Directors

• �The purpose is to create alignment with interests  
of shareholders

• �This requirement is at the upper end of typical 
market practice for similar sized companies

• �Increased from current guideline of 1 x base salary 
to demonstrate the ongoing commitment of our 
executives to acquiring and holding shares in Tesco

The Remuneration Committee believes that a significant shareholding 
by Executive Directors aligns their interests with shareholders and 
demonstrates their ongoing commitment to the business. Given this, 
the Committee has increased the shareholding guideline from one 
times base salary to four times base salary for the CEO and to three 
times base salary for the other Executive Directors. 

Shares held in plans which are not subject to forfeiture will be included 
(on a net basis) for the purposes of calculating Executive Directors’ 
shareholdings, as will be shares held by an Executive’s spouse. New 
appointees will typically be expected to achieve this minimum level  
of shareholding within five years. Full participation in the long-term 
Performance Share Plan will be conditional upon maintaining the 
minimum shareholding. Most Executives already meet this enhanced 
requirement but those who do not will be required to hold and not 
dispose of at least 50% of the net number of shares which vest under 
incentive arrangements until they meet this requirement. 

Shares held by Executive Directors as at 26 February 2011

The chart below illustrates the value of Executive Directors’ 
shareholdings, based on a share price at 26 February 2011 of £4.0605.

32 4

Richard Brasher

Philip Clarke

Andrew Higginson

Tim Mason

Laurie Mcllwee

£s million

Lucy Neville-Rolfe

65 7 8 910

David Potts

Ordinary shares EIP

Includes ordinary shares, and awards of shares and nil cost options made to Directors 
which remain subject only to a holding period. Excludes unexercised vested executive 
share options.

Service agreements

The Executive Directors all have rolling service agreements with no 
fixed expiry date. These existing contracts may be terminated on  
12 months’ notice by the Company and six months’ notice by the 
Executive. If an Executive Director’s employment is terminated (other 
than pursuant to the notice provisions in the service agreement or by 
reason of resignation or unacceptable performance or conduct) the 
Company will pay a sum calculated on the basis of basic salary and the 
average annual bonus paid for the last two years. No account will be 
taken of pension. Termination payments will be subject to mitigation 
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and therefore paid in instalments to facilitate this. If the termination 
occurs within one year of retirement, the termination payment will be 
reduced accordingly. 

New appointments of Executive Directors will normally provide for 
termination on 12 months’ notice by the Executive. However, the 
Committee reserves the right to vary this period to 24 months for the 
initial period of appointment and for the notice period to then revert  
to 12 months. The service agreements are available to shareholders  
to view on request from the Company Secretary. 

New CEO contract
The Committee has taken into account the feedback received from 
shareholders and shareholder representative bodies regarding best 
practice in relation to the inclusion of bonus in directors’ termination 
arrangements. To ensure full alignment with best practice, the 
Committee has agreed with Mr Clarke that under his new contract as 
CEO any termination payment in lieu of notice will be based on salary 
and benefits only. This will also be the policy going forward for new 
executives joining the Board.

CURRENT REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS AND  
PAYOUTS FOR 2010/11

Tesco’s core objective is to create value for customers to earn their 
lifetime loyalty and through this to create value for our shareholders. 
2010/11 has been another solid year despite ongoing challenging 
market conditions. Returns have grown strongly over the past year 
representing a significant step towards our long-term goals. Our core UK 
business remains robust and the increasing scale and competitiveness  

Group short-term objectives

The table below is a summary of the actual performance delivered in 2010/2011:

of our international business is driving strong performance in these 
markets. Against this performance background, the main aspects  
of executive remuneration practice for the 2010/11 year are as follows:

Salaries 2010/11

The base salaries of the Executive Directors following review in  
July 2010 were:

 
Director

Basic salary 1 July 2010
£000

Richard Brasher 832

Philip Clarke 832

Andrew Higginson 832

Tim Mason 832

Laurie McIlwee* 832

Lucy Neville-Rolfe 624

David Potts 832

* �Laurie Mcllwee was appointed to the role of CFO in January 2009. At this time, his base 
salary was set behind that of the other Executive Directors to reflect the fact that he  
was new to the role. The intention was to move his base salary to the level of the other 
Directors over time. The Committee reviewed Mr Mcllwee’s performance and base salary 
in July 2010 and concluded that Mr Mcllwee’s performance was that of an experienced 
CFO and therefore it was appropriate to increase his base salary to £832,000, the same 
level as the other Executives.

The average increase for established Executive Directors last year was 
2.46%, which was broadly the same as the increase for other senior 
executives and employees throughout the Group.

Performance measures Maximum award opportunity Performance against targets

Earnings per share 75% of cash element and 50%  
of share element

The reported underlying diluted Group EPS for 2010/11 was 35.72p, an increase of 
10.8% on last year.

Corporate objectives 25% of cash element and 30%  
of share element

The corporate objectives are based on our balanced scorecard, known as the Steering 
Wheel. Corporate objectives for the awards made in respect of the financial year 
2010/11 were:
• �increasing sales from new space; specific profit targets for international businesses 

and for retailing services; 
• like-for-like sales growth and the development of the non-food business; 
• focus on productivity improvements and developing trading models internationally; 
• enhancing talent management and capability; 
• embedding the new international Community Plans and Community Promises; and 
• reducing our environmental impact. 
Two-thirds of targets were fully met at the stretch level and a solid performance was 
delivered against the remainder. 

Total shareholder 
return

20% of share element The target to outperform against the FTSE 100 and a comparator group of international 
retailers that includes Ahold, Carrefour, J Sainsbury, Metro, Wm Morrison, Safeway 
Inc, Target and Walmart was not met over the short term although long-term TSR 
performance remained strong. 

Former CEO
• Maximum of 250% of base salary 
• �200% of salary based on Group 

performance; 50% of salary based  
on US performance

• �100% of salary in cash; 150% of salary  
in shares

Executive Directors
• Maximum of 200% of salary 
• All based on Group performance
• �100% of salary in cash; 100% of  

salary in shares

US CEO
• Maximum of 300% of base salary 
• �100% of salary based on Group 

performance; 200% of salary based  
on US performance

• �150% of salary in cash; 150% of salary  
in shares

Short-term performance 2010/11

The table below sets out a summary of the maximum opportunity under the short-term remuneration arrangements for 2010/11:
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The balance of Group performance measures is illustrated in the  
charts below:

 
Cash	 Shares deferred for  
		  three years

25% Corporate objectives
75% EPS

Tesco Bank

50% EPS
30% Corporate objectives
20% TSR

Total shareholder return (TSR) is the notional return from a share or 
index based on share price movements and declared dividends.

The graph below highlights the Group’s TSR performance over the last 
five financial years, relative to the FTSE 100 index of companies. This 
index has been selected to provide an established and broad-based 
comparator group of retail and non-retail companies of similar scale  
to Tesco. As illustrated below, Tesco has outperformed the FTSE 100 
throughout the period.
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Payout levels

Following the Remuneration Committee’s consideration of the extent 
to which the various performance measures in respect of the 2010/11 
annual bonus award were achieved, the Executive Directors have been 
awarded 92% of the potential maximum for the cash element and  
76% of the potential maximum for the deferred shares element. The 
Committee considers this level of reward appropriate.

EPS, on a like-for-like basis, achieved the maximum award level, 
reflecting strong improvements in underlying profit growth as well as 
sound financial management. In respect of corporate objectives, 
performance against most measures was strong, resulting in delivery  
at the upper end of the target range. Performance against financial 
metrics was excellent with retail profit growth and UK new space 
addition targets being exceeded. Performance against operational 
targets, such as availability, was weakened by the severe weather 
situation in Q4, but remained good. The business continues to make 
strong progress in developing and deploying talent and targets in this 
area have been achieved. Performance against corporate responsibility 
metrics has also been excellent, with CO2 emissions reduced and with 
the continued development of our community programmes. Long-term 
TSR performance remains strong, but has been behind the market over 
the past year.

US short-term objectives

The US business continues to make solid progress, with strong  
like-for-like sales growth and improved store operating ratios, as  
well as steady improvements against a number of other key milestone 
measures. Customer feedback remains excellent and our clear objective 
now is to accelerate the strong growth in customer numbers we are 
seeing. The overall business remains on track to break even towards  
the end of the 2012/13 financial year. 

Despite the good progress and the achievement of a number of 
strategic goals, losses in the US business increased in the year, as a 
consequence of the initial costs of integrating our acquisitions of two 
dedicated fresh food suppliers and adverse exchange rate movements.

The Committee has therefore decided, having reviewed performance 
against both financial and strategic targets, to award 40% of the 
potential maximum opportunity to Tim Mason and Sir Terry Leahy  
for that part of their respective annual bonuses which is measured  
by reference to US-specific targets (compared with 65% in 2009/10). 
This means that Tim Mason will receive an annual US bonus award  
of 80% of base salary (compared with a possible maximum 200%  
of salary) and Sir Terry will receive an award of 20% of base salary 
(compared with a possible maximum 50% of salary).
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Long-term performance 2008/9 to 2010/11

Performance measures Award size Performance conditions

Earnings per share • �Options over shares with a 
face value of 200% of salary 
at the date of grant

• Granted in 2008/09
• �Performance period ended 

2010/11

• Vesting of the awards is subject to EPS performance.
• �First 100% subject to the achievement of underlying diluted EPS growth of at 

least RPI plus 9% over three years with the balance vesting for achieving growth 
of at least RPI plus 15% over three years.

• �The increase in underlying diluted EPS relative to RPI over the three years from 
2008/09 to 2010/11 was 32% and therefore significantly exceeded 15% over 
three years – these options will therefore vest in full on the third anniversary  
of their grant. 

• This reflects Tesco’s strong sustained earnings performance during the period.

Return on capital 
employed – Group and 
International

• �Shares with a face value of 
150% of salary for Executive 
Directors (other than Tim 
Mason whose award was 
100% of base salary)

• Granted in 2008/09
• �Performance period ended 

2010/11

Group ROCE performance
• �The Committee considered the level of performance against the target for the 

first 75% of the PSP award of achieving post-tax Group ROCE of 14.2% by the 
end of FY 2010/11. 

• �Post-tax ROCE (calculated on a like-for-like basis with the target ROCE originally 
set) at the end of FY 2010/11 was 14.8% so all of the first 75% of the award will 
vest. This represents exceptional performance against this target, particularly in 
light of the challenging market, and the award related to Group performance will 
therefore vest in full. 

• �Reported ROCE for 2010/11 is 12.9%. During the performance period the Group 
has made a number of significant acquisitions (including Tesco Bank). In order  
to ensure that performance for remuneration purposes is measured in a fair way 
compared to the target set and that management is not disincentivised to invest, 
the Committee excludes significant unplanned investments from the calculation 
of ROCE for remuneration purposes. However, when assessing performance 
against targets the Committee also considers the progress of any new 
investments to ensure that these investments are in line with the key objective  
of generating long-term shareholder value.

• �The Committee also exercised its judgement as to the extent to which the 
remaining 25% of the PSP award should vest by reference to the overall quality 
of ROCE performance to ensure a fair outcome, taking into account factors 
including the level of ROCE achieved, the expected ROCE for additional and 
existing capital investment, whether capital spend was in line with strategic 
objectives and balanced short-term and long-term investment needs,  
the level of sales and underlying profit growth and whether this reflected other 
developments in the marketplace. The Committee also considered the report 
from the GOC.

• �Having considered these factors the Committee concluded that ROCE 
performance was exceptional in challenging markets and that it was therefore 
appropriate that, in line with the vesting level for the first 75% of the award,  
all of the remaining 25% of the award should vest.

International ROCE performance
• �The Committee considered the level of performance against the target for the 

first 75% of the PSP award of achieving post-tax International ROCE of 9.0%  
by the end of FY 2010/11. 

• �Post-tax ROCE (calculated on a like-for-like basis with the target ROCE originally 
set) at the end of FY 2010/11 was 7.0%. This represented achievement of 
threshold performance so 25% of the maximum opportunity for the first 75%  
of the award will vest (equal to 9.4% of salary).

• �As with Group ROCE, the Committee excludes significant unplanned  
investments from the calculation (including the acquisition of the Homever  
stores in South Korea) to ensure that performance is measured in a fair way 
compared to the targets. The Committee does, however, consider the early  
stage performance of these investments when determining vesting. 

• �The Committee also exercised its judgement as to the extent to which the 
remaining 25% of the PSP award should vest by reference to the overall  
quality of ROCE performance, taking into account factors outlined above.

• �Having considered these factors in detail the Committee concluded that, in line with 
the vesting level for the first 75% of the award, 25% of the maximum opportunity 
for the remaining part of the award should vest (equal to 3.1% of salary). 

• �In total therefore 12.5% of salary (out of a maximum of 50% of salary) will vest  
in relation to International ROCE performance.
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Long-term performance awards made in 2010

Performance measures Award size Performance conditions

Earnings per share • �Options over shares with  
a value of 200% of salary

• �Exercise price equal to the 
market value at the date  
of grant 

• �Any gain is therefore 
dependent on increasing 
the share price between the 
date of grant and exercise

• �Vesting of the awards is subject to the achievement of EPS performance 
conditions.

• �The first 100% is subject to the achievement of underlying diluted EPS growth  
of at least RPI plus 9% over three years.

• The balance vests for achieving growth of at least RPI plus 15%. 
• �Performance against this target will be measured at the end of 2012/13 to 

determine the level of vesting.

Return on capital 
employed – Group and 
International

• �Current plan maximum  
of performance share award 
of 150% of base salary

• �In October 2010 awards 
were made to all the 
Executive Directors except 
Tim Mason over Tesco PLC 
shares equal to 150% of 
salary

• �An award was made to  
Tim Mason over Tesco PLC 
shares equal to 100%  
of salary

• �For all the Executive Directors, awards over 100% of salary will vest subject to 
Group ROCE performance. 

• �The awards over a further 50% of salary (other than Tim Mason), will vest  
subject to International ROCE performance. The rationale for this is to incentivise 
and reward delivery of higher returns from invested capital outside the UK  
(but excluding the US).

• �Awards vest over a three-year performance period from 2010/11 to 2012/13.
• �The first 75% of each element of the PSP award is subject to a target of 13.6% 

for Group ROCE and 7.5% for International ROCE. 25% will vest for baseline 
performance and the full 75% will vest for maximum performance against target.

• �The remaining 25% of each element of the award will vest by reference to the 
overall quality of ROCE performance. 

• �The purpose of this element of the ROCE award is to allow the Committee to 
recognise the right behaviours by the Executive Directors – in particular, where 
they have made substantial capital investments in the Group (especially in 
developing markets) with the purpose of growing the long-term returns of the 
Group but where those investments have led to a reduction in ROCE growth in 
the short-term. 

• �The Remuneration Committee will take into account a number of factors, 
including the level of ROCE achieved, the expected ROCE for additional and 
existing capital investment, whether capital spend was in line with strategic 
objectives and balanced short-term and long-term investment needs, the level  
of sales and underlying profit growth and whether this reflected other developments 
in the marketplace.

• �If the Remuneration Committee exercises its judgement to allow some, or all,  
of the remaining 25% of the PSP awards to vest, we will describe in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report in the relevant year those factors taken into account in 
determining the level of the award which would vest. 

• �There is no retesting of performance in respect of any targets.
• �Participants are entitled to receive reinvested dividends on the value of the award 

that vests.

US long-term objectives 

The first 25% of the awards made in 2007 under the US LTIP to the  
US CEO and under the Group New Business Incentive Plan to the 
former CEO was subject to testing against US ROCE and EBIT targets  
in 2010/11. The performance targets for 2010/11 have not been met 
and no portion of this first tranche will vest. The next assessment  
of performance will be in respect of 2011/12. As mentioned above,  
in order to refocus his reward on Group performance, the US CEO  
will no longer participate in the US LTIP and his award will lapse.  
No other Executive Directors participate in the US LTIP or Group  
New Business Incentive Plan. Senior members of the US management 
team will however continue to participate in the plan.

Long-term performance awards made in 2010

The long-term performance awards granted in 2010 were made under 
the 2010/11 executive remuneration policy and were subject to the 
performance measures described in the table below. The performance 
period for these awards is 2010/11 to 2012/13 and the portion of the 
award that vests will be disclosed in the 2012/13 Remuneration Report.
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Retirement arrangements for Sir Terry Leahy

Sir Terry retired from Tesco on 2 March 2011 after 14 years as CEO.  
To reflect his length of service with Tesco and the early age of his 
appointment as CEO, Sir Terry Leahy’s service agreement provides for 
his full pension entitlement to become available on retirement on or 
after his 57th birthday. The retirement arrangements for Sir Terry are  
in line with the terms of his contract and the pension plan as disclosed 
in the Directors’ Remuneration Reports – he will receive no additional 
enhancements beyond these terms. 

Under the terms of the scheme rules unvested performance share  
plan awards, share options and the Group New Business Incentive Plan 
award will continue in line with the agreed terms set out at the time  
of grant until their normal date and will only vest if the performance 
targets attached to these awards are met.

other information

Outside appointments

Tesco recognises that its Executive Directors may be invited to  
become Non-executive Directors of other companies. Such non-
executive duties can broaden experience and knowledge which can 
benefit Tesco.

Subject to approval by the Board, Executive Directors are allowed  
to accept non-executive appointments and retain the fees received,  
provided that these appointments are not likely to lead to conflicts  
of interest.

Executive Directors’ biographies, which include details of any outside 
appointments, can be found on pages 60 to 61 of this Annual Report.

Fees retained for any non-executive directorships are set out below.

Director

Company in which 
non-executive  
directorship held

Fee retained in 2010/11
£000

Philip Clarke* Whitbread PLC 65

Andrew Higginson BSkyB PLC 96

Lucy Neville-Rolfe The Carbon Trust 18

ITV PLC 28

* Philip Clarke stepped down from his position at Whitbread plc on 1 March 2011.

Funding of equity awards

Executive incentive arrangements are funded by a mix of newly issued 
shares and shares purchased in the market. Where shares are newly 
issued the Company complies with ABI dilution guidelines on their 
issue. The current dilution usage of executive plans is c.4% of shares in 
issue. Where shares are purchased in the market, these may be held by 
Tesco Employees Share Schemes Trustees Limited, in which case the 
voting rights relating to the shares are exercisable by the trustees in 
accordance with their fiduciary duties.

Change of control

Long-term term incentive awards may vest or become exercisable 
before their normal vesting date in the event of a change of control  
of Tesco PLC.

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment setting out their 
duties and the time commitment expected. The letters are available  
to shareholders to view from the Company Secretary upon request. 
The Chairman meets with each Non-executive Director separately  
to review individual performance. In line with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, all Non-executive Directors will submit themselves 
for re-election by shareholders every year at the Annual General 
Meeting. All Non-executive Director appointments can be terminated 
by either party without notice. The remuneration of the Non-executive 
Directors is determined by the Chairman and the Executive Committee 
after considering external market research and individual contribution.

The current fees are as follows:

Basic fees £70,000 per annum

 
Additional fees

Senior Independent Director £26,000

Chairs of Audit and Remuneration 
Committees

£30,000

Membership of Audit and 
Remuneration Committees

£12,000 per annum for each 
Committee

Chairman

The Remuneration Committee determines the Chairman’s 
remuneration, having regard to time commitment and packages 
awarded to chairmen of other companies of a similar size and 
complexity. David Reid, Non-executive Chairman, receives an annual 
fee of £640,000 and has the benefit of a company car and chauffeur.

Compliance

In carrying out its duties, the Remuneration Committee gives full 
consideration to best practice. The Committee was constituted and 
operated throughout the period in accordance with the principles 
outlined in the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority derived 
from the Combined Code on Corporate Governance. The auditors’ 
Report, set out on page 93, covers the disclosures referred to in this 
report that are specified for audit by the Financial Services Authority. 
The Report has been drawn up in accordance with the Combined Code 
on Corporate Governance, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and 
the Financial Services Authority Listing Rules.

This Report also complies with disclosures required by the Director 
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002. Details of Directors’ 
emoluments and interests are set out on pages 85 to 91 of this  
Annual Report.

Stuart Chambers
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Table 1 – Directors’ emoluments

Fixed emoluments Performance-related emoluments

Salary
£000

Benefits3

£000

Short-term 
cash

£000

Short-term 
deferred 

shares
£000

Total 
2010/11

£000

Total 
2009/10

£000

Executive Directors
Richard Brasher  825  40  765  632  2,262  2,402 
Philip Clarke  825  38  765  632  2,260  2,701 
Andrew Higginson  825  65  765  632  2,287  2,724 
Sir Terry Leahy  1,432  77  1,328  1,386  4,223  5,220 

Tim Mason – base salary1  825  376  716  649  2,566  3,616 
Tim Mason – supplement1  200 –  172  156  528  649 

Tim Mason – total  1,025  376  888  805  3,094  4,265 
Laurie McIlwee  752  57  765  632  2,206  1,789 
Lucy Neville-Rolfe  625  83  574  474  1,756  1,809 
David Potts  825  86  765  632  2,308  2,708 
Non-executive Directors
Charles Allen2  35  –  –  –  35  95 
Gareth Bullock2  52  –  –  –  52  – 
Patrick Cescau  109  –  –  –  109  89 
Stuart Chambers2  64  –  –  –  64  – 
Rodney Chase2  49  –  –  –  49  135 
Karen Cook  80  –  –  –  80  77 
Harald Einsmann2  28  –  –  –  28  77 
Ken Hanna  92  –  –  –  92  79 
Ken Hydon  98  –  –  –  98  95 
David Reid (Chairman)  629  64 – –  693  677 
Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker  76  – – –  76  65 
Total  8,446  886  6,615  5,825  21,772  25,007 

1	� Tim Mason’s salary is made up of a base salary and a non-pensionable salary supplement (shown separately). Tim Mason’s benefits are made up of travel, medical, tax-related costs 
and services and free shares awarded under the all employee Share Incentive Plan (SIP). Payments in relation to tax equalisation on equity awards granted prior to his appointment as 
US CEO totalling £768,000 are not included in table 1.

2	� Gareth Bullock and Stuart Chambers were appointed during the year. The figures in table 1 are from their dates of appointment. Charles Allen, Rodney Chase and Harald Einsmann 
retired during the year. 

3	� With the exception of Tim Mason, benefits are made up of car benefits, chauffeurs, disability and health insurance, staff discount, gym/leisure club membership and free shares 
awarded under the all employee SIP. Under the SIP, shares in the Company are allocated to participants in the scheme up to HMRC approved limits (currently £3,000 per annum).  
The amount of profit allocated to the scheme is determined by the Board taking into account Company performance.

Table 2 – Directors’ pension details								      

Age at 
26 February

 2011

Years of 
Company 

service

Total accrued
pension at

26 February
20111,2 

£000

Increase 
in accrued 

pension 
during 

the year
£000

(a)
Increase 

in accrued 
pension 

(net of 
inflation)4

£000

Transfer 
value of 

(a) at 
26 February 

2011 (less 
Director’s

contributions)
£000

Transfer 
value of 

total accrued
pension at

27 February
2010
£000

Transfer 
value 

of total 
accrued 

pension at
26 February

2011
£000

Increase 
in transfer 
value (less 
Director’s

contributions)
£000

Richard Brasher 49 24 384 25 14 202 4,842 5,482 640
Philip Clarke 50 36 415 25 13 190 5,579 6,269 690
Andrew Higginson 53 13 364 35 26 427 5,202 6,097 895
Sir Terry Leahy3 54 32 887 55 29 1,043 15,924 18,367 2,443
Tim Mason 53 29 450 26 13 217 6,662 7,478 816
Laurie McIlwee 48 10 238 60 54 740 2,306 3,253 947
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 58 14 277 33 25 481 4,452 5,334 882
David Potts 53 38 454 26 13 224 6,891 7,735 844

1	 The accrued pension is that which would be paid annually on retirement at 60 based on service to 26 February 2011.
2	 Some of the Executive Directors’ benefits are payable from an unapproved pension arrangement. This is secured by a fixed and floating charge on a cash deposit.
3	 Sir Terry Leahy is entitled to retire at any age from 57 to 60 inclusive with an immediate pension of two-thirds of base salary.
4	 Inflation over the year has been allowed for using the September 2010 statutory revaluation order.

Tables 1-11 are audited information
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Table 3 – Gains made on executive share options
Value realisable1,3

Date of 
grant

Date 
exercisable 

Date of 
exercise

Number of
options 

exercised

Option
 price

(pence)

Market 
price at 

exercise 
(pence)

2010/11
£000

2009/10
£000

Richard Brasher  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,127
Philip Clarke  –  –  –  –  –  –  – –
Andrew Higginson  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 503
Sir Terry Leahy2 26.04.01 26.04.04 23.02.11 647,773 247.00 408.34 1,045 2,327

15.04.02 15.04.05 23.02.11 642,471 259.00 408.34 959
14.04.03 14.04.06 23.02.11 939,747 197.50 408.34 1,981
30.04.04 30.04.07 23.02.11 766,041 253.25 408.34 1,188

Tim Mason  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,220
Laurie McIlwee  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 231
Lucy Neville-Rolfe – – – – – –  – 257
David Potts 22.04.05 22.04.08 22.04.10 379,856 312.75 440.00 483 –

08.05.06 08.05.09 22.04.10 404,896 318.60 440.00 492
Total 3,780,784 6,148 7,665

1	� The value realisable from shares acquired on exercise is the difference between the market value at exercise and the exercise price of the option, although the shares may have been 
retained. 	

2	� These options were granted prior to 2005 and were therefore required to be exercised before Sir Terry Leahy’s retirement.
3	� Gains made on nil cost options awarded under the Performance Share Plan and the Executive Incentive Plan and gains made on Save As You Earn share options are not included above. 

These are detailed in tables 6, 9 and 5 respectively.

Table 4 – Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 26 February 2011
Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) and (1996) and Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004)

Date of grant

Options as at 
27 February 

2010

Options 
granted 

in year1

Options
exercised 

in year2

As at 
26 February 

2011
Exercise price

(pence)

Date from 
which 

exercisable Expiry date

Richard Brasher 08.05.2007 278,627 – – 278,627 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017
12.05.2008 353,114 – – 353,114 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 467,848 – – 467,848 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 386,850 – 386,850 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 1,099,589 386,850 – 1,486,439
Philip Clarke 22.04.2005 379,856 – – 379,856 312.75 22.04.2008 22.04.2015

08.05.2006 404,896 – – 404,896 318.60 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
08.05.2007 298,844 – – 298,844 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017
12.05.2008 353,114 – – 353,114 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 467,848 – – 467,848 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 386,850 – 386,850 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 1,904,558 386,850 – 2,291,408
Andrew Higginson 22.04.2005 379,856 – – 379,856 312.75 22.04.2008 22.04.2015

08.05.2006 404,896 – – 404,896 318.60 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
08.05.2007 298,844 – – 298,844 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017
12.05.2008 353,114 – – 353,114 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 467,848 – – 467,848 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 386,850 – 386,850 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 1,904,558 386,850 – 2,291,408
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Table 4 – Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 26 February 2011 continued
Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) and (1996) and Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004)

Date of grant

Options as at 
27 February 

2010

Options 
granted 

in year1

Options
exercised 

in year2

As at 
26 February 

2011
Exercise price

(pence)

Date from 
which 

exercisable Expiry date

Sir Terry Leahy 26.04.2001 647,773 – 647,773 – 247.00 26.04.2004 –
15.04.2002 642,471 – 642,471 – 259.00 15.04.2005 –
14.04.2003 939,747 – 939,747 – 197.50 14.04.2006 –
30.04.2004 766,041 – 766,041 – 253.25 30.04.2007 –
22.04.2005 658,673 – – 658,673 312.75 22.04.2008 22.04.2015
08.05.2006 709,353 – – 709,353 318.60 08.05.2009 08.05.2016
08.05.2007 523,556 – – 523,556 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017
12.05.2008 618,548 – – 618,548 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 812,647 – – 812,647 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 671,748 – 671,748 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 6,318,809 671,748 2,996,032 3,994,525
Tim Mason 10.08.2007 333,319 – – 333,319 424.75 10.08.2010 10.08.2017

12.05.2008 353,114 – – 353,114 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 467,848 – – 467,848 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 386,850 – 386,850 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 1,154,281 386,850 – 1,541,131
Laurie McIlwee 08.05.2007 77,192 – – 77,192 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017

12.05.2008 91,335 – – 91,335 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 325,059 – – 325,059 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 290,138 – 290,138 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 493,586 290,138 – 783,724
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 08.05.2007 189,973 – – 189,973 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017

12.05.2008 231,850 – – 231,850 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 327,494 – – 327,494 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 290,138 – 290,138 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 749,317 290,138 – 1,039,455
David Potts 22.04.2005 379,856 – 379,856 – 312.75 22.04.2008 –

08.05.2006 404,896 – 404,896 – 318.60 08.05.2009 –
08.05.2007 298,844 – – 298,844 473.75 08.05.2010 08.05.2017
12.05.2008 353,114 – – 353,114 427.00 12.05.2011 12.05.2018
06.05.2009 467,848 – – 467,848 338.40 06.05.2012 06.05.2019
07.05.2010 – 386,850 – 386,850 419.80 07.05.2013 07.05.2020

Total 1,904,558 386,850 784,752 1,506,656
Total 15,529,256 3,186,274 3,780,784 14,934,746

1	� Executive share options are subject to performance conditions measured over three years as set out on page 83. EPS growth for the period 2008/9 to 2010/11 exceeded RPI by 32%, 
therefore share options awarded in 2008 will vest in full on 12 May 2011. Executives have until the tenth anniversary of the date of grant to exercise their options. 

2	� The market price at exercise is shown in table 3. The share price as at 26 February 2011 was 406.5p. The share price during the 52 weeks to 26 February 2011 ranged from 377.5p to 454.4p.
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Table 5 – Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 26 February 2011
Savings-related share option scheme (1981)

	 Date of 
grant

As at 
27 February 

2010

Options 
granted 

in year

Options
exercised 

in year1

As at 
26 February 

2011

Exercise 
price 

(pence)

Value 
realisable

2010/11 
£000

Value 
realisable

2009/10 
£000

Richard Brasher 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –
08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

5,208 788 1,298 4,698 2 3
Philip Clarke 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –

08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

5,208 788 1,298 4,698 2 3
Andrew Higginson 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –

08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

5,208 788 1,298 4,698 2 3
Sir Terry Leahy 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –

08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –

5,208 – 1,298 3,910 2 3
Tim Mason 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –

08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

5,208 788 1,298 4,698 2 3
Laurie McIlwee 07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –

05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

2,844 788 – 3,632 – 1
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –

08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

5,208 788 1,298 4,698 2 3
David Potts 02.11.2005 1,298 – 1,298 – 248.0 2 –

08.11.2006 1,066 – – 1,066 307.0 – –
07.11.2007 819 – – 819 410.0 – –
05.11.2008 1,077 – – 1,077 311.0 – –
11.11.2009 948 – – 948 328.0 – –
10.11.2010 – 788 – 788 386.0 – –

5,208 788 1,298 4,698 2 3
Total 39,300 5,516 9,086 35,730

1	� Save As You Earn is an HMRC approved all employee savings-related share option scheme under which employees save up to a limit of £250 on a four-weekly basis via a bank/building 
society with an option to buy shares in Tesco PLC at the end of a three-year or five-year period at a discount of up to 20% of the market value. Options are not subject to performance 
conditions. All options are exercisable from 1 February in the year which is six years from the year of grant. All options expire six months from their exercise date (i.e. on 1 August of the 
relevant year). All Directors exercised their 2005 options on 1 February 2011 when the market price was 403p. No options lapsed in the year.
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Table 6 – Long-Term Performance Share Plan1

Date of 
award/

grant

Share 
price on

award 
date

(pence)

As at 
27 February

2010

Shares
awarded

options
granted 
in year1

Shares
exercised/

released 
in year

Shares
lapsed3

As at 
26 February

2011

Date of
exercise/

release

Share 
price on

exercise/
release

Value
realisable

£000

Date of 
release/date
from which
exercisable Expiry date

Richard Brasher 20.07.2006 346.25 189,889 4,465 194,354 – – 20.07.10 394.03 766 20.07.2010 –
14.11.2007 471.10 257,341 8,490 – 45,567 220,264 – – – 14.07.2010 14.11.2017
08.07.2008 353.76 352,616 12,331 – – 364,947 – – – 08.07.2011 08.07.2018
15.10.2009 374.00  329,382 11,519 – – 340,901 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 290,844 – – 290,844 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 1,129,228 327,649 194,354 45,567 1,216,956

Philip Clarke 20.07.2006 346.25 120,164 2,825 122,989 – – 20.07.10 394.03 485 20.07.2010 –
14.11.2007 471.10 257,341 6,051 217,825 45,567 – 16.08.10 398.88 869 14.07.2010 –
08.07.2008 353.76 352,616 12,331 – – 364,947 – – – 08.07.2011 08.07.2018
15.10.2009 374.00  329,382 11,519 – – 340,901 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 290,844 – – 290,844 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 1,059,503 323,570 340,814 45,567 996,692
Andrew Higginson 20.07.2006 346.25 120,164 2,825 122,989 – – 20.07.10 394.03 485 20.07.2010 –

14.11.2007 471.10 257,341 6,051 217,825 45,567 – 05.10.10 434.88 947 14.07.2010 –
08.07.2008 353.76 352,616 12,331 – – 364,947 – – – 08.07.2011 08.07.2018
15.10.2009 374.00  329,382 11,519 – – 340,901 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 290,844 – – 290,844 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 1,059,503 323,570 340,814 45,567 996,692
Sir Terry Leahy 20.07.2006 346.25 356,813 8,390 365,203 – – 20.07.10 394.03 1,439 20.07.2010 –

14.11.2007 471.10 450,784 14,872 – 79,819 385,837 – – – 14.07.2010 14.11.2017
08.07.2008 353.76 612,494 21,422 – – 633,916 – – – 08.07.2011 08.07.2018
15.10.2009 374.00  571,958 20,004 – – 591,962 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 504,784 – – 504,784 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 1,992,049 569,472 365,203 79,819 2,116,499
Tim Mason2 25.08.2006 346.25 203,667 4,789 208,456 – – 20.07.10 394.03 821 20.07.2010 –

14.11.2007 471.10 171,561 4,034 175,595 – – 20.07.10 394.03 692 14.07.2010  –
08.07.2008 353.76 235,078 8,221 – – 243,299 – – – 08.07.2011  –
15.10.2009 374.00  219,588 7,680 – – 227,268 – – – 15.07.2012  –
14.10.2010 433.90 – 193,896 – – 193,896 – – – 14.07.2013 –

Total 829,894 218,620 384,051 – 664,463
Laurie McIlwee2 10.10.2007 465.50 43,244 992 44,236 – – 20.07.10 394.03 174 10.07.2010  –

08.07.2008 353.76 64,233 2,010 – – 66,243 – – – 08.07.2011  –
15.10.2009 374.00  247,036 8,640 – – 255,676 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 290,844 – – 290,844 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 354,513 302,486 44,236 – 612,763
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 14.11.2007 471.10 168,965 5,573 – 29,919 144,619 – – – 14.07.2010 14.11.2017

08.07.2008 353.76 246,832 8,632 – – 255,464 – – – 08.07.2011 08.07.2018
15.10.2009 374.00  247,036 8,640 – – 255,676 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 218,133 – – 218,133 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 662,833 240,978 – 29,919 873,892
David Potts 20.07.2006 346.25 120,164 2,825 122,989 – – 20.07.10 394.03 485 20.07.2010 –

14.11.2007 471.10 257,341 8,490 – 45,567 220,264 – – – 14.07.2010 14.11.2017
08.07.2008 353.76 352,616 12,331 – – 364,947 – – – 08.07.2011 08.07.2018
15.10.2009 374.00  329,382 11,519 – – 340,901 – – – 15.07.2012 15.10.2019
14.10.2010 433.90 – 290,844 – – 290,844 – – – 14.07.2013 14.10.2020

Total 1,059,503 326,009 122,989 45,567 1,216,956
Total 8,147,026 2,632,354 1,792,461 292,006 8,694,913

1	� All awards except those described in note 2 have been made in the form of nil cost options. All awards are increased to reflect dividend equivalents as each dividend is paid.	
2	� Tim Mason’s awards since 2006 have been made in the form of unfunded promises to deliver shares. Laurie McIlwee was appointed to the Board on 27 January 2009. His 2007 and 

2008 awards were made in the form of conditional shares under the senior management Performance Share Plan.	
3	� The awards are subject to performance conditions based on Return on Capital Employed targets. The Group ROCE for 2009/10 on a like-for-like basis was 14.2%, therefore Group 

targets for PSP awards granted on 14 November 2007 were met and these awards vested in full. The International ROCE for 2009/10 on a like-for-like basis was 6.9%, therefore 
International targets were partially met and 48.1% of these awards vested. The balance of the awards lapsed.
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Table 7 – Group New Business Incentive Plan

Date of 
award/

grant

As at 
27 February 

2010

Shares 
awarded 

in year

Options
exercised/

shares released 
in year

As at 
26 February 

2011
Date from 

which exercisable Expiry date

Sir Terry Leahy1,2 14.11.2007 2,680,172 93,747 – 2,773,919 Four tranches 2011-2014 14.11.2017

1	� The awards made under this plan will normally vest in four tranches, four, five, six and seven years after the date of award for nil consideration. The award is in the form of nil cost 
options. Awards may be adjusted to take account of any dividends paid or that are payable in respect of the number of shares earned. Sir Terry Leahy retired on 2 March 2011 and his 
interest in these awards will continue until their normal vesting date.

2	� The vesting of the award made to the Group CEO under this plan will be conditional upon achievement against Group and International performance conditions. Once performance 
against the Group and International targets has been determined, the extent to which the award made to the Group CEO under this plan is capable of vesting will be conditional on the 
financial performance of the specified new business venture, as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

Table 8 – US Long Term Incentive Plan
Date of 
award/

grant

As at 
27 February 

2010

Shares 
awarded 

in year

Shares 
released 

in year

As at 
26 February 

2011 Date of release 

Tim Mason1 14.11.2007 2,144,136 74,997 – 2,219,133 Four tranches 2011-2014

1	� Subject to performance, the award made under this plan will normally vest in four tranches, four, five, six and seven years after the date of award for nil consideration. Awards may be 
adjusted to take account of any dividends paid or that are payable in respect of the number of shares earned. Vesting of the award will be conditional upon achievement of the financial 
performance targets, as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

Table 9 – Executive Incentive Plan

Date of 
award/grant

Share price 
on award 

(pence)

As at 
27 February 

2010

Shares 
awarded/

options 
granted1

Shares 
released/

options 
exercised3

As at 
26 February 

2011

Date of 
release/date 
from which 
exercisable

Richard Brasher 24.05.2007 456.75 156,084 3,670 159,754 – –
02.05.2008 424.05 155,020 5,422 – 160,442 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 124,955 4,370 – 129,325 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 198,899 – 198,899 22.05.2013

Total  436,059 212,361 159,754 488,666
Philip Clarke 24.05.2007 456.75 98,773 2,322 101,095 – –

02.05.2008 424.05 91,461 3,198 – 94,659 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 124,955 4,370 – 129,325 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 198,899 – 198,899 22.05.2013

Total  315,189 208,789 101,095 422,883
Andrew Higginson 24.05.2007 456.75 98,773 2,322 101,095 – –

02.05.2008 424.05 91,461 3,198 – 94,659 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 124,955 4,370 – 129,325 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 198,899 – 198,899 22.05.2013

Total  315,189 208,789 101,095 422,883
Sir Terry Leahy 24.05.2007 456.75 293,296 6,896 300,192 – –

02.05.2008 424.05 418,776 14,647 – 433,423 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 271,309 9,489 – 280,798 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 464,792 – 464,792 22.05.2013

Total  983,381 495,824 300,192 1,179,013
Tim Mason2 24.05.2007 456.75 190,259 4,473 194,732 – –

02.05.2008 424.05 310,763 10,869 – 321,632 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 257,040 8,990 – 266,030 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 295,356 – 295,356 22.05.2013

Total  758,062 319,688 194,732 883,018
Laurie McIlwee 22.06.2010 388.05 – 149,174 – 149,174 22.05.2013
Total  – 149,174 – 149,174
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 24.05.2007 456.75 79,815 1,876 81,691 – –

02.05.2008 424.05 101,784 3,559 – 105,343 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 87,468 3,058 – 90,526 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 149,174 – 149,174 22.05.2013

Total  269,067 157,667 81,691 345,043
David Potts 24.05.2007 456.75 98,773 2,322 101,095 – –

02.05.2008 424.05 91,461 3,198 – 94,659 02.05.2011
19.05.2009 351.16 124,955 4,370 – 129,325 19.05.2012
22.06.2010 388.05 – 198,899 – 198,899 22.05.2013

Total  315,189 208,789 101,095 422,883
Total 3,392,136 1,961,081 1,039,654 4,313,563
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Table 9 – Executive Incentive Plan continued

1	� The awards are subject to performance conditions based on earnings per share, TSR and corporate objectives. Awards are increased to reflect dividend equivalents as each dividend is paid.
2	� Tim Mason’s awards have been made in the form of an unfunded promise. 
3	� No options lapsed in the year under the Executive Incentive Plan. Directors exercised EIP awards as follows:

Director Date
Price 

(pence)
Options

exercised
Value 

realisable

Richard Brasher 24.05.10 399.975  156,084 624

20.07.10 394.025  3,670 14

Philip Clarke 24.05.10 399.975  98,773 395

20.07.10 394.025  2,322 9

Andrew Higginson 24.05.10 399.975  98,773 395

20.07.10 394.025  2,322 9

Sir Terry Leahy 24.05.10 399.975 293,296 1,173

20.07.10 394.025 6,896 27

Director Date Price (pence)
Options

exercised
Value 

realisable

Tim Mason 24.05.10 399.975 190,259 761

20.07.10 394.025 4,473 18

Lucy Neville-Rolfe 24.05.10 399.975 79,815 319

20.07.10 394.025 1,876 7

David Potts 24.05.10 399.975 98,773 395

20.07.10 394.025 2,322 9

Table 10 – Directors’ interests in the Long-Term Incentive Plan

Award date

Price on 
award 

(pence)

Number of 
shares as at 
27 February 

2010
Shares 

awarded
Shares 

released

Number of 
shares as at 
26 February 

2011

Share price 
on release 

(pence)

Value 
realisable

£000 Release date

Laurie McIlwee1 24.05.07 456º.63 35,851 730 36,581 – 399.975 146 24.05.10
21.05.08 415.45 38,107 1,192 – 39,299 – – 21.05.11
20.05.09 356.05 47,336 1,481 – 48,817 – – 20.05.12

Total 121,294 3,403 36,581 88,116 146

1	 Bonus shares shown for Laurie McIlwee were awarded under the senior management bonus scheme before he joined the Board.

Table 11 – Disclosable interests of the Directors, including family interests
26 February 2011 (or last date 

of employment if earlier)
27 February 2010 (or on

appointment if later)

Ordinary 
shares1

Options 
to acquire 

ordinary
shares2

Ordinary 
shares1

Options 
to acquire

ordinary
shares2

Executive Directors
Richard Brasher 1,220,793 2,906,992 1,186,704 2,044,136
Philip Clarke 1,824,638 3,491,697 1,811,821 2,849,105
Andrew Higginson 1,349,712 3,491,697 1,586,895 2,849,105
Sir Terry Leahy 7,075,849 9,353,645 7,806,736 10,639,425
Tim Mason 3,876,520 1,545,829 4,134,570 1,159,489
Laurie McIlwee 222,301 1,483,050  237,241 743,466
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 452,886 2,067,219 443,091 1,417,358
David Potts 1,851,253 2,927,209 2,559,979 2,849,105
Non-executive Directors
Charles Allen3 – – – –
Gareth Bullock4 – – – –
Patrick Cescau – – – –
Stuart Chambers4 5,500 – 5,500 –
Rodney Chase3 – – – –
Karen Cook – – – –
Harald Einsmann3 355,984 – 355,984 –
Ken Hanna – – –
Ken Hydon 30,093 – 30,093 –
David Reid 194,337 – 194,080 –
Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker – – – –
Total 18,459,866 27,267,338 20,352,694 24,551,189

1	� Ordinary shares shown in this table include restricted shares held by Laurie McIlwee under the Performance Share Plan and Long Term Incentive plan shown in table 6 and table 10, 
shares held under a promise by Tim Mason under the Performance Share Plan shown in table 6, the US Long Term Incentive Plan shown in table 8 and the Executive Incentive Plan 
shown in table 9 and shares held under the all employee Share Incentive Plan.

2	� Options to acquire ordinary shares shown in this table comprise options held under the Executive Share Option schemes and Discretionary Share Option Plan shown in table 4, Save As 
You Earn scheme shown in table 5 and nil cost options held under the Performance Share Plan, Executive Incentive Plan and Group New Business Incentive Plan shown in tables 6, 9 
and 7 respectively. 

3	� Charles Allen, Rodney Chase and Harald Einsmann retired from the Board on 2 July 2010.
4	� Gareth Bullock and Stuart Chambers were appointed to the Board on 3 July 2010.
5	� Between 26 February 2011 and 28 April 2011, 330 shares were purchased by Executive Directors as part of the Buy As You Earn scheme. Buy As You Earn is an HMRC approved share 

purchase scheme under which employees invest up to a limit of £110 on a four-weekly basis to buy shares in Tesco PLC at the market value. There have been no other changes in 
Directors’ interests at the date of the publication of this Report.
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The Directors are required by the Companies Act 2006 to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the  
end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group for the 
financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to prepare the 
Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as endorsed by the European Union (EU) 
and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in 
accordance with UK Accounting Standards. 

�In preparing the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors 
are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

•	 make reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates; 

•	 for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS, as endorsed by the EU; 

•	 for the Company financial statements state whether applicable  
UK Accounting Standards have been followed; and 

•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless  
it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will 
continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial 
position of the Company and the Group, and which enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report comply with the Companies Act 2006, and as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Business Review includes a fair review of the business and 
important events impacting it, as well as a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties of the business.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Annual Review and Summary Financial Statement and Annual Report  
and Financial Statements published on the Group’s corporate website. 
Legislation in the UK concerning the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and of  
the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members 
of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tesco PLC for the 
52 weeks ended 26 February 2011 which comprise the Group Income 
Statement, the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group 
Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement  
of Changes in Equity and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law  
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by  
the European Union. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ responsibilities  
set out on page 92, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 
the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of  
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do 
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures  
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the Group financial statements: 

•	 �give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 
26 February 2011 and of its profit and cash flows for the 52 weeks  
then ended; 

•	 �have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted  
by the European Union; and 

•	 �have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for  
the 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011 for which the Group financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the Group financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in  
our opinion: 

•	 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are  
not made; or 

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require  
for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

•	 the Directors’ statement, set out on page 45, in relation to going 
concern;

•	 the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the 
Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 
Combined Code specified for our review; and 

•	 certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on 
directors’ renumeration.

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial 
statements of Tesco PLC for the 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011  
and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is 
described as having been audited. 

Richard Winter (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London 
6 May 2011
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Year ended 26 February 2011

 
notes

52 weeks
2011

£m

52 weeks 
2010

£m

Continuing operations
Revenue (sales excluding VAT) 2 60,931 56,910
Cost of sales (55,871) (52,303)
Gross profit 5,060 4,607
Administrative expenses  (1,676) (1,527)
Profit arising on property-related items 3 427 377
Operating profit 3,811 3,457
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates 13 57 33
Finance income 5 150 265
Finance costs 5 (483) (579)
Profit before tax 3 3,535 3,176
Taxation 6 (864) (840)
Profit for the year 2,671 2,336
 
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 2,655 2,327
Non-controlling interests 16 9
 2,671 2,336
 
Earnings per share
Basic 9 33.10p 29.33p
Diluted 9 32.94p 29.19p

Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit before tax
 
 

notes

52 weeks
2011

£m

52 weeks
2010

£m

Profit before tax  3,535 3,176
Adjustments for:

IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements  1/5 (19) (151)
IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions  1/28 113 24
IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods 1 50 41
IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions 1 42 127
IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards 1 8 14
IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ – impairment of goodwill arising on acquisitions 1 55 131
Restructuring costs 1 29 33

Underlying profit before tax 1 3,813 3,395

The notes on pages 99 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 26 February 2011

 

notes

52 weeks
2011

£m

52 weeks
2010

£m

Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets and investments 2 1
Currency translation differences (344) 343
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 28 595 (322)
(Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges:  

Net fair value losses (22) (168)
Reclassified and reported in the Group Income Statement 8  5

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income for the year  6 (153) 54
Total other comprehensive income for the year 86 (87)
Profit for the year 2,671 2,336
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,757 2,249
 
Attributable to:

Owners of the parent  2,746 2,222
Non-controlling interests  11 27

2,757 2,249

The notes on pages 99 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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notes

26 February
2011

£m

27 February
2010

£m

Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets  10 4,338 4,177
Property, plant and equipment  11 24,398 24,203

Investment property  12 1,863 1,731
Investments in joint ventures and associates  13 316 152
Other investments  14 1,108 863
Loans and advances to customers 17 2,127 1,844
Derivative financial instruments  22 1,139 1,250
Deferred tax assets  6 48 38
  35,337  34,258
Current assets
Inventories 15 3,162 2,729
Trade and other receivables 16 2,314 1,888
Loans and advances to customers 17 2,514 2,268
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets  18 404 144
Derivative financial instruments  22 148 224
Current tax assets 4  6
Short-term investments 1,022  1,314
Cash and cash equivalents  19 1,870 2,819
 11,438  11,392
Non-current assets classified as held for sale  7 431 373
 11,869  11,765
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables  20 (10,484) (9,442)
Financial liabilities:

Borrowings  21 (1,386) (1,529)
Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities  22 (255) (146)

Customer deposits 24 (5,074) (4,357)
Deposits by banks 25 (36) (30)
Current tax liabilities (432)  (472)
Provisions  26 (64) (39)
 (17,731)  (16,015)
Net current liabilities (5,862)  (4,250)
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities:

Borrowings  21 (9,689) (11,744)
Derivative financial instruments and other liabilities  22 (600) (776) 

Post-employment benefit obligations  28 (1,356) (1,840)
Deferred tax liabilities  6 (1,094) (795)
Provisions  26 (113) (172)
  (12,852)  (15,327)
Net assets  16,623  14,681
Equity
Share capital  29 402 399
Share premium account  4,896  4,801
Other reserves 40  40
Retained earnings 11,197  9,356 
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 16,535  14,596
Non-controlling interests 88  85
Total equity 16,623 14,681

The notes on pages 99 to 145 form part of these financial statements.

Philip Clarke 
Laurie McIlwee

Directors 
The financial statements on pages 94 to 145 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 6 May 2011 and are subject to the approval of the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 1 July 2011.
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Attributable to owners of the parent

Issued
share

capital
£m

Share
premium 

£m

Other
reserves

£m

Capital
redemption

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
reserve

£m

Translation
reserve

£m

Treasury 
shares 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non- 
  controlling 

interests 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 27 February 2010 399 4,801 40 13 12 463 (180) 9,048 14,596 85 14,681
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 2,655 2,655 16 2,671
Other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of available-for-

sale financial assets – – – – – – – 2 2 – 2
Currency translation differences – – – – – (339) – – (339) (5) (344)
Actuarial gains on defined benefit 

pension schemes – – – – – – – 595 595 – 595
Losses on cash flow hedges – – – – (14) – – – (14) – (14)
Tax relating to components of other 

comprehensive income – – – – 1 31 – (185) (153) – (153)
Total other comprehensive income – – – – (13) (308) – 412 91 (5) 86
Total comprehensive income – – – – (13) (308) – 3,067 2,746 11 2,757
Transactions with owners
Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (50) – (50) – (50)
Share-based payments – – – – – – 89 131 220 – 220
Issue of shares 3 95 – – – – – – 98 – 98
Purchase of non-controlling interests – – – – – – – 6 6 (6) –
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests – – – – – – – – – (2) (2)
Dividends authorised in the year – – – – – – – (1,081) (1,081) – (1,081)
Total transactions with owners 3 95 – – – – 39 (944) (807) (8) (815)
At 26 February 2011 402 4,896 40 13 (1) 155 (141) 11,171 16,535 88 16,623

Attributable to owners of the parent

Issued
share

capital
£m

Share
premium 

£m

Other
reserves

£m

Capital
redemption

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
reserve

£m

Translation
reserve

£m

Treasury 
shares 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non- 
  controlling 

interests 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

At 28 February 2009 395 4,638 40 13 175 173 (229) 7,644 12,849 57 12,906
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 2,327 2,327 9 2,336
Other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of  

available-for-sale financial assets – – – – – – – 1 1 – 1
Currency translation differences – – – – – 325 – – 325 18 343
Actuarial losses on defined benefit 

pension schemes – – – – – (2) (320) (322) – (322) 
Losses on cash flow hedges – – – – (163) – – – (163) – (163)
Tax relating to components of other 

comprehensive income – – – – – (33) – 87 54 – 54
Total other comprehensive income – – – – (163) 290 – (232) (105) 18 (87)
Total comprehensive income – – – – (163) 290 – 2,095 2,222 27 2,249
Transactions with owners
Purchase of treasury shares – – – – – – (24) – (24) – (24)
Share-based payments – – – – – – 73 168 241 – 241
Issue of shares 4 163 – – – – – – 167 – 167 
Purchase of non-controlling interests – – – – – – – 91 91 3 94
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests – – – – – – – – – (2) (2)
Dividends authorised in the year – – – – – – – (968) (968) – (968)
Tax on items charged to equity – – – – – – – 18 18 – 18
Total transactions with owners 4 163 – – – – 49 (691) (475) 1 (474)
At 27 February 2010 399 4,801 40 13 12 463 (180) 9,048 14,596 85 14,681

The notes on pages 99 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 26 February 2011 notes

52 weeks
2011

£m

52 weeks
2010

£m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations  31 5,366 5,947
Interest paid (614)  (690)
Corporation tax paid (760)  (512)
Net cash from operating activities 3,992  4,745
Cash flows from investing activities  
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (89)  (65)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,906  1,820
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property (3,178)  (2,855)
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 3 4
Purchase of intangible assets (373)  (163)
Increase in loans to joint ventures (219)  (45)
Decrease in loans to joint ventures 25 –

Investments in joint ventures and associates (174)  (4)
Investments in short-term and other investments (1,264)  (1,918)
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments 1,314  1,233
Dividends received 62  35
Interest received 128  81
Net cash used in investing activities (1,859)  (1,877)
Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 98  167
Increase in borrowings 2,175 862
Repayment of borrowings (4,153)  (3,601)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (42)  (41)
Dividends paid to equity owners (1,081) (968)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (2)  (2)
Own shares purchased (31)  (24)
Net cash from refinancing activities (3,036)  (3,607)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (903)  (739)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,819  3,509
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (46)  49
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 1,870 2,819

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement 
in net debt note

Year ended 26 February 2011 note

52 weeks
2011

£m

52 weeks 
2010

£m

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (903)  (739)
Investment in Tesco Bank (446) (230)
Elimination of net increase in Tesco Bank cash and cash equivalents 56  (167)
Debt acquired on acquisition (17) –

Net cash outflow to repay debt and lease financing 2,870 2,780
Dividend received from Tesco Bank 150 150
(Decrease)/increase in short-term investments (292)  81
Increase in joint venture loan receivables 159 45
Other non-cash movements (438)  (249)
Decrease in net debt in the year 1,139  1,671
Opening net debt  32 (7,929) (9,600)
Closing net debt  32 (6,790) (7,929)

NB. The reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note is not a primary statement and does not form part of the cash flow statement but forms part of the notes to the 
financial statements.

The notes on pages 99 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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General information
Tesco PLC is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the 
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 (Registration number 
445790). The address of the registered office is Tesco House, Delamare 
Road, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire, EN8 9SL, UK.

The financial year represents the 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011 (prior 
financial year 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010). For the UK, the Republic 
of Ireland and the US, the results are for the 52 weeks ended 26 February 
2011 (prior financial year 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010). For all other 
operations, the results are for the calender year ended 28 February 2011 
(year ended 28 February 2010). 

As described in the Report of the Directors, the main activity of the Group 
is that of retailing and retailing services.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the 
European Union, and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable  
to companies reporting under IFRS.

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, generally 
rounded to the nearest million. They are prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except for certain financial instruments, share-based payments, 
customer loyalty programmes and pensions that have been measured  
at fair value.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently  
to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consist of the financial statements of  
the ultimate Parent Company (Tesco PLC), all entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) and the Group’s share of its interests in joint 
ventures and associates.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to bring the accounting policies 
used in line with those of the Group.

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose operating and financing policies are 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by Tesco PLC.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the  
date that control ceases.

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and 
expenses arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements.

Joint ventures and associates
A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an interest on a  
long-term basis and which is jointly controlled by the Group and one  
or more other venturers under a contractual agreement.

An associate is an undertaking, not being a subsidiary or joint venture,  
over which the Group has significant influence and can participate in the 
financial and operating policy decisions of the entity.

The Group’s share of the results of joint ventures and associates is included 
in the Group Income Statement using the equity method of accounting. 
Investments in joint ventures and associates are carried in the Group Balance 
Sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net 
assets of the entity, less any impairment in value. The carrying values of 
investments in joint ventures and associates include acquired goodwill.

If the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or 
exceeds its investment in the joint venture or associate, the Group does 

not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do so  
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with joint ventures and 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity.

Use of assumptions and estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in accordance with 
IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’.

Critical estimates and assumptions that are applied in the preperation  
of the consolidated financial statements include:

Depreciation and amortisation
The Group exercises judgement to determine useful lives and residual 
values of intangibles, property, plant and equipment and investment 
property. The assets are depreciated down to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives.

Impairment 
i) Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment  
in accordance with the accounting policy as set out below. The recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units has been determined based on value 
in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations 
are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes  
in margins. Management estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates that 
reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and 
country specific risks.

ii) Impairment of assets
The Group has determined each store as a separate cash-generating unit. 
Where there are indicators for impairment, the Group performs an 
impairment test.

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on the higher  
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is calculated 
from cash flow projections for five years using data from the Group’s latest 
internal forecasts. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations  
are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes  
in margins. Management estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates that 
reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and 
country specific risks.

iii) Impairment of loans and advances to customers
The Group’s loan impairment provisions are established to recognise 
incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of loans classified as loans and 
receivables and carried at amortised cost. A loan is impaired when there is 
objective evidence that events since the loan was granted have affected 
expected cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss is the difference 
between the carrying value of the loan and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows at the loan’s original effective interest rate.

The Group’s loan impairment provisions are established on a portfolio 
basis taking into account the level of arrears, security, past loss experience, 
credit scores and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most significant 
factors in establishing these provisions are the expected loss rates. These 
portfolios include credit card receivables and other personal advances.  
The future credit quality of these portfolios is subject to uncertainties  
that could cause actual credit losses to differ materially from reported  
loan impairment provisions. These uncertainties include the economic 
environment, notably interest rates and their effect on customer spending, 
the unemployment level, payment behaviour and bankruptcy trends.
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Provisions
Provisions have been made for onerous leases, dilapidations, restructuring, 
pensions, customer redress and claims. These provisions are estimates and 
the actual costs and timing of future cash flows are dependent on future 
events. The difference between expectations and the actual future liability 
will be accounted for in the period when such determination is made.

The Group has a provision for potential customer redress. During  
the year, the FSA formally issued Policy Statement 10/12 (PS 10/12),  
which introduces new guidance in respect of PPI customer redress  
and evidential provisions to the FSA Handbook with an implementation 
date of 1 December 2010. We will continue to handle complaints  
and redress customers in accordance with PS 10/12. This will include 
ongoing analysis of historical claims experience in accordance with  
the guidance.

The calculation of this provision involves estimating a number of  
variables, principally the level of customer complaints which may be 
received and the level of any compensation which may be payable  
to customers. Uncertainty associated with these factors may result  
in the ultimate liability being different from the reported provision.

Insurance reserves
The Group recognises insurance commission arising from the sale  
of general insurance policies sold under the Tesco brand. The level  
of commission is dependent upon the profitability of the underlying 
insurance policies, which is in turn dependent on the level of reserves  
held by the insurance trading partner to underwrite the policies in  
place. Calculation of the required level of insurance claims reserves  
is dependent on a detailed actuarial review. Management also undertakes 
an assessment of other risks which are outside the scope of this review  
but that are inherent in assessing potential claims liabilities. A change  
in the estimate of any of the key variables in this calculation could  
have the potential to significantly impact the reserve balance recognised 
which would therefore also impact the insurance commission revenue 
recognised in the income statement.

Post-employment benefit obligations
The present value of the post-employment benefit obligations depends  
on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using  
a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the  
net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in  
these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of post-employment 
benefit obligations.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of  
each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine  
the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to  
be required to settle the post-employment benefit obligations. In 
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers the  
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated  
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms  
to maturity approximating the terms of the related post-employment 
benefit obligation. Other key assumptions for post-employment benefit  
obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional 
information is disclosed in note 28.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosure
The Group has adopted the following new and amended standards  
and interpretations as of 28 February 2010:

•	 IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ is effective for periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised standard continues  
to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, but with 
certain significant changes. All payments to purchase a business  
will be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with some 
contingent payments subsequently remeasured at fair value through  
the Group Income Statement. Goodwill and non-controlling interests 
may be calculated on a gross or net basis. All transaction costs will  
be expensed.

•	 IAS 27 (Revised) ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’  
is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised 
standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling 
interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control. As 
such, transactions with non-controlling interests with no change in 
control will no longer result in recognition of goodwill in the Group 
Balance Sheet or gains and losses recognised in the Group Income 
Statement. The revised standard also specifies the accounting when 
control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is remeasured to fair 
value and a gain or loss is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

•	 IAS 39 (Amended) ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ 
is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The 
amendment requires that inflation may only be hedged if changes  
in inflation are a contractually specified portion of cash flows of a 
recognised financial instrument. The amendment also permits an  
entity to designate purchased options as a hedging instrument in  
a hedge of a financial or non-financial item.

The Group has adopted all amendments published in ‘Improvements  
to IFRSs’ issued in April 2009. The adoption of these amendments has  
not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial 
statements but may impact the accounting for future transactions  
and arrangements.

Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable 
for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of the  
Group’s activities. 

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have transferred to the buyer and the amount  
of revenue can be measured reliably. 

Revenue is recorded net of returns, discounts/offers and value added 
taxes. Offers include: money-off coupons, conditional spend vouchers 
and offers such as buy one get one free (BOGOF) and 3 for 2.

Provision of services
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the service is 
provided and the revenue can be measured reliably, based on the terms 
of the contract.

Where the Group acts as an agent selling goods or services, only the 
commission income is included within revenue.

Financial services
Revenue consists of interest, fees and income from the provision  
of insurance. 

Interest income on financial assets that are classified as loans and 
receivables is determined using the effective interest rate method. This is 
the method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or for a 
group of assets, and of allocating the interest income over the expected 
life of the asset. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts the 
estimated future cash flows to the instrument’s initial carrying amount.

Calculation of the effective interest rate takes into account fees receivable, 
that are an integral part of the instrument’s yield, premiums or discounts 
on acquisition or issue, early redemption fees and transaction costs.

Fees in respect of services (such as credit card interchange, late payment 
and balance transfer fees and ATM revenue) are recognised as the right  
to consideration accrues through the provision of the service to the 
customer. The arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of 
providing the service is incurred as the service is rendered. The price is 
usually fixed and always determinable. 

The Group generates commission from the sale and service of Motor and 
Home Insurance policies underwritten by Tesco Underwriting Limited. 
This is based on pre-determined commission rates at the point of sale. 
Similar commission income is also generated from the sale of white label 
insurance products underwritten by other third party providers.
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The Group continues to receive insurance commission arising from the 
sale of insurance policies sold under the Tesco brand through the legacy 
arrangement with the Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS). This commission 
income is variable and dependent upon the profitability of the underlying 
insurance policies.

Clubcard, loyalty and other initiatives
The cost of Clubcard and loyalty initiatives is treated as a deduction  
from sales and part of the fair value of the consideration received is 
deferred and subsequently recognised over the period that the awards  
are redeemed.

The fair value of the points awarded is determined with reference to  
the fair value to the customer and considers factors such as redemption 
via Clubcard deals versus money-off-in-store and redemption rate.

Computers for Schools, Sport for Schools and Club vouchers are issued  
by Tesco for redemption by participating schools/clubs and are part of  
our overall Community Plan. The cost of the redemption (i.e meeting  
the obligation attached to the vouchers) is treated as a cost rather than  
a deduction from sales.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised in the period in which it is earned, in 
accordance with the terms of the lease.

Finance income 
Finance income, excluding income arising from financial services, is 
recognised in the period to which it relates using the effective interest  
rate method. 

Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when a legal entitlement to receive  
payment arises.

Finance costs
Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction  
of qualifying assets are capitalised. Qualifying assets are those that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended 
use. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the Group Income 
Statement in finance costs, excluding those arising from financial services, 
in the period in which they occur. For Tesco Bank, finance cost on financial 
liabilities is determined using the effective interest rate method and is 
recognised in cost of sales. 

Business combinations and goodwill
The Group accounts for all business combinations by applying the 
purchase method. All acquisition-related costs are expensed.

On acquisition, the assets (including intangible assets), liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of an acquired entity are measured at their fair value. 
The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion 
of the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised.

The Group recognises intangible assets as part of business combinations  
at fair value on the date of acquisition. The determination of these fair 
values is based upon management’s judgement and includes assumptions 
on the timing and amount of future incremental cash flows generated  
by the assets acquired and the selection of an appropriate cost of capital. 
The useful lives of intangible assets are estimated and amortisation is 
charged on a straight-line basis.

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of an 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets/net 
liabilities of the acquired subsidiary, joint venture or associate at the  
date of acquisition. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value  
of the Group’s share of the net assets/net liabilities of the acquired entity 
(i.e a discount on acquisition), the difference is credited to the Group 
Income Statement in the period of acquisition. 

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goodwill acquired is recognised as 
an asset and is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to 
benefit from the business combination’s synergies and to the lowest level 
at which management monitors the goodwill. Goodwill arising on the 
acquisition of joint ventures and associates is included within the carrying 
value of the investment.

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the attributable 
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss  
on disposal. 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 29 February 2004 (the date of 
transition to IFRS) was retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts  
subject to being tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written  
off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been restated and will 
not be included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets, such as software, pharmacy licences, customer 
relationships, contracts and brands, are measured initially at cost and are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, at 
2%-100% of cost per annum.

Internally-generated intangible assets – Research and development 
expenditure
Research costs are expensed as incurred. 

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is capitalised 
only if all the criteria set out in IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ are met, 
principally:

•	 an asset is created that can be identified (such as software or new 
processes);

•	 it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic 
benefits; and

•	 the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure, the cost  
is amortised over the project’s estimated useful life, usually at 14%-25%  
of cost per annum.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. 

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis to its 
residual value over its anticipated useful economic life.

The following depreciation rates are applied for the Group:

•	 freehold and leasehold buildings with greater than 40 years unexpired – 
at 2.5% of cost;

•	 leasehold properties with less than 40 years unexpired are depreciated 
by equal annual instalments over the unexpired period of the lease; and

•	 plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles – at rates 
varying from 9% to 50%.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful 
lives on the same basis as owned assets or, when shorter, over the term of 
the relevant lease.

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually by assessing the 
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit to which the goodwill 
relates. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to  
sell, and value in use. When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
Any impairment is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement 
and is not subsequently reversed.
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For all other non-financial assets (including intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment) the Group performs impairment testing where there 
are indicators of impairment. If such an indicator exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that 
are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount  
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of 
the recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no 
impairment loss had been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately as a credit to the Group Income Statement.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rental income and/or for 
capital appreciation rather than for the purpose of Group operating 
activities. Investment property assets are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. The depreciation 
policies for investment property are consistent with those described for 
owner-occupied property.

Other investments
Other investments in the Group Balance Sheet comprise loan receivables 
and available-for-sale financial assets.

Loan receivables are recognised at amortised cost and available-for-sale 
financial assets are recognised at fair value.

Refer to the financial instruments accounting policy for further detail.

Inventories
Inventories comprise goods held for resale and properties held for,  
or in the course of, development and are valued at the lower of cost  
and fair value less costs to sell using the weighted average cost basis.

Short-term investments
Short-term investments in the Group Balance Sheet consist of deposits 
with money market funds. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the Group Balance Sheet consist of cash at 
bank, in hand and demand deposits with banks together with short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale  
if their carrying amount will be recovered through sale rather than 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale 
and it should be expected to be completed within one year from the date 
of classification.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as a lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as 
receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a 
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.

The Group as a lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group  
at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding 
liability is included in the Group Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligation. 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a 
reduction of the lease obligations so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged to the Group Income Statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Group Income 
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Sale and leaseback
A sale and leaseback transaction is one where the Group sells an asset and 
immediately reacquires the use of that asset by entering into a lease with 
the buyer. The accounting treatment of the sale and leaseback depends 
upon the substance of the transaction (by applying the lease classification 
principles described above) and whether or not the sale was made at the 
asset’s fair value.

For sale and finance leasebacks, any profit from the sale is deferred  
and amortised over the lease term. For sale and operating leasebacks, 
generally the assets are sold at fair value, and accordingly the profit or loss 
from the sale is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement.

Post-employment and similar obligations
The Group accounts for pensions and other post-employment benefits 
(principally private healthcare) under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’.

For defined benefit plans, obligations are measured at discounted present 
value (using the projected unit credit method) whilst plan assets are 
recorded at fair value. The operating and financing costs of such plans are 
recognised separately in the Group Income Statement; service costs are 
spread systematically over the expected service lives of employees and 
financing costs are recognised in the periods in which they arise. Actuarial 
gains and losses are recognised immediately in the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an expense 
as they fall due.

Share-based payments
Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form  
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services 
in exchange for shares, rights over shares (equity-settled transactions) or  
in exchange for cash. 

The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the grant 
date using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting cost is charged to the 
Group Income Statement over the vesting period. The value of the charge 
is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting.

Taxation
The tax expense included in the Group Income Statement consists of 
current and deferred tax.
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Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet  
date. Tax expense is recognised in the Group Income Statement except  
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in the Group Statement  
of Other Comprehensive Income or directly in the Group Statement of 
Changes in Equity, in which case it is recognised in the Group Statement  
of Other Comprehensive Income or directly in the Group Statement of 
Changes in Equity, respectively. 

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method,  
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts  
used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged  
or credited in the Group Income Statement, except when it relates to  
items charged or credited directly to equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in equity,  
or other comprehensive income, respectively.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets  
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other when  
there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current taxation assets against 
current taxation liabilities and it is the intention to settle these on a net basis.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on 
the date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets 
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated  
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. All differences are taken 
to the Group Income Statement.

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into  
Pounds Sterling. Since the majority of consolidated companies operate  
as independent entities within their local economic environment, their 
respective local currency is the functional currency. Therefore, assets and 
liabilities of overseas subsidiaries denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the Group Balance 
Sheet; profits and losses are translated at average exchange rates for the 
relevant accounting periods. Exchange differences arising are recognised 
in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income and are included in the 
Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised  
as income or expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at the closing rate.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s 
Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are non interest-bearing and are recognised initially at 
fair value, and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less provision for impairment. 

Investments
Investments are recognised at trade date. Investments are classified as 
either held for trading or available-for-sale, and are recognised at fair value.

There are no investments classified as held for trading.

For available-for-sale investments, gains and losses arising from changes  
in fair value are recognised directly in equity, until the security is disposed 
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in equity is included in the net result for the 
period. Interest calculated using the effective interest rate method is 
recognised in the Group Income Statement. Dividends on an available-for-
sale equity instrument are recognised in the Group Income Statement 
when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Loans and advances to customers and banks
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and 
include amounts due from customers and amounts due from banks.  
The Group has no intention of trading these loans and advances and 
consequently they are not classified as held for trading or designated  
as fair value through profit and loss. Loans and advances are initially 
recognised at fair value plus directly related transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less any impairment losses. Income from these 
financial assets is calculated on an effective yield basis and is recognised  
in the Group Income Statement.

Impairment of loans and advances to customers and banks
At each balance sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amounts of  
its loans and advances to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. An impairment loss has 
been incurred if there is objective evidence that an event or events since 
initial recognition of the asset have adversely affected the amount or 
timing of future cash flows from the asset.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset  
or group of financial assets classified as loans and advances has been 
incurred, the Group measures the amount of the loss as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset or group of 
assets discounted at the effective interest rate of the instrument at initial 
recognition. Impairment losses are assessed individually for financial assets 
that are individually significant and collectively for assets that are not 
individually significant. In making collective assessments of impairment, 
financial assets are grouped into portfolios on the basis of similar risk 
characteristics. Future cash flows from these portfolios are estimated on 
the basis of the contractual cash flows and historical loss experience for 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics. Historical loss experience is 
adjusted, on the basis of current observable data, to reflect the effects  
of current conditions not affecting the period of historical experience.

Impairment losses are recognised in the Group Income Statement and  
the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets 
is reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If in  
a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss reduces and  
the reduction can be ascribed to an event after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the 
allowance. Once an impairment loss has been recognised on a financial 
asset or group of financial assets, interest income is recognised on the 
carrying amount using the rate of interest at which estimated future  
cash flows were discounted in measuring impairment.

Loan impairment provisions are established on a portfolio basis taking  
into account the level of arrears, security, past loss experience, credit  
scores and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most significant  
factors in establishing the provisions are the expected loss rates and the 
related average life. The portfolios include credit card receivables and  
other personal advances. The future credit quality of these portfolios  
is subject to uncertainties that could cause actual credit losses to differ 
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materially from reported loan impairment provisions. These uncertainties 
include the economic environment, notably interest rates and their  
effect on customer spending, the unemployment level, payment  
behaviour and bankruptcy trends.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to  
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that gives a residual interest in the assets of  
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at fair  
value, net of attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any 
difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the 
Group Income Statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective 
interest basis.

Trade payables
Trade payables are non interest-bearing and are stated at amortised cost. 

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure  
to foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity risks arising from 
operating, financing and investing activities. The Group does not hold  
or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes, however,  
if derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted  
for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair  
value. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined  
by reference to market values for similar financial instruments, by  
discounted cash flows, or by the use of option valuation models. Where 
derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses  
on remeasurement are immediately recognised in the Group Income 
Statement. Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition  
of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship and the item being hedged.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required to 
document from inception the relationship between the item being  
hedged and the hedging instrument. The Group is also required to 
document and demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between 
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, which shows that the  
hedge will be highly effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness 
testing is performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge  
remains highly effective.

Derivative financial instruments with maturity dates of more than  
one year from the balance sheet date are disclosed as non-current.

Fair value hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges  
when they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair value of  
a recognised asset or liability. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that  
are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Group 
Income Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for fair value hedge accounting 
are principally interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps.

Cash flow hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when 
they hedge the Group’s exposure to variability in cash flows that are  
either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset  
or liability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction.

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative 
instrument is recognised directly in equity.

The associated cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the Group 
Statement of Changes in Equity and recognised in the Group Income 
Statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged 
transaction affects the Group Income Statement. The classification of  
the effective portion when recognised in the Group Income Statement  
is the same as the classification of the hedged transaction. Any element  
of the remeasurement of the derivative instrument which does not meet 
the criteria for an effective hedge is recognised immediately in the Group 
Income Statement within finance income or costs.

Derivative instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging are principally 
forward foreign exchange transactions and interest rate swaps.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires  
or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in the Group 
Statement of Changes in Equity until the forecasted transaction occurs  
or the original hedged item affects the Group Income Statement. If a 
forecasted hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net 
cumulative gain or loss recognised in the Group Statement of Changes  
in Equity is reclassified to the Group Income Statement.

Net investment hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges 
when they hedge the Group’s net investment in an overseas operation. 
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from remeasuring 
the derivative instrument is recognised directly in the Group Statement of 
Changes in Equity. Any ineffective element is recognised immediately in 
the Group Income Statement. Gains and losses accumulated in the Group 
Statement of Changes in Equity are included in the Group Income 
Statement when the foreign operation is disposed of.

Derivative instruments designated as net investment hedges are principally 
forward foreign exchange transactions.

Treatment of agreements to acquire non-controlling interests
The Group has entered into a number of agreements to purchase  
the remaining shares of subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

Under IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, the net present value of 
the expected future payments are shown as a financial liability. At the end 
of each period, the valuation of the liability is reassessed with any changes 
recognised in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs. 
Where the liability is in a currency other than Pounds Sterling, the liability 
has been designated as a net investment hedge. Any change in the value 
of the liability resulting from changes in exchange rates is recognised 
directly in equity.

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, for which it is probable that a transfer 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and where  
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions for onerous leases are recognised when the Group believes  
that the unavoidable costs of meeting the lease obligations exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received under the lease. Where 
material, these leases are discounted to their present value. Provisions  
for dilapidation costs are recognised on a lease by lease basis. 

Other recent accounting developments
The following standards, amendments and interpretations became 
effective for the first time for the financial year beginning 28 February 
2010 but either have no material impact on the result or net assets of  
the Group or are not applicable.

Note 1  Accounting policies continued
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•	 IFRIC 17 ‘Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners’ is effective from 
periods commencing on or after 1 July 2009. It provides guidance on 
the appropriate accounting treatment when an entity distributes assets 
other than cash as dividends to its shareholders.

•	 IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’ is effective from periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2009. It concludes that when an item  
of property, plant and equipment transferred meets the definition of  
an asset from the perspective of the recipient, the recipient should 
recognise the asset at its fair value on the date of the accordance with 
IAS 18 ‘Revenue’.

As of the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following 
standards were in issue but not yet effective. The Group has not applied 
these standards in the preparation of the financial statements:

•	 IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ is effective from periods commencing  
on or after 1 January 2013. It adds guidance on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities. It only permits the 
recognition of fair value gains and losses in other comprehensive income 
if they relate to equity investments that are not held for trading. 

•	 IAS 24 (Amended) ‘Related party disclosures’ is effective from periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2011. It clarifies and simplifies the 
definition of a related party and will require certain entities to make 
additional disclosures. 

•	 IFRIC 14 (Amended) ‘Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement’ 
is effective from periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011. It 
corrects an unintended consequence where in some circumstances 
entities are not entitled to recognise as an asset some voluntary 
prepayments for minimum funding contributions. 

•	 IFRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing financial liabilities and equity instruments’ is 
effective from periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010. It requires 
that where a debtor issues equity instruments to a creditor to settle  
all or part of a financial liability, these instruments should be deemed 
fully paid and measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished. 

The impact on the Group’s financial statements of the future adoption  
of these standards is still under review. Other than IFRS 9, where the 
Group is continuing to assess the materiality of the impact of this new 
standard, the Group does not expect any of the changes to have material 
effect on the result or net assets of the Group. 

Use of non-GAAP profit measures – underlying profit before tax
The Directors believe that underlying profit before tax and underlying 
diluted earnings per share measures provide additional useful information 
for shareholders on underlying trends and performance. These measures 
are used for internal performance analysis. Underlying profit is not  
defined by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other 
companies’ adjusted profit measures. It is not intended to be a substitute 
for, or superior to IFRS measurements of profit.

The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are:

•	 IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements. 
Under IAS 32 and IAS 39, the Group applies hedge accounting to its 
various hedge relationships when allowed under the rules of IAS 39  
and when practical to do so. Sometimes the Group is unable to apply 
hedge accounting to the arrangements but continues to enter into  
these arrangements as they provide certainty or active management  
of the exchange rates and interest rates applicable to the Group.  
The Group believes these arrangements remain effective and 
economically and commercially viable hedges despite the inability  
to apply hedge accounting.

	 Where hedge accounting is not applied to certain hedging 
arrangements, the reported results reflect the movement in fair value  
of related derivatives due to changes in foreign exchange and interest 
rates. In addition, at each year end, any gain or loss accruing on open 
contracts is recognised in the Group Income Statement for the financial 
year, regardless of the expected outcome of the hedging contract on 
termination. This may mean that the Group Income Statement charge  
is highly volatile, whilst the resulting cash flows may not be as volatile. 
The underlying profit measure removes this volatility to help better 
identify underlying business performance. 

•	 �IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Income Statement charge 
for pensions. Under IAS 19 the cost of providing pension benefits  
in the future is discounted to a present value at the corporate bond  
yield rates applicable on the last day of the previous financial year.  
Corporate bond yield rates vary over time which in turn creates  
volatility in the Group Income Statement and Group Balance Sheet.  
IAS 19 also increases the charge for young pension schemes, such as 
Tesco’s, by requiring the use of rates which do not take into account  
the future expected returns on the assets held in the pension scheme 
which will fund pension liabilities as they fall due. The sum of these  
two effects can make the IAS 19 charge disproportionately higher  
and more volatile than the cash contributions the Group is required to  
make in order to fund all future liabilities. Therefore, within underlying 
profit we have included the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions  
but excluded the volatile element of IAS 19 to represent what the  
Group believes to be a fairer measure of the cost of providing post-
employment benefits.

•	 �IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods. 
The amount charged to the Group Income Statement in respect of 
operating lease costs and incentives is expected to increase significantly 
as the Group expands its international business. The leases have been 
structured in a way to increase annual lease costs as the businesses 
expand. IAS 17 requires the total cost of a lease to be recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease, irrespective of the actual 
timing of the cost. This adjustment also impacts the Group’s operating 
profit and rental income within the share of post-tax profits of joint 
ventures and associates. 

•	 IFRS 3 (Revised) ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset 
amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions. Under IFRS 3 
intangible assets are separately identified and fair valued. The intangible 
assets are required to be amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
useful economic lives and as such is a non-cash charge that does not 
reflect the underlying performance of the business acquired. Similarly, 
the standard requires all acquisition costs to be expensed in the Group 
Income Statement. Due to their nature, these costs have been excluded 
from underlying profit as they do not reflect the underlying performance 
of the Group.

•	 IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards.  
The interpretation requires the fair value of customer loyalty awards  
to be measured as a separate component of a sales transaction. The 
underlying profit measure removes this fair value allocation to present 
underlying business performance, and to reflect the performance of  
the operating segments as measured by management. 

•	 IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Intangibles’ – impairment of goodwill arising on 
acquisitions. The remaining carrying value of goodwill relating to Japan 
was not fully recoverable and was fully impaired during the year. The 
resulting non-cash charge does not reflect the underlying performance 
of the business.

•	 Restructuring costs. These relate to certain costs associated with the 
Group’s restructuring activities and have been excluded from underlying 
profit as they do not reflect the Group’s underlying performance. 

Note 1  Accounting policies continued
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Note 2  Segmental reporting

The Group’s reporting segments are determined based on the Group’s internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM). The CODM 
has been determined to be the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors as it is primarily responsible for the allocation of resources to segments 
and the assessment of performance of the segments. The CODM uses trading profit, as reviewed at monthly Executive Committee meetings, as the 
key measure of the segments’ results as it reflects the segments’ underlying trading performance for the financial year under evaluation. Trading 
profit is a consistent measure within the Group. 

Segmental trading profit is an adjusted measure of operating profit, which measures the performance of each segment before goodwill impairment 
and restructuring charges, profit arising on property-related items, impact on leases of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods, intangible asset 
amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions, adjustments for the fair value of customer loyalty awards and replaces the IAS 19 pension 
charge with the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions. Segment assets include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated is comprised mainly of derivative financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

Inter-segment revenue between the operating segments is not material.

The segment results, the reconciliation of the segment measures to the respective statutory items included in the Group Income Statement and the 
segment assets are as follows:

Year ended 26 February 2011
At constant exchange rates

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total at
constant

exchange
£m

Foreign
exchange

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations
Sales inc. VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 44,570 9,952 10,741 489 919 66,671 902 67,573
Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 40,765 9,277 9,347 482 919 60,790 860 61,650
Effect of IFRIC 13 (649) (34) (34) – – (717) (2) (719)
Revenue 40,116 9,243 9,313 482 919 60,073 858 60,931
Trading profit/(loss) 2,505 517 539 (181) 264 3,644 35 3,679
Trading margin* 6.1% 5.6% 5.8% (37.6%) 28.7% 6.0%  6.0%

Year ended 26 February 2011
At actual exchange rates

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations
Sales inc. VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 44,571 11,023 10,558 502 919 67,573
Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 40,766 10,278 9,192 495 919 61,650
Effect of IFRIC 13 (649) (37) (33) – – (719)
Revenue 40,117 10,241 9,159 495 919 60,931
Trading profit/(loss) 2,504 570 527 (186) 264 3,679
Trading margin* 6.1% 5.5% 5.7% (37.6%) 28.7% 6.0%

Year ended 27 February 2010
At constant exchange rates

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total at
constant

exchange
£m

Foreign
exchange

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations
Sales inc. VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 42,254  8,737  9,979  324  860  62,154 383  62,537
Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 39,104  8,148  8,704 319 860  57,135 367 57,502
Effect of IFRIC 13 (546)  (25) (19)   – – (590)  (2)  (592)
Revenue  38,558  8,123  8,685 319 860 56,545 365 56,910
Trading profit/(loss)  2,413  422  466  (151)  250  3,400 12  3,412
Trading margin* 6.2% 5.2%  5.4%  (47.3%)  29.1%  5.9%  5.9%

 

Year ended 27 February 2010
At actual exchange rates

UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total at
actual

exchange
£m

Continuing operations
Sales inc. VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 42,254 9,072 9,997 354 860 62,537
Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 39,104  8,465 8,724  349  860  57,502
Effect of IFRIC 13 (546) (26) (20) – – (592)
Revenue 38,558 8,439 8,704 349 860 56,910
Trading profit/(loss) 2,413 440 474  (165)  250  3,412
Trading margin* 6.2%  5.2% 5.4%  (47.3%)  29.1% 5.9%

* Trading margin is based on revenue excluding IFRIC 13. 
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Note 2  Segmental reporting continued

Reconciliation of trading profit to profit before tax

2011
£m

2010
£m

Trading profit 3,679 3,412
Adjustments:
Profit arising on property-related items 427 377 
IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions (95) 24 
IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods (66) (51) 
IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – intangibles asset amortisation charges and costs arising from acquisitions (42) (127) 
IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards (8) (14) 

IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ – impairment of goodwill arising on acquisitions (55) (131)
Restructuring costs (29) (33)
Operating profit 3,811 3,457 
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures and associates 57 33 
Finance income 150 265 
Finance costs (483) (579) 
Profit before tax 3,535 3,176 
Taxation (864) (840) 
Profit for the year 2,671 2,336 

Segment assets

At 26 February 2011
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Other/
unallocated

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Total segment non-current assets 14,456 7,638 6,601 945 4,510 1,187 35,337
Total segment non-current assets includes:

Investments in joint ventures and associates 79 173 – – 64  – 316

At 27 February 2010
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Other/
unallocated

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Total segment non-current assets 14,741 7,115 6,588 790 3,738 1,286 34,258
Total segment non-current assets includes:

Investments in joint ventures and associates 55  95 –  – 2  – 152
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Note 2  Segmental reporting continued

Other segment information

Year ended 26 February 2011
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through  
business combinations):
Property, plant and equipment 1,486 977 603 192 62 3,320
Investment property – 17 7 – – 24
Goodwill and other intangible assets 159 28 23 82 163 455

Depreciation:
Property, plant and equipment (607) (273) (263) (40) (11) (1,194)
Investment property – (17) (14) – – (31)

Amortisation of intangible assets (109) (17) (22) – (47) (195)
Goodwill impairment losses recognised in the  

Group Income Statement – (55) – – – (55)
Impairment losses recognised in the Group Income Statement (14) – (3) (8) – (25)
Reversal of prior year impairment losses through the  

Group Income Statement 14 13 11 – – 38

Year ended 27 February 2010
UK
£m

Asia
£m

Rest of 
Europe

£m
US
£m

Tesco
Bank

£m

Total
at actual

exchange
£m

Capital expenditure (including acquisitions through  
business combinations):
Property, plant and equipment  1,485 736 518 141 44 2,924
Investment property  – 8 8 – – 16

Goodwill and other intangible assets  124 91 21 – 25 261
Depreciation:

Property, plant and equipment  (570) (226) (260) (29) (6) (1,091)
Investment property  – (8) (8) – – (16)

Amortisation of intangible assets  (116) (14) (20) – (127) (277)
Goodwill impairment losses recognised in the  

Group Income Statement – (131) – – – (131)
Impairment losses recognised in the Group Income Statement (27) (6) (18) – – (51)
Reversal of prior year impairment losses through the  

Group Income Statement 27 10 40 – – 77

Note 3  Income and expenses

From continuing operations
2011

£m
2010

£m

Profit before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:
Profit arising on property-related items (427) (377)
Rental income, of which £417m (2010 – £351m) relates to investment properties (541) (461)
Direct operating expenses arising on rental earning investment properties 122 103
Costs of inventories recognised as an expense 45,942 42,504
Stock losses 1,025 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 1,225 1,107
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and impairment of investment property 25 51
Reversal of prior year impairment losses through the Group Income Statement (38) (77)
Amortisation of internally-generated development intangible assets 100 103
Amortisation of other intangibles 95 174
Operating lease expenses* 1,064 927

* Operating lease expenses include £53m (2010 – £83m) for hire of plant and machinery.
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Note 3  Income and expenses continued

During the financial year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, and network firms:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and Group financial statements 0.6 0.6
The audit of the accounts of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 3.7 3.5

4.3 4.1
Non-audit services
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and network firms for other services:

Other services pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1
Other services relating to taxation 0.7 0.4
Other services relating to information technology 0.3 –
Other services relating to corporate finance transactions – 0.1
All other services 0.6 0.6

Total auditor remuneration 6.0 5.3

In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £0.1m (2010 – £0.1m) for the audit of the main Group pension scheme.

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 62 and includes an explanation of how 
objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Note 4  Employment costs, including Directors’ remuneration

2011
£m

2010
£m

Wages and salaries 5,467 5,057
Social security costs 470 435
Post-employment defined benefits (note 28) 528 391
Post-employment defined contributions (note 28) 14 12
Share-based payments expense (note 27) 289 300

6,768 6,195

The average number of employees by operating segment during the financial  
year was:

Average number 
of employees

Average number of 
full-time equivalents

2011 2010 2011 2010

UK 293,676 287,266 200,966 196,604
Asia 104,071 94,536 96,481 89,310
Rest of Europe 89,559 86,642 82,270 77,847
US 4,134 3,246 3,448 2,259
Tesco Bank 1,274 404 1,224 393
Total 492,714 472,094 384,389 366,413
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Note 5  Finance income and costs

2011
£m

2010
£m

Finance income
Bank interest receivable and similar income on cash and cash equivalents 131 114
IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements 19 151
Total finance income 150  265

Finance costs
Interest payable on short-term bank loans and overdrafts repayable within five years (101)  (135)
Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (10)  (9)
GBP MTN (233) (240)
EUR MTN (194) (232)
USD MTN (57) (57)
Other MTNs (17) (13)
Capitalised interest (note 11) 147 155
Total finance costs (on historical cost basis) (465) (531)
Net pension finance cost (note 28) (18) (48)
Total finance costs (483) (579)

GBP MTNs
Interest payable on the 4% RPI GBP MTN 2016 includes £12m (2010 – £1m) of Retail Price Index (RPI) related amortisation.
Interest payable on the 3.322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 includes £10m (2010 – £2m) of RPI related amortisation.
Interest payable on the 1.982% RPI GBP MTN 2036 includes £11m (2010 – £1m) of RPI related amortisation.
During the financial year the Group redeemed £126m of the 5% GBP MTN maturing 2023.
During the financial year the Group redeemed £127m of the 5% GBP MTN maturing 2042.
During the financial year the Group redeemed £221m of the 5.2% GBP MTN maturing 2057.
EUR MTNs
During the financial year the Group redeemed €111m of the 3.875% EUR MTN maturing 2011.
During the financial year the Group redeemed €461m of the 5.875% EUR MTN maturing 2016.

Note 6  Taxation

Recognised in the Group Income Statement

2011
£m

2010
£m

Current tax expense
UK corporation tax 694 566
Foreign tax 181 128
Adjustments in respect of prior years (114) (91)
 761  603
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 148 110
Adjustments in respect of prior years 12 124
Change in tax rate (57) 3

103 237
Total income tax expense 864 840

A number of changes to the UK corporation tax system were announced in the June 2010 Budget Statement. The Finance (No.2) Act 2010 included 
legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 28% to 27% from 1 April 2011. The proposed reduction from 28% to 27% was substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date and has therefore been reflected in these Group financial statements.

In addition to the changes in rates of corporation tax disclosed above, a number of further changes to the UK corporation tax system were announced 
in the March 2011 UK Budget Statement. A resolution passed by Parliament on 29 March 2011 reduced the main rate of corporation tax to 26% from 
1 April 2011. Legislation to reduce the main rate of corporation tax from 26% to 25% from 1 April 2012 is expected to be included in the Finance Act 
2011. Further reductions to the main rate are proposed to reduce the rate by 1% per annum to 23% by 1 April 2014. None of these expected rate 
reductions had been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not reflected in these Group financial statements. 

The effect of the changes enacted by Parliament on 29 March 2011 to reduce the corporation tax rate to 26%, with effect from 1 April 2011, is to  
reduce the deferred tax liability provided at the balance sheet date by £32m (£46m increase in profit and £14m decrease in the Group Statement  
of Comprehensive Income). 

The effect of the changes expected to be enacted in the Finance Act 2011 to reduce the corporation tax rate from 26% to 25%, with effect from  
1 April 2012, would be to reduce the deferred tax liability provided at the balance sheet date by a further £32m (£46m increase in profit and £14m 
decrease in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income). 

The proposed reductions of the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per year to 23% by 1 April 2014 are expected to be enacted separately each year. 
The overall effect of the further changes from 25% to 23%, if these applied to the deferred tax balance at the balance sheet date, would be to reduce 
the deferred tax liability by £66m (being £33m recognised in 2013 and £33m recognised in 2014).
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Note 6  Taxation continued

Reconciliation of effective tax charge

2011
£m

2010
£m

Profit before tax 3,535 3,176
Tax charge at 28% (2010 – 28%) (990) (889)
Effect of:

Non-deductible expenses (136) (13)
Differences in overseas taxation rates 99 93
Adjustments in respect of prior years 102 (33)
Share of profits of joint ventures and associates 4 5
Change in tax rate 57 (3) 

Total income tax charge for the year (864) (840)
Effective tax rate 24.4% 26.4%

Tax on items credited directly to the Group Statement of Changes in Equity

2011
£m

2010
£m

Current tax credit on:
Share-based payments 7  15

Deferred tax (charge)/credit on:
Share-based payments (7)  3

Total tax on items credited to Group Statement of Changes in Equity – 18

 
Tax relating to components of the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

2011
£m

2010
£m

Current tax credit/(charge) on: 
Foreign exchange movements 31 (33)
Fair value of movement on available-for-sale investments (1) –

Deferred tax (charge)/credit on:
Pensions (184)  87
Fair value movements on cash flow hedges 1 –

Total tax on items (charged)/credited to Group Statement of Comprehensive Income (153) 54

Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and prior financial years:

Property- 
related 

items*
£m

Retirement
benefit

obligation
£m

Share-based
payments

£m

Short-term
timing

differences
£m

Tax losses
£m

Financial 
Instruments

£m

Other
pre/post

tax temporary
differences

£m
Total

£m

At 28 February 2009 (1,247) 417 44 90 16 47 6 (627)
(Charge)/credit to the  

Group Income Statement (257) 7 9 (7) 21 (11) 1 (237)
Credit to Group Statement of  

Changes in Equity – – 3 – – – – 3
Credit to Group Statement of  

Comprehensive Income – 87 – – – – – 87
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – 2 – – 2
Foreign exchange and other movements 8 – – 8 2 – (3) 15
At 27 February 2010 (1,496) 511 56 91 41 36 4 (757)
(Charge)/credit to the  

Group Income Statement (101) 35 (2) 5 (10) (33) 3 (103)
Charge to Group Statement of  

Changes in Equity – – (7) – – – – (7)
Charge to Group Statement of  

Comprehensive Income – (184) – – – 1 – (183)
Foreign exchange and other movements 5 – – (2) 1 – – 4
At 26 February 2011 (1,592) 362 47 94 32 4 7 (1,046)

* �Property-related items include deferred tax liability on rolled over gains of £335m (2010 – £294m) and deferred tax assets of £70m (2010 – £nil) on capital losses of £260m (2010 – £342m). 
The remaining balance relates to accelerated tax depreciation.
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Note 6  Taxation continued

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset and analysed as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Deferred tax assets 48 38
Deferred tax liabilities (1,094)  (795)

(1,046) (757)

The deferred tax balance is considered to be non-current.

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures, because the earnings are continually reinvested 
by the Group and no tax is expected to be payable on them in the foreseeable future. The temporary difference unrecognised at the year end 
amounted to £3.0bn (2010 – £2.7bn). The deferred tax on unremitted earnings at 26 February 2011 is estimated to be £90m (2010 – £50m) which 
relates to taxes payable on repatriation and dividend withholding taxes levied by overseas tax jurisdictions. UK tax legislation relating to company 
distributions provides for exemption from tax for most repatriated profits, subject to certain exceptions.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the Group can utilise the benefits):

2011
£m

2010
£m

Deductible temporary differences 19 1
Tax losses 403 286

422 287

As at 26 February 2011 the Group has unused trading tax losses of £1,309m (2010 – £1,019m) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of £109m (2010 – £142m) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining 
£1,200m (2010 – £877m) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of £390m that will expire 
in 2015 (2010 – £297m in 2014) and £744m that will expire between 2016 and 2031 (2010 – £550m between 2015 and 2030). Other losses will be 
carried forward indefinitely. 

Note 7  Non-current assets classified as held for sale

2011
£m

2010
£m

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 431 373

The non-current assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties in the UK due to be sold within one year.

Note 8  Dividends

2011 2010

pence/share £m pence/share £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to owners in the financial year:
Final dividend for the prior financial year 9.16 730 8.39 660
Interim dividend for the current financial year 4.37 351 3.89 308

13.53 1,081 12.28 968
 Proposed final dividend for the current financial year 10.09 812  9.16 731

The proposed final dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on 18 April 2011 and is subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting. The proposed dividend has not been included as a liability as at 26 February 2011, in accordance with IAS 10 ‘Events After the  
Balance Sheet Date’. It will be paid on 8 July 2011 to shareholders who are on the register of members at close of business on 3 May 2011.
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Note 9  Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares in issue during the financial year adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive options. The dilutive effect is calculated on the full 
exercise of all potentially dilutive ordinary share options granted by the Group, including performance-based options which the Group considers to have 
been earned.

2011 2010

From continuing operations Basic 

Potentially
 dilutive

share options Diluted Basic

Potentially
 dilutive

share options Diluted

Profit (£m) 2,655 – 2,655 2,327 – 2,327
Weighted average number of shares (millions) 8,020 41 8,061 7,933 39 7,972
Earnings per share (pence) 33.10 (0.16) 32.94 29.33 (0.14) 29.19

There have been no transactions involving ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of approval of these financial statements which 
would significantly change the earnings per share calculations shown above.

Reconciliation of non-GAAP underlying diluted earnings per share

2011 2010

£m pence/share £m pence/share

Profit 2,655 32.94 2,327 29.19
Adjustments for:

IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements (19) (0.23) (151) (1.90)
IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ – non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions 113 1.40  24 0.30
IAS 17 ‘Leases’ – impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods 50 0.62 41 0.52
�IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – intangible asset amortisation charges and  
costs arising from acquisitions 42 0.52 127 1.59
IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ – fair value of awards 8 0.10 14 0.18
IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ – impairment of goodwill arising on acquisitions 55 0.68 131 1.64
Restructuring costs 29 0.36 33 0.41

Tax effect of adjustments at the effective rate of tax (2011 – 24.1%*; 2010 – 25.4%) (54) (0.67) (22) (0.27)
Underlying earnings from operations 2,879 35.72 2,524 31.66

* The effective tax rate of 24.1% (2010 – 25.4%) excludes certain permanent differences on which tax relief is not available.
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Note 10  Goodwill and other intangible assets

Internally
generated

development
costs

£m

Pharmacy
and

software
licences

£m

Other
intangible

assets
£m

Goodwill
£m

Total
£m

Cost
At 27 February 2010 1,133 368 335 3,566 5,402
Foreign currency translation – (5) (2) (48) (55)
Additions 243 128 2 82 455
Reclassification (74) 74 7 – 7
Disposals (2) (2) – – (4)
At 26 February 2011 1,300 563 342 3,600 5,805

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 27 February 2010 574 242 180 229 1,225
Foreign currency translation – (5) – – (5)
Amortisation for the year 100 52 43 – 195
Impairment losses for the year – – – 55 55
Disposals (2) (1) – – (3)
At 26 February 2011 672 288 223 284 1,467

Net carrying value
At 26 February 2011 628 275 119 3,316 4,338
At 27 February 2010 559 126 155 3,337 4,177

Internally
generated

development
costs

£m

Pharmacy
and

software
licences

£m

Other
intangible

assets
£m

Goodwill
£m

Total
£m

Cost
At 28 February 2009 879 310 318 3,332 4,839
Foreign currency translation 9 11 14 136 170
Additions 111 50 2 98 261
Reclassification 136 (1) 1 1 137
Disposals (2) (2) – (1) (5)
At 27 February 2010 1,133 368 335 3,566 5,402

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 28 February 2009 426 197 42 98 763
Foreign currency translation 3 6 3 1 13
Amortisation for the year 103 43 131 – 277
Reclassification 42 (3) 4 (1) 42
Impairment losses for the year – – – 131 131
Disposals – (1) – – (1)
At 27 February 2010 574 242 180 229 1,225

Net carrying value
At 27 February 2010 559 126 155 3,337 4,177
At 28 February 2009 453  113  276 3,234  4,076

There are no intangible assets, other than goodwill, with indefinite useful lives.
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Note 10  Goodwill and other intangible assets continued

Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill arising on business combinations is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if there are 
indications that goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-generating units according  
to the level at which management monitor that goodwill.

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are based on the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is calculated  
from cash flow projections for generally five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board.  
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management 
estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the  
cash-generating units. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of future changes in the market. 
Given the current economic climate, a sensitivity analysis has been performed in assessing the recoverable amounts of goodwill.

During the financial year, the remaining carrying amount of goodwill for Japan was reduced to nil through the recognition of an impairment loss  
of £55m (2010 – £131m). This has been included in cost of sales in the Group Income Statement. 

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 8% to 14% (2010 – 6% to 14%). On a post-tax basis, the discount rates ranged 
from 6% to 12% (2010 – 4% to 13%). These discount rates are derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital, as adjusted for  
the specific risks relating to each geographical region. 

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth rates of 2% to 5% (2010 – 1% to 4%).

In February 2011 and 2010 impairment reviews were performed by comparing the carrying value of goodwill with the recoverable amount of the  
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. 

The components of goodwill are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

UK 645 645
Tesco Bank 802 802
Thailand 161 157
South Korea 468 489
Japan – 55

China 582 594
Malaysia 83 77
Poland 401 424
Czech Republic 34 35
Turkey 50 54
US 78 –
Other 12 5

3,316 3,337
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Note 11  Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m
Total

£m

Cost
At 27 February 2010 23,385 8,398 31,783
Foreign currency translation (257) (153) (410)
Additions(b) 2,577 697 3,274
Acquisitions through business combinations 22 24 46
Reclassification (673) 301 (372)
Classified as held for sale (110) – (110)
Disposals (1,465) (176) (1,641)
At 26 February 2011 23,479 9,091 32,570

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 27 February 2010 2,700 4,880 7,580
Foreign currency translation (21) (55) (76)
Charge for the year 412 782 1,194
Impairment losses for the year 20 3 23
Reversal of impairment losses for the year (38) – (38)
Reclassification (199) 3 (196)
Classified as held for sale (29) – (29)
Disposals (140) (146) (286)
At 26 February 2011 2,705 5,467 8,172

Net carrying value(c)(d)(e)

At 26 February 2011 20,774 3,624 24,398
At 27 February 2010 20,685 3,518 24,203

Construction in progress included above(f) 

At 26 February 2011 1,267 196 1,463

(a)	�Other assets consist of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles.
(b)	�Includes £147m (2010 – £155m) in respect of interest capitalised, principally relating  

to land and building assets. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of  
finance costs capitalised during the financial year was 5.1% (2010 – 5.1%). Interest  
capitalised is deducted in determining taxable profit in the financial year in which  
it is incurred.

(c)	�Net carrying value includes:
 	 (i) Capitalised interest at 26 February 2011 of £1,084m (2010 – £1,012m (restated)).
 	 (ii) Assets held under finance leases which are analysed below:

2011 2010

 

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m

Cost 139 580 139 582
Accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses (24) (462) (36) (430)
Net carrying value 115 118 103 152

These assets are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities.

(d)	The net carrying value of land and buildings comprises:

 
2011

£m
2010

£m

Freehold 18,094 17,855
Long leasehold – 50 years or more 677 971
Short leasehold – less than 50 years 2,003 1,859
Net carrying value 20,774 20,685

(e)	�Carrying value of land and buildings includes £2m (2010 – £3m) relating to the  
prepayment of lease premiums.

(f )	Construction in progress does not include land.
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Note 11  Property, plant and equipment continued

Land and
buildings

£m
Other(a)

£m
Total

£m

Cost
At 28 February 2009 22,349 7,495 29,844
Foreign currency translation 793 234 1,027
Additions(b) 2,189 735 2,924
Reclassification (279) 71 (208)
Classified as held for sale 2 4 6
Disposals (1,669) (141) (1,810)
At 27 February 2010 23,385 8,398 31,783

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At 28 February 2009 2,540 4,152 6,692
Foreign currency translation 80 121 201
Charge for the year 354 737 1,091
Impairment losses for the year 51 – 51
Reversal of impairment losses for the year (74) – (74)
Reclassification (34) (48) (82)
Classified as held for sale (39) 1 (38)
Disposals (178) (83) (261)
At 27 February 2010 2,700 4,880 7,580 

Net carrying value(c)(d)(e)

At 27 February 2010 20,685 3,518 24,203
At 28 February 2009 19,809 3,343 23,152

Construction in progress included above(f) 

At 27 February 2010 1,652 193 1,845

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group has determined that for the purposes of impairment testing, each store is a cash-generating unit. Cash-generating units are tested for 
impairment if there are indications of impairment at the balance sheet date.

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are mainly based on value in use, which is generally calculated from cash flow projections for five to 
20 years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes in margins. Management estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates 
that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating units. Changes in selling prices and 
direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of future changes in the market.

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates of 2% to 5% (2010 – 1% to 4%).

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 6% to 14% (2010 – 6% to 14%) depending on the specific conditions in which 
each store operates. These discount rates are derived from the Group’s post-tax weighted average cost of capital.
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Note 11  Property, plant and equipment continued

The following amounts have been credited/(charged) to cost of sales in the Group Income Statement:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Impairment losses
UK (14) (27)
Asia – (6)
Rest of Europe (1) (18)
US (8) –

(23) (51)
Reversal of impairment losses
UK 14 27
Asia 13 10
Rest of Europe 11 37

38 74
Net reversal of impairment losses 15 23

The impairment losses relate to stores whose recoverable amounts do not exceed the asset carrying values. In all cases, impairment losses arose due 
to stores performing below forecasted trading levels.

The reversal of previous impairment losses arose principally due to improvements in stores’ performances over the last year, which increased the net 
present value of future cash flows.

Note 12 In vestment property 

2011
£m

2010
£m

Cost
At beginning of year 1,919 1,660
Foreign currency translation (35) 172
Additions 24 16
Reclassification 197  71
Classified as held for sale (2)  –
Disposals (11) –
At end of year 2,092 1,919

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At beginning of year 188 121
Foreign currency translation (3) 14
Charge for the year 31 16
Impairment losses for the year 2 –
Reversal of impairment losses for the year – (3)
Reclassification 11 40
At end of year 229 188
Net carrying value 1,863 1,731
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Note 12 In vestment property continued

The following amounts have been (charged)/credited to cost of sales in the Group Income Statement:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Impairment losses
Rest of Europe (2) –

(2) –
Reversal of impairment losses
Rest of Europe – 3

– 3

Net (impairment charge)/reversal of impairment losses (2) 3

The impairment losses relate to malls whose recoverable amounts do not exceed the asset carrying values. In all cases, impairment losses arose due to 
the malls performing below forecasted trading levels.

The reversal of previous impairment losses arose principally due to improvements in the performance of malls over the last year, which increased the 
net present value of cash flows.

The estimated fair value of the Group’s investment property is £4.4bn (2010 – £2.8bn). This fair value has been determined by applying an appropriate 
rental yield to the rentals earned by the investment property. A valuation has not been performed by an independent valuer.

Note 13  Group entities 

Principal subsidiaries
The Group consolidates its subsidiary undertakings and its principal subsidiaries are:

Business activity

Share of issued
ordinary share capital

and voting rights

Country of incorporation
and principal country

of operation

Tesco Stores Limited Retail  100% England
One Stop Stores Limited(a) Retail 100% England
Tesco Ireland Limited Retail  100% Republic of Ireland
Tesco-Global Stores Privately Held Co. Limited Retail  100% Hungary
Tesco Polska Sp. z o.o. Retail  100% Poland
Tesco Stores C R a.s. Retail 100% Czech Republic
Tesco Stores S R a.s. Retail 100% Slovakia
Tesco Kipa Kitle Paza rlama Ticaret ve Gide Sanai A.Ş.(a) Retail 93% Turkey
Homeplus Co., Limited (formerly Samsung Tesco Co. Limited) Retail 97% South Korea
Homeplus Tesco Co., Limited (formerly Homever Tesco Co. Limited) Retail 100% South Korea
Ek-Chai Distribution System Co. Limited Retail 86%(b) Thailand
Tesco Stores (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Retail  70% Malaysia
Tesco Japan Co., Limited Retail  100% Japan
Tesco Management (Shanghai) Corporation Limited Retail 100% People’s Republic of China
Dobbies Garden Centres PLC Retail  100% Scotland
Fresh & Easy Neighborhood Market Inc Retail 100% US
Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited(a) 

(trading as Tesco Bank) Financial Services 100% Scotland
Tesco Distribution Limited Distribution 100% England
Tesco Property Holdings Limited Property 100% England
Tesco International Sourcing Limited Purchasing 100% Hong Kong
dunnhumby Limited Data Analysis 100% England
ELH Insurance Limited Self-insurance 100% Guernsey
Valiant Insurance Company Limited Self-insurance 100% Republic of Ireland

(a)	Held by the Parent Company (all other principal subsidiaries are held by an intermediate subsidiary). 
(b)	The Group has 86% of voting rights and 39% of issued ordinary share capital in Ek-Chai Distribution System Co. Limited.

The accounting period ends of the subsidiary undertakings consolidated in these financial statements are on or around 26 February 2011. A full list  
of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next Annual Return filed at Companies House. There are no significant restrictions on  
the ability of subsidiary undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the Companies Act 2006.
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Note 13  Group entities continued

Interests in joint ventures and associates
The Group uses the equity method of accounting for its interest in joint ventures and associates. The following table shows the aggregate movement 
in the Group’s investment in joint ventures and associates:

Joint ventures
£m

Associates
£m

Total
£m

At 28 February 2009 49 13 62
Additions 83 – 83
Foreign currency translation 9 – 9
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates 29 4 33
Income received from joint ventures and associates (34) (1) (35)
At 27 February 2010 136 16 152
Additions 88 86 174
Foreign currency translation (5) – (5)
Share of post-tax profits/(losses) of joint ventures and associates 65 (8) 57
Income received from joint ventures and associates (60) (2) (62)
At 26 February 2011 224 92 316

Significant joint ventures 
The Group’s principal joint ventures are:

Business activity

Share of issued share 
capital, loan capital and

debt securities

Country of incorporation 
and principal country 

of operation

Shopping Centres Limited* Property Investment 50% England
BLT Properties Limited* Property Investment 50% England
Tesco British Land Property Partnership Property Investment 50% England

Tesco Red Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Aqua Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Jade Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Coral Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Blue Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Fushun Jinxiu Real Estate Development Co Limited Property Investment 50% People’s Republic of China
Anshan Real Estate Development Co Limited Property Investment 50% People’s Republic of China
Tesco Qinhuangdo Property Limited Property Investment 50% People’s Republic of China
Arena (Jersey) Management Limited Property Investment 50% Jersey
The Tesco Property Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
The Tesco Property (No. 2) Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% Jersey
The Tesco Passaic Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
The Tesco Navona Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Mobile Limited Telecommunications 50% England

* Held by the Parent Company (all other principal subsidiaries are held by an intermediate subsidiary).

The accounting period ends of the joint ventures consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2010 to 28 February 2011. 
Accounting period end dates differ from those of the Group arise for commercial reasons and depend upon the requirements of the joint venture 
partner as well as those of the Group.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of joint ventures to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the Companies Act 2006.
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Note 13  Group entities continued

The share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit of the joint ventures, which are included in the Group financial statements, are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Non-current assets 2,720 2,216
Current assets 577 359
Current liabilities (1,957) (411)
Non-current liabilities (1,123) (2,041)
Goodwill 7 1
Cumulative unrecognised losses – 12

224 136
Revenue 369 355

Expenses (304) (326)
Profit for the year 65 29

The unrecognised share of losses made by joint ventures during the financial year was £7m (2010 – £3m).

Associates 
The Group’s principal associates are:

Business activity

Share of issued share capital,
loan capital and debt 

securities

Country of incorporation  
and principal country  

 of operation

Greenergy International Limited* Fuel Supplier 34% England
Tesco Underwriting Limited*  Insurance 49.9%  England 

* Held by an intermediate subsidiary.

On 18 May 2010 the Group acquired an additional 13% of the ordinary share capital of Greenergy International Limited for a cash consideration of £16m, 
taking the Group’s holding to 34%.

The share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit of the Group’s associates, which are included in the Group financial statements, are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Assets 535 156
Liabilities (452) (142)
Goodwill 9 2

92 16
Revenue 1,551 473
(Loss)/profit for the year (8) 4

The accounting period ends of the associates consolidated in these financial statements range from 31 December 2010 to 28 February 2011. The 
accounting period end dates of the associates are different from those of the Group as they depend upon the requirements of the parent companies 
of those entities.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of associated undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the 
Companies Act 2006.

Note 14 O ther investments 

2011
£m

2010
£m

Loan receivable 259 259
Available-for-sale financial assets 849 604

1,108 863

The loan receivable comprises an interest-free subordinated loan made by Tesco Bank to Royal Bank of Scotland Insurance Group Limited. This loan 
has no interest receivable and no fixed repayment date. 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in bonds and certificates of deposit with varied maturities of which £202m (2010 – £224m)  
is current.
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Note 14 O ther investments continued

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group’s other investments during the year:

2011
£m

2010
£m

At beginning of year 863 259
Additions 999 603
Disposals and maturities (735) –
Foreign currency translation (10) –
IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ – fair value remeasurements (9) 1
At end of year 1,108 863

Note 15 In ventories

2011
£m

2010
£m

Goods held for resale 3,142 2,726
Development properties 20 3

3,162 2,729

Note 16 T rade and other receivables

2011
£m

2010
£m

Prepayments and accrued income 387 337
Other receivables 1,400 1,236
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (note 30) 527 315

2,314 1,888

Included within trade and other receivables are the following amounts receivable after more than one year:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Prepayments and accrued income 31 31
Other receivables 378 346
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates 432 309

841 686

Trade and other receivables are generally non interest-bearing. Credit terms vary by country and the nature of the debt, ranging from seven to 60 days. 

Trade receivables are recorded at amortised cost, less provision for impairment.

Provision for impairment of receivables

£m

At 28 February 2009 (44)
Foreign currency translation (5)
Charge for the year (3)
Uncollectible amounts written off –
Recoveries of amounts previously written off 5
At 27 February 2010 (47)
Foreign currency translation 2
Charge for the year (5)
Uncollectible amounts written off 6
Recoveries of amounts previously written off –
At 26 February 2011 (44)
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Note 16 T rade and other receivables continued

As at 26 February 2011 trade and other receivables of £37m (2010 – £49m) were past due and impaired. The amount of the provision was £44m  
(2010 – £47m). The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Up to three months past due 4 8
Three to six months past due 3 4
Over six months past due 30 37

37 49

As at 26 February 2011 trade and other receivables of £144m (2010 – £115m) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these receivables 
is as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Up to three months past due 114 97
Three to six months past due 13 10
Over six months past due 17 8

144 115

No receivables have been renegotiated in the current or prior financial years.

Note 17 L oans and advances to customers

Tesco Bank has loans and advances to customers.

2011
£m

2010
£m

Current 2,514 2,268
Non-current 2,127 1,844

4,641 4,112

The maturity of these loans and advances is as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Repayable on demand or at short notice 1 1
Within three months 2,572 2,370
Greater than three months but less than one year 47 70
Greater than one year but less than five years 1,700 1,504
After five years 503 481

4,823 4,426
Provision for impairment of loans and advances (182) (314)

4,641 4,112

Loans and advances include amounts subject to securitisation of £1,356m (2010 – £1,459m). During 2008 the Group entered into a securitisation 
transaction and issued debt securities which the Group subsequently purchased. The purpose of the transaction was to allow the Group to enter into 
the Special Liquidity Scheme whereby it would enter into a sale and repurchase agreement acquiring Treasury Bills issued by the UK Government and 
using the debt securities as security. As at 26 February 2011 the Group held £296m (2010 – £500m) in respect of this transaction. The Treasury Bills 
do not meet the recognition criteria of IAS 39 and are not recognised on the Group Balance Sheet.

Provision for impairment of loans and advances

£m

At 28 February 2009 (250)
Charge for the year (177)
Uncollectible amounts written off 119
Recoveries of amounts previously written off (10)
Unwind of discount 4
At 27 February 2010 (314)
Charge for the year (131)
Uncollectible amounts written off 268
Recoveries of amounts previously written off (9)
Unwind of discount 4
At 26 February 2011 (182)
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Note 17 L oans and advances to customers continued

At 26 February 2011 Tesco Bank’s non-accrual loans were £212m (2010 – £373m). Loan impairment provisions of £182m (2010 – £314m) were held 
against these loans. During the year ended 26 February 2011 the gross income not recognised but which would have been recognised under the 
original terms of non-accrual loans was £8m (2010 – £29m).

At 26 February 2011 loans and advances to customers of £73m (2010 – £75m) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these loans and 
advances is as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Up to one month past due 54 55
Up to two months past due 13 13

Two to three months past due 6 7 

73 75

Note 18 L oans and advances to banks and other financial assets

Tesco Bank has loans and advances to banks and other financial assets with the following maturity: 

2011
£m

2010
£m

Within three months 404 144

There are no loans and advances to banks and other financial assets which are past due and impaired.

Note 19  Cash and cash equivalents

2011
£m

2010
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 1,785 2,062
Short-term deposits 85 757

1,870 2,819

Cash of £1,022m (2010 – £1,314m) held on money market funds is classed as short-term investments.

Note 20 T rade and other payables

2011
£m

2010
£m

Trade payables 5,782 5,084
Other taxation and social security 514 487

Other payables 2,274 2,014

Amounts payable to joint ventures and associates (note 30) 4 42

Accruals and deferred income 1,910 1,815

10,484 9,442

Included in other payables are amounts of £181m (2010 – £160m) which are non-current.

 financial statements

124  —  Tesco plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011

Notes to the Group financial statements



Note 21 B orrowings

Current

Par value
Maturity

year
2011

£m
2010

£m

Bank loans and overdrafts – – 437  575
Loan from joint ventures (note 30) – – 26  23
6.625% MTN £150m 2010 – 158
4.75% MTN €750m 2010 –  704
3.875% MTN €389m 2011 346 –

LIBOR + 1.33% Bond – Tesco Bank £225m 2012 224 –

Other MTNs – – 303 24
Finance leases (note 36) – – 50  45

1,386 1,529 

Non-current

Par value
Maturity

year
2011

£m
2010

£m

3.875% MTN(a) €500m 2011 – 479
LIBOR + 1.33% Bond – Tesco Bank £225m 2012 – 224
5.625% MTN €1,500m 2012 1,317 1,375
5% MTN £600m 2014 606 604
5.125% MTN €600m 2015 510 539
4% RPI MTN(b) £263m 2016 276 270
5.875% MTN(c) €1,500m 2016 997 1,520
5.5% USD Bond $850m 2017 600 621
5.2% Tesco Bank Retail Bond £125m 2018 126 –
5.5% MTN £350m 2019 351 351
6.125% MTN £900m 2022 891 890
5% MTN(d) £515m 2023 390 520
3.322% LPI MTN(e) £265m 2025 279 269
6% MTN £200m 2029 218 212
5.5% MTN £200m 2033 215 210
1.982% RPI MTN(f) £221m 2036 231 222
6.15% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 804 834
5% MTN(g) £300m 2042 174 306
5.125% MTN €600m 2047 577 587
5.2% MTN(h) £500m 2057 274 500
Other MTNs – – 169 267
Other loans – – 536 780
Finance leases (note 36) – – 148 164

9,689 11,744

(a)	During the financial year the Group redeemed €111m of the 3.875% MTN maturing 2011.
(b)	The 4% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index (RPI) over the life of the MTN.
(c)	During the financial year the Group redeemed €461m of the 5.875% MTN maturing 2016.
(d)	During the financial year the Group redeemed £126m of the 5% MTN maturing 2023.
(e)	�The 3.322% Limited Price Inflation (LPI) MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the principal in any one year is 5%, 

with a minimum of 0%.
(f )	The 1.982% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. 
(g)	During the financial year the Group redeemed £127m of the 5% GBP MTN maturing 2042.
(h)	During the financial year the Group redeemed £221m of the 5.2% GBP MTN maturing 2057.

Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed facilities available at 26 February 2011, in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met as 
at that date:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Expiring between one and two years – 1,000
Expiring in more than two years 2,825 1,600

2,825 2,600

All facilities incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at floating rates.
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Note 22  Financial instruments 

Derivatives are used to hedge exposure to market risks and those that are held as hedging instruments are formally designated as hedges as defined 
in IAS 39. Derivatives may qualify as hedges for accounting purposes and the Group’s hedging policies are further described below. 

Finance income of £27m (2010 – £20m) resulted from hedge ineffectiveness.

Fair value hedges
The Group maintains interest rate and cross currency swap contracts as fair value hedges of the interest rate and currency risk on fixed rate debt 
issued by the Group. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Group Income 
Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument and hedged item is recognised in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs. If the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying value of the hedged item is amortised to the Group Income Statement under the effective 
interest rate method.

A loss of £369m on hedging instruments was recognised during the year, offset by a gain of £396m on hedged items (2010 – a loss of £65m on 
hedging instruments was offset by a gain of £85m on hedged items).

Cash flow hedges
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to hedge the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denominated 
in a currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing company. Where these contracts qualify for hedge accounting, mark-to-market 
gains and losses are deferred in equity. These hedging instruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars. The cash flows 
hedged will occur and will affect the Group Income Statement within one year of the balance sheet date. 

The Group also uses index-linked swaps to hedge cash flows on index-linked debt, interest rate swaps to hedge interest cash flows on debt and  
cross currency swaps to hedge intercompany loan cash flows denominated in South Korean Won (KRW).

Net investment hedges 
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts, currency denominated borrowings and currency swaps to hedge the exposure of a proportion  
of its non-Sterling denominated assets against changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group has a KRW denominated liability relating to the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary, Homeplus Co. Limited (formerly 
Samsung Tesco Co. Limited). This liability has been designated as a net investment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Homeplus Co. Limited.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the Group Income Statement on disposal of the overseas operation.

Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting
The Group’s policy is not to use derivatives for trading purposes, however, some derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, or are specifically  
not designated as a hedge where gains and losses on the hedging instrument and the hedged item naturally offset in the Group Income Statement.

These instruments include caps, interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments 
that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs.

The Group had a liability relating to the future purchases of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary, dunnhumby Limited, which has been purchased 
during the financial year. Changes in the value of that liability were recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement within finance income or 
costs.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group Balance Sheet as follows:

2011 2010

Asset
£m

Liability
£m

Asset
£m

Liability
£m

Current 148 (255) 224 (146)
Non-current 1,139 (600) 1,250 (776)

1,287 (855) 1,474 (922)
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Note 22  Financial instruments continued

The fair value and notional amounts of derivatives analysed by hedge type are as follows:
2011 2010

Asset Liability Asset Liability

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value
£m

Notional
£m

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 27 1,410 (57) 1,844 10 685 (88) 2,304
Cross currency swaps 717 2,674 (28) 714 1,130 4,513 (45) 259
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – – (54) 455 – – (40) 555
Cross currency swaps 126 298 (151) 784 129 315 (205) 1,064
Index-linked swaps – – (8) 772 – – – –
Forward foreign currency contracts 8 346 (12) 1,269 19 483 (15) 600
Net investment hedges
Cross currency swaps – – – – – – (30) 124
Forward foreign currency contracts 19 383 (97) 952 19 244 (172) 1,037
Future purchases of non-controlling interests – – (106) – – – (105) –
Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 1 25 (1) 25 1 145 (5) 355
Cross currency swaps 2 84 (10) 65 2 204 (25) 533
Index-linked swaps 376 2,639 (311) 2,639 139 995 (109) 995
Forward foreign currency contracts 11 523 (20) 720 25 635 (42) 1,254
Future purchases of non-controlling interests – – – – – – (41) –
Total 1,287 8,382 (855) 10,239 1,474 8,219 (922) 9,080

The carrying value and fair value of financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

2011 2010

Carrying
value

£m

Fair
value

£m

Carrying
value

£m

Fair
value

£m

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,870 1,870 2,819 2,819
Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank 4,641 4,636 4,112 4,325
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets – Tesco Bank 404 404 144 144
Short-term investments 1,022 1,022 1,314 1,314
Other investments – Tesco Bank 1,108 1,093 863 848
Joint venture and associates loan receivables (note 30) 503 514 309 309
Other receivables 25 25 – –

Derivative financial assets:   
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 28 28 11 11
Cross currency swaps 845 845 1,261 1,261
Index-linked swaps 376 376 139 139
Forward foreign currency contracts 38 38 63 63

Total financial assets 10,860 10,851 11,035 11,233
 

Liabilities
Short-term borrowings:

Amortised cost (708) (707) (771) (770)
Bonds in fair value hedge relationships (628) (614) (713) (683)

Long-term borrowings:
Amortised cost (4,584) (4,678) (5,513) (5,617)
Bonds in fair value hedge relationships (4,957) (4,915) (6,067) (5,992)

Finance leases (Group as lessee – note 36) (198) (198) (209) (209)
Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (5,074) (5,081) (4,357) (4,357)
Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank (36) (36) (30) (30)
Derivative and other financial liabilities:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments (112) (112) 59 59
Cross currency swaps (189) (189) (305) (305)
Index-linked swaps (319) (319) (301) (301)
Forward foreign currency contracts (129) (129) (229) (229)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests (106) (106) (146) (146)

Total financial liabilities (17,040) (17,084) (18,582) (18,580)
Total (6,180) (6,233) (7,547) (7,347)
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Note 22  Financial instruments continued

The fair values of financial instruments have been determined by reference to prices available from the markets on which the instruments are traded, 
where they are available. Where market prices are not available, the fair value has been calculated by discounting expected future cash flows at 
prevailing interest rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments is the same as their carrying value.

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The accounting classifications of each class of financial assets and liabilities as at 26 February 2011 and 27 February 2010 are as follows:

At 26 February 2011

Available-
for-sale

£m

Loans and
receivables/

other financial
liabilities

£m

Fair value
through

profit or loss
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 1,870 – 1,870
Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank – 4,641 – 4,641
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets – Tesco Bank – 404 – 404
Short-term investments – 1,022 – 1,022
Other investments – Tesco Bank 849 259 – 1,108
Joint venture and associates loan receivables (note 30) – 503 – 503
Other receivables – 25 – 25
Customer deposits – Tesco Bank – (5,074) – (5,074)
Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank – (36) – (36)
Short-term borrowings – (1,336) – (1,336)
Long-term borrowings – (9,541) – (9,541)
Finance leases (note 36) – (198) – (198)
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – – (84) (84)
Cross currency swaps – – 656 656
Index-linked swaps – – 57 57
Forward foreign currency contracts – – (91) (91)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests – – (106) (106)

849 (7,461) 432 (6,180)

At 27 February 2010

Available-
for-sale

£m

Loans and
receivables/

other financial
liabilities

£m

Fair value
through

profit or loss
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 2,819 – 2,819
Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank – 4,112 – 4,112 
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets – Tesco Bank – 144 – 144
Short-term investments – 1,314 – 1,314 
Other investments – Tesco Bank 604 259 – 863 
Joint venture loan receivables (note 30) – 309 – 309
Customer deposits – Tesco Bank – (4,357) – (4,357)
Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank – (30) – (30)
Short-term borrowings – (1,484) – (1,484)
Long-term borrowings – (11,580) – (11,580)
Finance leases (note 36) – (209) – (209)
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – – (123) (123)
Cross currency swaps – – 956 956
Index-linked swaps – – 31 31
Forward foreign currency contracts – – (166) (166)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests – – (146) (146)

604 (8,703) 552 (7,547)
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Note 22  Financial instruments continued

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 26 February 2011, by level of fair value hierarchy:

•	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

•	 �inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

•	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Level 1
£m

Level 2
£m

Level 3
£m

Total
£m

Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 188 661 – 849
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – 28 – 28
Cross currency swaps – 845 – 845
Index-linked swaps – 376 – 376
Forward foreign currency contracts – 38 – 38

Total assets 188 1,948 – 2,136

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps and similar instruments – (112) – (112)
Cross currency swaps – (189) – (189)
Index-linked swaps – (319) – (319)
Forward foreign currency contracts – (129) – (129)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests – – (106) (106)

Total liabilities – (749) (106) (855)
Total 188 1,200 (106) 1,282

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments: 

2011
£m

2010
£m

At beginning of year (146) (200)
Losses recognised in finance costs in the Group Income Statement (6) (26)
Gains/(losses) recognised in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity 2 (11)
Cash flow 44 91
At end of year (106) (146)

During the financial year there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair 
value measurements. A reasonably possible change in assumptions is unlikely to result in a significant change in the fair value of Level 3 instruments.

Note 23  Financial risk factors

The main financial risks faced by the Group relate to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates, the risk of default by counterparties to 
financial transactions and the availability of funds to meet business needs. The management of these risks is set out below. The Group Balance Sheet 
position at 26 February 2011 is representative of the position throughout the financial year.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board provides written 
principles for risk management, as described in the Business Review on pages 51 to 57.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Debt issued at variable rates exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Debt issued at fixed 
rates exposes the Group to fair value risk. Our interest rate management policy is explained on page 56.

The Group has Retail Price Index (RPI) debt where the principal is indexed to increases in the RPI index. RPI debt is treated as floating rate debt.  
The Group also has Limited Price lnflation (LPI) debt, where the principal is indexed to RPI, with an annual maximum increase of 5% and a minimum 
of 0%. LPI debt is treated as fixed rate debt.

For interest rate risk relating to Tesco Bank, refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors below.
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Note 23  Financial risk factors continued

During 2011 and 2010, net debt was managed using derivative instruments to hedge interest rate risk as follows:

2011 2010

Fixed
£m

Floating
£m

Total
£m

Fixed
£m

Floating
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents – 1,870 1,870 – 2,819 2,819
Loans and advances to customers – Tesco Bank 2,161 2,480 4,641 1,827 2,285 4,112
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets – Tesco Bank 404 – 404 144 – 144
Short-term investments – 1,022 1,022 – 1,314 1,314
Other investments – Tesco Bank 925 183 1,108 581 282 863
Joint venture and associate, loan receivables (note 30) – 503 503 – 309 309
Other receivables – 25 25 – – –
Finance leases (note 36) (92) (106) (198) (83) (126) (209)
Bank and other borrowings (9,697) (1,180) (10,877) (11,806) (1,258) (13,064)
Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (398) (4,676) (5,074) – (4,357) (4,357)
Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank (36) – (36) (30) – (30)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests (106) – (106) (146) – (146)
Derivative effect:

Interest rate swaps (1,218) 1,218 – (2,215) 2,215 –
Cross currency swaps 3,459 (3,459) – 6,677 (6,677) –
Index-linked swaps (498) 498 – – – –
Caps and collars – – – 120 (120) –

Total (5,096) (1,622) (6,718) (4,931) (3,314) (8,245)

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, customer deposits, financial instruments and deposits with banks and 
financial institutions. The Group policy on credit risk is described on page 57.

The counterparty exposure under derivative contracts is £1,287m (2010 – £1,474m). The Group policy is to transact derivatives only with counterparties 
rated at least A1 by Moody’s.

The Group considers its maximum credit risk to be £10.9bn (2010 – £11.0bn), being the Group’s total financial assets.

For credit risk relating to Tesco Bank, refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors below.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is managed by short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts. In addition, the Group has committed facility agreements for £2.8bn  
(2010 – £2.6bn), which mature between 2014 and 2015.

The Group has a European Medium Term Note programme of £15.0bn, of which £8.5bn was in issue at 26 February 2011 (2010 – £10.6bn), plus  
a Euro Commercial Paper programme of £2.0bn, none of which was in issue at 26 February 2011 (2010 – £nil), and a US Commercial Paper 
programme of $4.0bn, none of which was in issue at 26 February 2011 (2010 – $nil). 

For liquidity risk relating to Tesco Bank, refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial risk factors below.

 financial statements

130  —  Tesco plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011

Notes to the Group financial statements



Note 23  Financial risk factors continued

The following is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows payable under financial liabilities and derivatives. The potential cash outflow of 
£17.1bn is considered acceptable as it is offset by financial assets and trade receivables of £13.2bn (2010 – £15.6bn offset by financial assets and trade 
receivables of £12.9bn).

The undiscounted cash flows will differ from both the carrying values and fair value. Floating rate interest is estimated using the prevailing rate at the 
balance sheet date. Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated using spot rates at the balance sheet date. For index-linked liabilities, inflation is 
estimated at 4% for the life of the liability.

At 26 February 2011

Due
within
1 year

£m

Due
between

1 and 2
years

£m

Due
between

2 and 3
years

£m

Due
between

3 and 4
years

£m

Due
between

4 and 5
years

£m

Due
beyond
5 years

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank and other borrowings (1,278) (1,587) (876) (622) – (6,647)
Interest payments on borrowings (518) (495) (395) (355) (326) (3,828)
Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (4,898) (173) (3) – – –
Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank (36) – – – – –
Finance leases (56) (36) (15) (15) (16) (205)
Trade and other payables (10,303) (84) (14) (7) (3) (73)
Derivative and other financial liabilities
Net settled derivative contracts – receipts 74 68 68 37 14 31
Net settled derivative contracts – payments (176) (109) (88) (76) (57) (697)
Gross settled derivative contracts – receipts 1,619 641 468 672 132 3,368
Gross settled derivative contracts – payments (1,404) (652) (341) (610) (60) (2,631)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests (85) (24) – – – –
Total (17,061) (2,451) (1,196) (976) (316) (10,682)

At 27 February 2010

Due
within
1 year

£m

Due
between

1 and 2
years

£m

Due
between

2 and 3
years

£m

Due
between

3 and 4
years

£m

Due
between

4 and 5
years

£m

Due
beyond
5 years

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Bank and other borrowings (1,484) (1,078) (1,615) (845) (637) (7,267)
Interest payments on borrowings (554) (518) (491) (405) (370) (4,605)
Customer deposits – Tesco Bank (4,357) – – – – –
Deposits by banks – Tesco Bank (30) – – – – –
Finance leases (49) (47) (33) (11) (10) (178)
Trade and other payables (9,282) (56) (26) (4) (7) (67)
Derivative and other financial liabilities
Net settled derivative contracts – receipts 71 50 50 48 21 19
Net settled derivative contracts – payments (164) (119) (59) (35) (56) (695)
Gross settled derivative contracts – receipts 1,966 1,747 757 867 759 5,273
Gross settled derivative contracts – payments (1,703) (1,362) (689) (866) (653) (3,792)
Future purchases of non-controlling interests – (131) (25) – – –
Total (15,586) (1,514) (2,131) (1,251) (953) (11,312)

Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk principally via:

•	 �Transactional exposure, from the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the purchasing company. Transactional exposures that could significantly impact the Group Income Statement are hedged. 
These exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges. The notional and fair value of these 
contracts is shown in note 22.

•	 �Net investment exposure, from the value of net investments outside the UK. The Group hedges a proportion of its investments in its international 
subsidiaries via foreign currency transactions and borrowings in matching currencies, which are formally designated as net investment hedges.

•	 �Loans to non-UK subsidiaries. These are hedged via foreign currency transactions and borrowings in matching currencies, which are not formally 
designated as hedges, as gains and losses on hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset.
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Note 23  Financial risk factors continued

The impact on Group financial statements from foreign currency volatility is shown in the sensitivity analysis below.

Sensitivity analysis
The analysis excludes the impact of movements in market variables on the carrying value of pension and other post-employment obligations and on  
the retranslation of overseas net assets as required by IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’. However, it does include the foreign 
exchange sensitivity resulting from all local entity non-functional currency financial instruments.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt and 
derivatives portfolio, and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the basis of the hedge designations  
in place at 26 February 2011. It should be noted that the sensitivity analysis reflects the impact on income and equity due to all financial instruments 
held at the balance sheet date. It does not reflect any change in sales or costs that may result from changing interest or exchange rates.

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

•	 �the sensitivity of interest payable to movements in interest rates is calculated on net floating rate debt, deposits and derivative instruments with no 
sensitivity assumed for RPI-linked debt;

•	 �changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as fair value hedges from movements in interest rates or foreign 
exchange rates have an immaterial effect on the Group Income Statement and equity due to compensating adjustments in the carrying value of debt;

•	 �changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as net investment hedges from movements in foreign exchange rates 
are recorded directly in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income;

•	 �changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments only affect the Group Income Statement;

•	 �all other changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are fully effective with no impact  
on the Group Income Statement; and 

•	 �the floating leg of any swap or any floating rate debt is treated as not having any interest rate already set, therefore a change in interest rates 
affects a full 12-month period for the interest payable portion of the sensitivity calculations.

Using the above assumptions, the following table shows the illustrative effect on the Group Income Statement and the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income that would result from changes in UK interest rates and in exchange rates:

2011 2010

Income
gain/(loss)

£m

Equity
gain/(loss)

£m

Income
gain/(loss)

£m

Equity
gain/(loss)

£m

1% increase in GBP interest rates (2010 – 1%) (14) – (38) –
 
5% appreciation of the Euro (2010 – 15%) 2 (46) (13) (43)
5% appreciation of the South Korean Won (2010 – 10%) (1) 1 – (82) 
5% appreciation of the US Dollar (2010 – 25%) 8 35 (1) (8) 
10% appreciation of the Thai Baht (2010 – 25%) – – – (1) 
5% appreciation of the Czech Koruna (2010 – 10%) – (6) – (31) 

A decrease in interest rates and a depreciation of foreign currencies would have the opposite effect to the impact in the table above.

The impact on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income from changing exchange rates results principally from foreign currency deals used  
as net investment hedges. The impact on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income will largely be offset by the revaluation in equity of the 
hedged assets. For changes in the USD/GBP exchange rate, the impact on the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income results principally from 
forward purchases of US Dollars as cash flow hedges.

Capital risk
The Group’s objectives when managing capital (defined as net debt plus equity) are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, while maintaining a strong credit rating and headroom whilst optimising 
return to shareholders through an appropriate balance of debt and equity funding. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments  
to it, in light of changes to economic conditions and the strategic objectives of the Group.

To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, buy back shares and cancel them, or issue 
new shares. In April 2006 the Group outlined its plan to release cash from its property assets, via a sequence of property joint ventures and other 
transactions, and return significant value to shareholders, either through enhanced dividends or share buy-backs. The target for the value of share 
buy-backs was increased from £1.5bn to £3.0bn over a five-year period from April 2007. Whilst the Group continued with the policy at the beginning 
of 2009, it subsequently used the proceeds from property divestment to pay down debt, following the two major acquisitions in 2009 (Homever and 
Tesco Bank). During 2009 the Group purchased and cancelled £100m ordinary shares. In the financial years 2010 and 2011 the Group continued to 
use the proceeds from the sale of property to pay down debt.

The policy for debt is to ensure a smooth debt maturity profile with the objective of ensuring continuity of funding. This policy continued during the 
current financial year with bonds redeemed of £1,861m (2010 – £390m) and new bonds issued totalling £125m (2010 – £nil). The Group borrows 
centrally and locally, using a variety of capital market issues and borrowing facilities to meet the requirements of each local business.
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Note 23  Financial risk factors continued

Tesco Bank

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises where assets and liabilities in Tesco Bank’s banking activities have different repricing dates. Tesco Bank policy seeks to minimise 
the sensitivity of net interest income to changes in interest rates. Potential exposures to interest rate movements in the medium to long term are measured 
and controlled through position and sensitivity limits. Short-term exposures are measured and controlled in terms of net interest income sensitivity over 
12 months to a 1% parallel movement in interest rates. Tesco Bank also use value at risk (VaR) for risk management purposes with a time horizon of  
one trading day and a confidence interval of 95%. Interest rate risk is managed using interest rate swaps as the main hedging instrument.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that Tesco Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk is managed within Tesco Bank’s 
banking activities and adheres to the liquidity requirements set by the Financial Services Authority (FSA). Tesco Bank’s Board has set a defined 
liquidity risk policy and contingency funding which is prudent and in excess of the minimum requirements as set out by the FSA. A diversified portfolio 
of high-quality liquid and marketable assets is maintained. Cash flow commitments and marketable asset holdings are measured and managed on  
a daily basis. Tesco Bank has sufficient liquidity to meet all foreseeable outflow requirements as they fall due and its liquidity risk is further mitigated 
by its well diversified retail deposit base and a pool of surplus cash resources that are invested in a range of marketable assets.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the probability of customers and counterparties failing to meet their obligations to Tesco Bank and arises principally from Tesco Bank’s 
lending activities, but also from other transactions involving on and off-balance sheet instruments.

Internal reporting and oversight of risk assets is principally differentiated by credit ratings. Internal ratings are used to assess the credit quality of 
borrowers. Customers are assigned credit ratings, based on various credit grading models that reflect the probability of default.

Limits have been established for all counterparties based on their respective credit ratings. The limits and proposed counterparties are reviewed and 
approved by the Risk Management Committee (RMC) of Tesco Bank.

Expressed as an annual probability of default, the upper and lower boundaries and the midpoint for each of the asset quality grades are as follows:

At 26 February 2011 and 27 February 2010

Annual probability of default

Asset quality grade
Minimum

%
Midpoint

%
Maximum

%
S&P

equivalent

AQ1 0.00 0.10 0.20 AAA to BBB-
AQ2 0.21 0.40 0.60 BB+ to BB
AQ3 0.61 1.05 1.50 BB- to B+
AQ4 1.51 3.25 5.00 B+ to B
AQ5 5.01 52.50 100.00 B and below

At 26 February 2011
AQ1

£m
AQ2

£m
AQ3

£m
AQ4

£m
AQ5

£m

Accruing
past due

£m

Non-
accrual

£m

Impairment
provision

£m
Total

£m

Assets:

Other investments 1,108 – – – – – – – 1,108
Loans and advances  

to customers 599 466 924 1,663 886 73 212 (182) 4,641
Loans and advances  

to banks and other 
financial assets 404 – – – – – – – 404

Total assets 2,111 466 924 1,663 886 73 212 (182) 6,153

Commitments (note 34) 4,254 1,601 645 444 183 – – – 7,127
Total off-balance sheet 4,254 1,601 645 444 183 – – – 7,127

At 27 February 2010
AQ1

£m
AQ2

£m
AQ3

£m
AQ4

£m
AQ5

£m

Accruing
past due

£m

Non-
accrual

£m

Impairment
provision

£m
Total

£m

Assets:
Other investments 863 – – – – – – – 863 
Loans and advances  

to customers 501 381 762 1,495 838 76 373 (314) 4,112
Loans and advances  

to banks and other 
financial assets 144 – – – – – – – 144

Total assets 1,508  381 762 1,495 838 76 373 (314) 5,119 

Commitments (note 34) 3,926 1,329 573 452 184 – – – 6,464 
Total off-balance sheet 3,926 1,329 573 452 184 – – – 6,464
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Note 23  Financial risk factors continued

Insurance risk
Tesco Bank is exposed to insurance risks directly through its historic distribution arrangement with RBS Insurance and indirectly through its ownership  
of 49.9% of Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU), an authorised insurance company. 

Since October 2010 the majority of new business policies for Home and Motor Insurance product sold by Tesco Bank have been underwritten by  
TU. Customers renewing their Tesco Motor or Home Insurance policy insurance have been underwritten by TU since November 2010. The key 
insurance risks within TU relate to Underwriting Risk and specifically the potential for a major weather event to generate significant claims on Home 
insurance or on Motor insurance the cost of settling bodily injury claims. Exposure to this risk is actively managed within TU with close monitoring of 
performance metrics and the use of reinsurance to limit TU’s exposure above predetermined limits.

The legacy arrangement with RBS Insurance is now in run off and the primary risk that Tesco Bank remains exposed to is Reserving Risk – the risk that 
reserves set by RBS Insurance will be insufficient to cover the ultimate cost of insurance claims arising from this activity. This is particularly relevant to 
Motor Insurance claims where the ultimate cost of large bodily injury claims is uncertain and the time taken to settle such claims can vary significantly 
depending on the severity of the injury. This risk is, in part, mitigated by the use of reinsurance to limit Tesco Bank’s exposure to the cost of individual 
claims above certain predetermined limits. However, the nature of this is exposure results in the process of estimating the ultimate cost of these claims 
carrying a degree of uncertainty. 

Since October 2010 Pet, Travel and Breakdown insurance have all been distributed by Tesco Bank on a ‘white label’ basis. Tesco Bank does not carry 
the insurance risk associated with these products.

Note 24  Customer deposits

2011
£m

2010
£m

Customer deposits 5,074 4,357

Customer deposits are recorded at amortised cost. Included within customer deposits is £177m (2010 – £nil) that is non-current.

Note 25 D eposits by banks

The Group has deposits by banks with the following maturity:
2011

£m
2010

£m

Within three months 26 30
Three to six months 10 –

36 30

Deposits by banks are recorded at amortised cost.

Note 26  Provisions

Property
provisions

£m

Other
provision

£m
Total

£m

At 28 February 2009 111 99 210
Foreign currency translation 12 – 12
Amount provided in the year – 1 1
Amount utilised in the year (12) – (12)
At 27 February 2010 111 100 211
Foreign currency translation (3) – (3)
Amount released in the year (18) (50) (68)
Amount provided in the year 48 – 48
Amount utilised in the year – (11) (11)
At 26 February 2011 138 39 177

Property provisions comprise obligation for future rents payable net of rents receivable on onerous and vacant property leases, terminal dilapidations and 
future rents above market value on unprofitable stores. The majority of these provisions are expected to be utilised over the period to 2020.

The other provision balance relates to a provision for customer redress in respect of potential customer complaints arising from historic sales of Personal 
Protection Insurance (PPI). The provision is likely to be utilised over several years, although the timing of utilisation is uncertain.

The provision as at 27 February 2010 was established based on a forecast of the level of complaints expected to be received. The number of complaints 
actually settled during the year has been lower than was expected, resulting in a reduction to the provision held at 26 February 2011 of £50m. We will 
continue to handle claims and redress customers in accordance with PS 10/12 (see note 1). This will include ongoing analysis of historical claims 
experience in accordance with the guidance.

The calculation of this provision involves estimating a number of variables, principally the level of customer complaints which may be received and the 
level of any compensation which may be payable to customers. Uncertainty associated with these factors may result in the ultimate liability being 
different from the reported provision.

On 9 October 2010, the British Bankers Association (BBA) applied to the courts for a judicial review in which they sought to overturn Policy Statement 
10/12 issued by the FSA during the year in respect of PPI. On the 20 April 2011, the BBA lost their challenge on all grounds. The BBA have not yet 
publicly announced whether they intend to appeal the decision. The provision at 26 February 2011 did not assume a favourable outcome for the BBA.
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Note 26  Provisions continued

The balances are analysed as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Current 64 39
Non-current 113 172

177 211

Note 27 S hare-based payments 

The Group Income Statement charge for the year recognised in respect of share-based payments is £289m (2010 – £300m), which is made up  
of share option schemes and share bonus payments. Of this amount, £220m (2010 – £241m) will be settled in equity and £69m (2010 – £59m) in cash.

Share option schemes
The Company had nine share option schemes in operation during the financial year, all of which are equity-settled schemes:

i)	� The Savings-related Share Option Scheme (1981) permits the grant to employees of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to a building 
society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from employees of an amount between £5 and £250 
per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three- or five-year period at a subscription price not less than 
80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

ii)	� The Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000) permits the grant to Irish employees of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to  
a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from employees of an amount between  
€12 and €320 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three- or five-year period at a subscription price not 
less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.

iii)	� The Approved Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) was adopted on 17 October 1994. The exercise of options granted under this scheme will 
normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year 
period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). There were 
no discounted options granted under this scheme.

iv)	� The Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme (1996) was adopted on 7 June 1996. The exercise of options granted under this scheme will 
normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year 
period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). There were 
no discounted options granted under this scheme.

v)	� The International Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) was adopted on 20 May 1994. This scheme permits the grant to selected non-UK 
executives of options to acquire ordinary shares on substantially the same basis as their UK counterparts. The exercise of options granted under 
this scheme will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over 
a three-year period. No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004). 
There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.

vi)	� The Executive Incentive Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to 
selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant for nil consideration.

vii)	� The Performance Share Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 and amended on 29 June 2007. This scheme permits the grant of options in 
respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options granted before 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between four and ten years from 
the date of grant for nil consideration. Options granted after 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of 
grant for nil consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of specified performance targets related to 
the return on capital employed over a three-year period.

viii)	�The Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004. This scheme permits the grant of approved, unapproved and 
international options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the 
date of grant at a price not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or 
three dealing days preceding the date of grant. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance 
target related to the annual percentage growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There will be no discounted options granted under 
this scheme.

ix)	� The Group New Business Incentive Plan (2007) was adopted on 29 June 2007. This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary 
shares to selected executives. Options will normally vest in four tranches: four, five, six and seven years after the date of grant and will be 
exercisable for up to two years from the vesting dates for nil consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the 
achievement of specified performance targets related to the return on capital employed over the seven-year plan. 

O
verview

B
usiness review

G
overnance

Financial statem
ents

� Tesco plc Annual Report and Financial Statements 2011  —  135



Note 27 S hare-based payments continued

The following tables reconcile the number of share options outstanding and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP):

For the year ended 26 February 2011

Savings-related 
share option scheme

Irish savings-related
share option scheme

Approved
share option scheme

Unapproved
share option scheme

International executive
share option scheme

Nil cost
share options

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at
27 February 
2010 138,234,520 323.37 5,455,068 326.70 14,550,891 361.57 85,907,622 351.46 54,880,748 363.64 9,185,455 0.00

Granted 29,920,166 386.00 1,470,162 386.00 3,793,684 419.85 21,447,502 419.81 17,065,475 420.00 4,148,918 0.00
Forfeited (7,971,500) 328.09 (666,990) 320.21 (1,030,137) 395.79 (3,915,038) 401.52 (3,192,794) 382.05 (499,596) 0.00
Exercised (18,957,476) 256.02 (537,638) 261.38 (2,466,841) 270.56 (10,927,268) 274.37 (3,687,375) 283.46 (435,650) 0.00
Outstanding at

26 February 
2011 141,225,710 345.41 5,720,602 348.84 14,847,597 389.21 92,512,818 374.29 65,066,054 382.06 12,399,127 0.00

Exercisable as at
26 February 
2011 15,506,889 366.48 668,423 381.98 6,090,853 375.33 32,577,023 348.13 19,138,101 364.16 3,744,903 0.00

Exercise price 
range (pence)

248.00 to 
410.00

248.00 to
410.00

197.50 to
473.75

197.50 to
473.75

197.50 to
473.75 0.00

Weighted average 
remaining  
contractual  
life (years) 0.43 0.43 4.92 4.61 4.98 6.74

For the year ended 27 February 2010

Savings-related 
share option scheme

Irish savings-related
share option scheme

Approved
share option scheme

Unapproved
share option scheme

International executive
share option scheme

Nil cost
share options

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at
28 February  
2009 142,810,097 306.21 5,418,903 315.67 15,868,920 350.56 81,299,884 339.97 43,898,205 366.61 14,323,708 0.00

Granted 38,117,516 328.00 1,752,363 328.00 2,844,857 338.40 26,542,534 338.42 19,097,981 338.82 3,093,147 0.00
Forfeited (9,476,452) 315.43 (873,617) 314.96 (581,769) 409.75 (3,213,394) 409.29 (2,147,644) 403.74 (2,299,256) 0.00
Exercised (33,216,641) 257.20 (842,581) 270.60 (3,581,117) 286.54 (18,721,402) 273.16 (5,967,794) 291.66 (5,932,144) 0.00
Outstanding at

27 February  
2010 138,234,520 323.37 5,455,068 326.70 14,550,891 361.57 85,907,622 351.46 54,880,748 363.64 9,185,455 0.00

Exercisable as at 
27 February 
2010 6,287,764 266.10 369,370 282.75 5,868,560 282.29 32,430,807 280.29 15,277,598 289.05 – –

Exercise price 
range (pence)  

195.00 to
307.00  

195.00 to
307.00  

197.50 to
388.75  

197.50 to
415.50  

197.50 to 
318.60  –

Weighted average
remaining  
contractual  
life (years)  0.18  0.15  4.26 4.53 4.75 –

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the financial year. The average share price during the year ended 26 February 2011 was 
417.80p (2010 – 380.05p).

The fair value of share options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table gives the assumptions 
applied to the options granted in the respective periods shown. No assumption has been made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise.
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Note 27 S hare-based payments continued

2011 2010

Savings-related 
share option 

schemes

 Executive 
share option 

schemes

Nil cost 
option 

schemes

Savings-related 
share option 

schemes

Executive 
share option 

schemes

Nil cost 
option

schemes

Expected dividend yield (%) 3.5% 3.5% 0.0%  3.6% 3.6-3.9% 0.0%
Expected volatility (%) 26-30% 25% 25%  26-31% 25% 25%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.6-2.2% 2.3-3.2% 2.7% 2.0-2.8% 2.8-3.3% 2.9%
Expected life of option (years) 3 or 5 6 6  3 or 5 6 6
Weighted average fair value of options granted (pence) 93.41 77.86 414.06  86.74 64.24 374.00 
Probability of forfeiture (%) 14-16% 10% 0%  14-16% 10% 0%
Share price (pence) 436.00 419.89 414.06  378.00 345.23 374.00 
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 386.00 419.89 0.00  328.00 338.58 0.00

Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate during a period. The measure of volatility used in the Group’s option 
pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a period of time. In estimating 
the future volatility of the Company’s share price, the Board considers the historical volatility of the share price over the most recent period that is 
generally commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the remaining contractual life of the option.

Share bonus schemes
Eligible UK employees are able to participate in Shares in Success, an all-employee profit-sharing scheme. Each year, shares are awarded as a 
percentage of earnings up to a statutory maximum of £3,000. Eligible Republic of Ireland employees are able to participate in a Share Bonus Scheme, 
an all-employee profit-sharing scheme. Each year, employees receive a percentage of their earnings as either cash or shares.

Senior management also participate in performance-related bonus schemes. The amount paid to employees is based on a percentage of salary and is 
paid partly in cash and partly in shares. Bonuses are awarded to eligible employees who have completed a required service period and depend on the 
achievement of corporate targets. The accrued cash element of the bonus at the balance sheet date is £38m (2010 – £52m).

Selected senior management participate in the senior management Performance Share Plan. Awards made under this plan will normally vest three 
years after the date of the award for nil consideration. Vesting will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets 
related to the return on capital employed over a three-year performance period.

Senior management in the US business also participate in the US Long-Term Incentive Plan (2007) which was adopted on 29 June 2007. The awards 
made under this plan will normally vest in four tranches: four, five, six and seven years after the date of award, for nil consideration. Vesting will normally  
be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related to the return on capital employed in the US business over the seven-year plan.

The Executive Directors participate in short-term and long-term bonus schemes designed to align their interests with those of shareholders. Full 
details of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. 

The fair value of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of award. Expected dividends are not incorporated into the fair 
value except for awards under the US Long-Term Incentive Plan.

The number and weighted average fair value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the financial year were:

2011 2010

Shares 
number

WAFV 
pence

Shares 
number

WAFV
pence

Shares in Success 25,360,677 416.23  28,661,004 349.66 
Irish Share Bonus Scheme 141,970 397.70 166,972 359.70
Executive Incentive Scheme 12,765,004 398.68  13,564,595 355.46 
Performance Share Plan 2,405,730 399.78 2,120,058 375.37
US Long-Term Incentive Plan 192,078 433.05 80,622 482.00 

Note 28  Post-employment benefits

Pensions
The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, covering both funded defined contribution and funded and unfunded 
defined benefit schemes. The most significant of these are the funded defined benefit pension schemes for the Group’s employees in the UK,  
the Republic of Ireland and South Korea. 

Defined contribution plans
The contributions payable for defined contribution schemes of £14m (2010 – £12m) have been recognised in the Group Income Statement. 

Defined benefit plans
UK 
The principal plan within the Group is the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme, which is a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK, the assets of 
which are held as a segregated fund and administered by trustees. Towers Watson Limited, an independent actuary, carried out the latest triennial 
actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 31 March 2008, using the projected unit method. 

At the date of the last actuarial valuation, the actuarial deficit was £275m. The market value of the schemes’ assets was £3,987m and these assets 
represented 94% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in earnings and pensions in payment.

During the financial year, the Dobbies Pension Scheme was merged into the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme. As the Dobbies Scheme was already part  
of the Group, there has been no impact on the overall disclosures. The Dobbies Scheme had a net liability of £0.6m at 26 February 2011 which was 
merged into the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme.
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Note 28  Post-employment benefits continued

Overseas
The most significant overseas schemes are the funded defined benefit pension schemes which operate in the Republic of Ireland and South Korea. An 
independent actuary, using the projected unit method, carried out the latest actuarial assessment of the Republic of Ireland scheme as at 1 April 2010. 

The valuations used for IAS 19 have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations and updated by Towers Watson Limited to take account  
of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 26 February 2011. The schemes’ assets are stated at their market 
values as at 26 February 2011. Towers Watson Limited have updated the most recent Republic of Ireland and South Korea valuations. The liabilities 
relating to retirement healthcare benefits have also been determined in accordance with IAS 19 and are incorporated in the following tables.

Principal assumptions 
During the year the government announced that the Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than the Retail Price Index (RPI) should be used as the basis  
of the calculation of inflation for the statutory index-linked features of retirement benefits Accordingly the value of liabilities due to the past service 
cost of deferred members has been reduced by £270m with the corresponding credit to actuarial gains in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The major assumptions, on a weighted average basis, used by the actuaries were as detailed below:

2011 
%

2010
%

Discount rate 5.9 5.9
Price inflation 3.5 3.6
Rate of increase in salaries 3.6  3.6
Rate of increase in pensions in payment* 3.3  3.4
Rate of increase in deferred pensions* 2.8  3.6
Rate of increase in career average benefits 3.5  3.6 

* In excess of any Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) element.

The main financial assumption is the real discount rate (the excess of the discount rate over the rate of price inflation). If this assumption increased/ 
decreased by 0.1%, the UK defined benefit obligation would decrease/increase by approximately £150m and the annual UK current service cost would 
decrease/increase by approximately £14m. 

UK mortality assumptions 
The Company conducts analysis of mortality trends under the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme in the UK as part of the triennial actuarial valuation  
of the Scheme. At the latest triennial actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2008 the following assumptions were adopted for funding purposes:

Base tables: 
PMA92C00 for male members with cohort improvements to 2000 and members taken to be one year younger than actual age. 
PFA92C00 for female members with cohort improvements to 2000 and members taken to be half a year older than actual age.

These assumptions were used for the calculation of the pension liability as at 26 February 2011 for the main UK scheme.

The mortality assumptions used are based on tables that have been updated in line with medium cohort projections with a minimum improvement  
of 1% per annum from 31 March 2008 to 26 February 2011. In addition, the allowance for future mortality improvements incorporates medium cohort 
projections with a minimum improvement of 1% per annum.

The following table illustrates the expectation of life of an average member retiring at age 65 at the balance sheet date and a member reaching age 65 
at the same date +25 years: 

2011 
years

2010
years

Retiring at reporting date at age 65: Male 21.7  21.6
 Female 23.5  23.4
Retiring at reporting date +25 years at age 65: Male 24.1  24.0
 Female 26.0  25.9 

Rates of return on scheme assets 
The assets in the defined benefit pension schemes and the expected nominal rates of return were:

2011 2010

Long-term 
rate of return 

%

Market 
value 

£m

Long-term 
rate of return 

%

Market
value 

£m

Equities 8.5 3,032  8.7 2,521
Bonds 5.0 1,116  5.1 1,233
Property 6.8 511  7.0 343
Other (alternative assets) 8.5 564  8.7 484
Cash 4.0 385  4.1 115
Total market value of assets 5,608  4,696

The expected rate of return on assets is a weighted average based on the actual plan assets held and the respective returns expected on the separate 
asset classes. The expected rate of return on equities and cash have both been set having regard to expected returns over the medium term, as 
calculated by the Company’s independent actuary. The expected rate of return on bonds was measured directly from actual yields for gilts and corporate 
bond stocks. The above rate takes into account the actual mix of UK gilts, UK corporate bonds and overseas bonds held at the balance sheet date. 
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Note 28  Post-employment benefits continued

Movement in pension deficit during the year 
Changes in the fair value of defined benefit pension plan assets are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Opening fair value of plan assets 4,696  3,420
Expected return 363  265
Actuarial gains 278  733
Contributions by employer 433  415
Actual member contributions 10  9
Foreign currency translation (9)  (2)
Benefits paid (163)  (144)
Closing fair value of plan assets 5,608  4,696

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Opening defined benefit obligation (6,536)  (4,914)
Current service cost (499)  (391)
Past service cost (29)  –
Interest cost (381)  (313)
Gain/(loss) on change of assumptions 342  (1,052)
Experience losses (25)  (1)
Foreign currency translation 11  –
Benefits paid 163  144
Actual member contributions (10)  (9)
Closing defined benefit obligation (6,964)  (6,536)

The amounts that have been charged to the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensive Income are set out below:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit:  
Current service cost (499)  (391)
Past service cost (29) –

Total charge to operating profit (528)  (391)
Analysis of the amount (charged)/credited to finance (cost)/income: 
Expected return on pension schemes’ assets 363  265
Interest on pension schemes’ liabilities (381)  (313)
Net pension finance cost (note 5) (18) (48)
Total charge to the Group Income Statement (546)  (439)
Analysis of the amount recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income: 
Actual return less expected return on pension schemes’ assets 278  733
Experience losses arising on the schemes’ liabilities (25)  (1)
Foreign currency translation 2  (2)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the schemes’ liabilities 342 (1,052)
Total loss recognised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 597  (322)

The cumulative losses recognised through the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income since the date of transition to IFRS are £539m (2010 – £1,136m).

Summary of movements in deficit during the year

2011
£m

2010
£m

Deficit in schemes at beginning of the year (1,840) (1,494)
Current service cost (499)  (391)
Past service cost (29) –

Other finance cost (18)  (48)
Contributions by employer 433  415
Foreign currency translation 2  (2)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 595  (320)
Deficit in schemes at end of the year (1,356)  (1,840)
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Note 28  Post-employment benefits continued

History of movements 
The historical movement in defined benefit pension schemes’ assets and liabilities and history of experience gains and losses are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

Total market value of assets 5,608  4,696 3,420 4,089 4,007
Present value of liabilities relating to unfunded schemes (65)  (54) (39) (34) (27)
Present value of liabilities relating to partially funded schemes (6,899)  (6,482) (4,875) (4,893) (4,930)
Pension deficit (1,356)  (1,840) (1,494) (838) (950)

Experience gains/(losses) on scheme assets 278 733 (1,270) (465) 82
Experience losses on plan liabilities (25)  (1) (117)  (20) (41)

Post-employment benefits other than pensions 
The Company operates a scheme offering post-employment healthcare benefits. The cost of providing these benefits has been accounted for on  
a similar basis to that used for defined benefit pension schemes.

The liability as at 26 February 2011 of £12m (2010 – £12m) was determined in accordance with the advice of independent actuaries. During the 
financial year, £0.8m (2010 – £0.7m) has been charged to the Group Income Statement and £0.6m (2010 – £0.5m) of benefits were paid. 

A change of 1% in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Effect of a 1% increase in assumed healthcare cost trend rate on: 
Service and interest cost –  –
Defined benefit obligation 2  2

Effect of a 1% decrease in assumed healthcare cost trend rate on: 
Service and interest cost – –
Defined benefit obligation (1)  (2)

Expected contributions 
The Company expects to make cash contributions of approximately £440m to defined schemes in the financial year ending 25 February 2012. 

Note 29  Called up share capital

2011 2010

Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each

 Number £m Number £m

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At beginning of year 7,985,044,057 399  7,895,344,018 395
Share options 36,535,102 2  62,329,535 3
Share bonus awards 24,888,933 1 27,370,504 1
At end of year 8,046,468,092 402 7,985,044,057 399

During the financial year, 37 million (2010 – 62 million) shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share options for aggregate consideration of  
£97m (2010 – £166m). 

During the financial year, 25 million (2010 – 27 million) shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share bonus awards for consideration of  
£1m (2010 – £1m).

Between 27 February 2011 and 15 April 2011 options over 2,137,647 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the Savings-related  
Share Option Scheme (1981) and the Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000). Between 27 February 2011 and 15 April 2011, options  
over 1,020,924 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the Executive Share Option Schemes (1994 and 1996) and the Discretionary 
Share Option Plan (2004).

As at 26 February 2011, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 802.1 million (2010 – 790.1 million) ordinary shares.

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the meetings  
of the Company.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buy-back, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the nominal value  
of the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve.
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Note 30 R elated party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this 
note. Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below: 

Trading transactions

Sales to 
related parties

Purchases from 
related parties

Amounts owed
 by related parties

Amounts owed
to related parties

 
2011

£m
2010

£m
2011

£m
2010

£m
2011

£m
2010

£m
2011

£m
2010

 £m

Joint ventures 281 154 449 360 18 6 4 18
Associates 3 – 1,104 886 6 – – 24

Sales to related parties consists of services/management fees and loan interest. 

Purchases from related parties include £306m (2010 – £226m) of rentals payable to the Group’s joint ventures, including those joint ventures formed 
as part of the sale and leaseback programme.

Purchases from associates include £1,104m (2010 – £886m) of fuel purchased from Greenergy International Limited.

Non-trading transactions

Sale and leaseback  
of assets

Loans to 
related parties

Loans from
 related parties

Injection of
equity funding

 
2011

£m
2010

£m
2011

£m
2010

£m
2011

£m
2010

£m
2011

£m
2010

 £m

Joint ventures 1,652 933 502 309 26 23 94 83
Associates – – 1 – – – 69 –

Transactions between the Group and the Group’s pension plans are disclosed in note 28. 

A number of the Group’s subsidiaries are members of one or more partnerships to whom the provisions of the Partnerships (Accounts) Regulations 2008 
(‘Regulations’) apply. The accounts for those partnerships have been consolidated into these accounts pursuant to Regulation 7 of the Regulations.

On 7 July 2010, the Group formed a limited partnership with Tesco Pension Trustees. The limited partnership contains 41 stores which have been sold 
from and leased back to the Group. The Group sold assets for proceeds of £958m to the limited partnership. The Group’s share of the profit realised 
from this transaction is included within profit arising on property-related items. 

On 9 February 2011, the Group formed a limited partnership with Tesco Pension Trustees. The limited partnership contains 21 stores and one mall 
under development which have been sold from and leased back to the Group. The Group sold assets for proceeds of £685m to the limited partnership. 
The Group’s share of the profit realised from this transaction is included within profit arising on property-related items.

Transactions with key management personnel
Only members of the Board of Directors of Tesco PLC are deemed to be key management personnel. It is the Board who have responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in the audited section of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Transactions on an arm’s length basis with Tesco Bank during the financial year were as follows:

Credit card and
personal loan balances Saving deposit accounts

Number of key
management

personnel £m

Number of key
management

personnel

 

£m

At 26 February 2011 7 – 10 1
At 27 February 2010  – – 4 1

During the current and prior financial years, there were no other material transactions or balances between the Group and its key management 
personnel or their close family members.
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Note 31  Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2011
£m

2010 
£m

Profit before tax 3,535  3,176
Net finance costs (note 5) 333  314
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates (note 13) (57)  (33)
Operating profit 3,811  3,457
Depreciation and amortisation 1,420  1,384
Profit arising on property-related items (note 3) (427)  (377)
Loss arising on sale of non property-related items 3 5
Impairment of goodwill (note 10) 55 131
Net reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 11) and investment property (note 12) (13)  (26)
Adjustment for non-cash element of pensions charge 95  (24)
Share-based payments (note 27) 220 241
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (467)  34
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (152)  124
Increase in trade and other payables 976 453
Tesco Bank increase in loans and advances to customers (note 17) (529) (724)
Tesco Bank (increase)/decrease in loans and advances to banks, other financial assets and trade and other receivables (356)  1,369
Tesco Bank increase/(decrease) in customer and bank deposits, trade and other payables and other financial liabilities 
including borrowings 730  (100)
Increase in working capital 202  1,156
Cash generated from operations 5,366 5,947

The increase in working capital includes the impact of translating foreign currency working capital movements at average exchange rates rather than 
year end exchange rates.

Note 32 An alysis of changes in net debt 

At 
27 February

2010
£m*

Tesco Bank at
27 February

2010
£m

Cash flow
£m

Business 
combinations      

£m

Other
non-cash

movements
£m

Elimination
of Tesco Bank

£m

At
26 February 

2011
£m*

Cash and cash equivalents 2,615 204 (903) – (46) (148) 1,722
Short-term investments 1,314 – (292) – – – 1,022
Joint venture loan and other receivables 320 – 189 – 18 (34) 493
Bank and other borrowings (12,584) (480) 2,456 – (269) 595 (10,282)
Finance lease payables (209) – 42 (17) (14) – (198)
Net derivative financial instruments 615 (63) 7 – (127) 21 453
 (7,929) (339) 1,499 (17) (438) 434 (6,790)

* These amounts relate to the net debt excluding Tesco Bank.
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Note 33 B usiness combinations and other acquisitions

Business combinations
On 18 June 2010 the Group acquired the trade and certain assets and liabilities of 2 Sisters Food Group, Inc. for consideration of £52m. On 19 July 
2010 the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of Wild Rocket Foods, LLC for consideration of £64m. The table below sets out the 
provisional analysis of the net assets acquired and the fair value to the Group in respect of these two acquisitions.

Pre-acquisition
carrying values

£m

Fair value 
adjustment

£m

Provisional 
fair values on 

acquisition
£m

Non-current assets 45 7 52
Current assets 9 (1) 8
Current liabilities (6) (1) (7)
Non-current liabilities (8) (11) (19)
Net assets acquired 40 (6) 34
Goodwill arising on acquisition 82

116
Consideration:
Cash 45
Non-cash 71
Total consideration 116

The goodwill represents the benefit of supply chain efficiencies, production economies, the ability to develop new and innovative products and 
further third-party revenue potential.

Other acquisitions
On 18 May 2010 the Group acquired an additional 13% of the ordinary share capital of Greenergy International Limited for a cash consideration of 
£16m, taking the Group’s holding to 34%.

On 21 June 2010 the Group completed the acquisition of the remaining 10% of the ordinary share capital of dunnhumby Limited for a cash consideration 
of £44m, with a further contingent consideration of £16m.

Note 34 C ommitments and contingencies

Capital commitments
At 26 February 2011 there were commitments for capital expenditure contracted for, but not provided for, £1,719m (2010 – £1,835m), principally 
relating to the store development programme.

Contingent liabilities
The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities, as defined in Section 5(c) of the Republic of Ireland (Amendment Act) 1986, of various 
subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland.

For details of assets held under finance leases, which are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities, see note 11.

There are a number of contingent liabilities that arise in the normal course of business which if realised are not expected to result in a material liability  
to the Group. The Group recognises provisions for liabilities when it is more likely than not a settlement will be required and the value of such a 
payment can be reliably estimated. 

On 30 April 2010 the Office of Fair Trading announced that it had decided to drop allegations against the Group in relation to alleged collusion 
between certain supermarkets and dairy processors in relation to milk and butter. The only investigation that remains open is in relation to certain 
cheese products. The Group continues to defend its position vigorously and no provision has been recognised in the Group’s financial statements.

Tesco Bank
At 26 February 2011 Tesco Bank has commitments of formal standby facilities, credit lines and other commitments to lend, totalling £7.1bn  
(2010 – £6.5bn). The amount is intended to provide an indication of the potential volume of business and not of the underlying credit or other risks.

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) is the UK statutory fund of last resort for customers of authorised financial services firms and 
pays compensation if a firm is unable to pay claims against it. The FSCS has borrowed from HM Treasury to fund these compensation costs associated 
with institutions that failed in 2008 and will receive receipts from asset sales, surplus cash flow and other recoveries from these institutions in the future.

The FSCS meets its obligations by raising management expense levies. These include amounts to cover the interest on its borrowings and 
compensation levies on the industry. Each deposit-taking institution contributes in proportion to its share of total protected deposits. The levy is 
calculated based on deposit balances held as at 31 December in each year and, as such, this is seen as the ‘trigger event’ under accounting rules. 

If the FSCS does not receive sufficient funds from the failed institutions to repay HM Treasury in full it will raise compensation levies. At this time it  
is not possible to estimate the amount or timing of any shortfall resulting from the cash flows received from the failed institutions and, accordingly,  
no provision for compensation levies has been made in the Group financial statements.
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Note 35 C apital resources 

The following table shows the composition of regulatory capital resources of Tesco Personal Finance PLC (TPF), being the regulated entity, at the 
balance sheet date:

2011
£m

2010
 £m

Tier 1 capital: 
Shareholders’ funds and non-controlling interests 761  576
Tier 2 capital: 
Qualifying subordinated debt 235  235
Other interests 18 21
Supervisory deductions (365) (263)
Total regulatory capital 649 569

The movement of tier 1 capital during the financial year is analysed as follows:

2011
£m

2010
 £m

At beginning of year 576 521
Share capital and share premium 446 230
Profit attributable to shareholders 57 37
Ordinary dividends (162) (153)
Increase in intangible assets (156) (59)
At end of year 761 576

It is Tesco Personal Finance PLC’s (TPF) policy to maintain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently throughout its 
activities to optimise the return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying risks of the 
business. In carrying out this policy, TPF has regard to the supervisory requirements of the Financial Services Authority (FSA). TPF has carried 
regulatory capital reserves in excess of its capital requirements during the financial year.

Note 36 L easing commitments

Finance lease commitments – Group as lessee
The Group has finance leases for various items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings. There are also a small number of buildings which are held 
under finance leases. The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximate to their carrying value.

Future minimum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments, are as follows:

Minimum lease payments
Present value of

minimum lease payments

2011
£m

2010
£m

2011
£m

2010
£m

Within one year 56  49 50 45
Greater than one year but less than five years 81  101 44 90
After five years 206  178 104 74
Total minimum lease payments 343 328 198 209
Less future finance charges (145)  (119)
Present value of minimum lease payments 198 209
  
Analysed as:
Current finance lease payables 50  45
Non-current finance lease payables 148  164
 198 209
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Note 36 L easing commitments continued

Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2011
£m

2010
£m

Within one year 1,138  1,043
Greater than one year but less than five years 4,246 3,702
After five years 10,631 10,004
Total minimum lease payments 16,015  14,749

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases after five years are analysed further as follows:

 2011
£m

2010
£m

Greater than five years but less than ten years 4,203 3,610
Greater than ten years but less than fifteen years 3,023 2,894
After fifteen years 3,405 3,500
Total minimum lease payments – after five years 10,631 10,004

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its retail, distribution and office properties and other assets such as 
motor vehicles. The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 

The Group has lease break options on certain sale and leaseback transactions, which are exercisable if an existing option to buy back leased assets at 
market value at a specified date is also exercised, no commitment has been included in respect of the buy-back option as the option is at the Group’s 
discretion. The Group is not obliged to pay lease rentals after that date, therefore minimum lease payments exclude those falling after the buy-back date.

Operating lease commitments with joint ventures 
Since 1988 the Group has entered into several joint ventures and sold and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures. The terms of these 
sale and leasebacks vary, however, common factors include: the sale of the properties to the joint venture at market value; options within the lease for 
the Group to repurchase the properties at market value; market rent reviews; and 20 to 30 full-year lease terms. The Group reviews the substance  
as well as the form of the arrangements when determining the classification of leases as operating or finance; all of the leases under these 
arrangements are operating leases.

Operating lease receivables – Group as lessor
The Group both rents out its properties and also sublets various leased buildings under operating leases. At the balance sheet date, the following 
future minimum lease payments are contractually receivable from tenants: 

2011
£m

2010
£m

Within one year 286  259
Greater than one year but less than five years 537 566
After five years 306  348
Total minimum lease payments 1,129 1,173
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	 2007 	 2008 	 2009 	 2010 2011

Financial statistics
Group sales (including VAT) (£m) 46,611 51,773 59,426 62,537 67,573
Revenue (excluding VAT) (£m)
UK 32,665 34,8585 37,6502 38,558 40,117
Rest of Europe 5,559 6,872 8,8314 8,704 9,159
Asia 4,417 5,552 7,0482 8,439 10,241
US – 165 206 349 495
Tesco Bank – – 1635 860 919
Total Group 42,641 47,298 53,898 56,910 60,931
Group operating profit1 (£m) 2,648 2,791 3,1692 3,457 3,811
Group operating profit margin1 6.2% 5.9% 5.9% 6.1% 6.3%
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates (£m) 106 75 110 33 57
Profit on sale of investment in associates (£m) 25 – – – –
Net finance costs (£m) (126) (63) (362) (314) (333)
Profit before tax (£m) 2,653 2,803 2,9172 3,176 3,535
Taxation (£m) (772) (673) (779) (840) (864)
Non-controlling interests (£m) (7) (6) (5) (9) (16)
Profit for the period from discontinued operation3,4 (£m) 18 – – – –
Profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the parent (£m) 1,892 2,124 2,1332 2,327 2,655

Underlying profit before tax4 (£m) 2,545 2,846 3,124 3,395 3,813

Enterprise value6 (£m) 40,469 37,656 35,907 41,442 39,462
Basic earnings per share7 23.61p 26.95p 27.14p2 29.33p 33.10p
Diluted earnings per share7 23.31p 26.61p 26.96p2 29.19p 32.94p
Dividend per share8 9.64p 10.90p 11.96p 13.05p 14.46p
Return on shareholders’ funds9 26.7% 25.1% 23.5%2 23.0% 22.6%
Return on capital employed10 12.6% 15 12.7%16 12.8% 18 12.1% 12.9%
Group statistics
Number of stores 3,263 3,751 4,332 4,83619 5,380
Total sales area – 000 sq ft11 68,189 76,86719 88,55619 95,23120 103,616
Average employees 413,061 444,127 468,508 472,094 492,714
Average full-time equivalent employees 318,283 345,737 364,015 366,413 384,389
UK retail statistics
Number of stores 1,988 2,13719 2,30619   2,50719 2,715
Total sales area – 000 sq ft11 27,785 30,45719 32,38919  34,23720 36,722
Average store size (sales area – sq ft)12 34,209 35,055 35,215  35,485 35,970
Average full-time equivalent employees 184,461 193,917 194,420 196,604 200,966
UK retail productivity (£)
Revenue per employee13 177,084 179,840 196,4362 196,120 199,621
Profit per employee13 11,292 10,814 17 13,0652 14,303 15,098

Weekly sales per sq ft14 25.48 25.43 25.34 25.22 24.95

1	 Operating profit includes integration costs and profit arising on sale of fixed assets. Operating margin is based upon revenue excluding VAT.
2	� The Group adopted IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ and the amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payment’ from 24 February 2008. Periods before this date have not been restated.
3	 Consists of the net result of the Taiwanese business which was sold during 2007.
4	� Underlying profit excludes the impact of non-cash elements of IAS 17, 19, 32 and 39 (principally the impact of annual uplifts in rents and rent free period, pension cost, and the marking to 

market of financial instruments); the amortisation charge on intangible assets arising on acquisition, acquisition costs and the non-cash impact of IFRIC 13. It also exclude costs relating to 
restructuring (US and Japan), closure costs, (Vin Plus) and the impairment of goodwill in Japan.  
For further details of this measure, see page 105. 

5	 Results have been restated to reflect the US and Tesco Bank as separate segments.
6	 Market capitalisation plus net debt.
7	 Basic and diluted earnings per share are on a continuing operations basis.
8	 Dividend per share relating to the interim and proposed final dividend.
9	 Profit before tax divided by average shareholders’ funds.
10	The numerator is profit before interest, less tax. The denominator is the calculated average of net assets plus net debt plus dividend creditor less net assets held for sale.
11	Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas.
12	Average store size excludes Express, One Stop and Dobbies stores.
13	Based on average number of full-time equivalent employees in the UK, revenue exclusive of VAT and operating profit.
14	Based on weighted average sales area and average weekly sales, excluding Dobbies stores.
15	Excludes one-off gain from ‘Pensions A-Day’. With this one-off gain, ROCE was 13.6%.
16	Using a ‘normalised’ tax rate before start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct and excluding the impact of foreign exchange in equity and our acquisition of a majority share of Dobbies.
17	� Excluding start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct and adjusting average number of full-time equivalent employees in the UK to exclude US and Tesco Direct employees – profit per 

employee would be £11,317.
18	�Excluding acquisition of Tesco Bank and Homever, India start-up costs, and after adjusting for assets held for sale. Calculated on a 52-week basis, ROCE for 2009 is 12.8%.
19	Restated to include Dobbies stores.
20	Restated to include Dobbies stores and account for a space restatement of 109,000 sq ft driven by a comprehensive remeasurement of One Stop stores.
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notes

26 February
2011

£m

27 February
2010

£m

Non-current assets
Investments  5 12,710 11,716
Derivative financial instruments 10 1,131 1,250
 13,841  12,966
Current assets
Derivative financial instruments 10 142 208
Debtors  6 8,717 14,184
Current asset investments  7 1,022 1,997
 9,881  16,389
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings  9 (699) (932)
Derivative financial instruments 10 (138) (116)
Other creditors  8 (5,397) (8,950)
 (6,234)  (9,998)
Net current assets 3,647  6,391
Total assets less current liabilities 17,488  19,357
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings  9 (9,002) (10,805)
Derivative financial instruments  10 (567) (621)
 (9,569)  (11,426)
Net assets  7,919 7,931
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 402 399
Share premium account  14 4,896 4,801
Profit and loss reserve 14 2,621 2,731
Total equity 7,919  7,931

The notes on pages 148 to 155 form part of these financial statements.

Philip Clarke 
Laurie McIlwee

Directors 
The Parent Company financial statements on pages 148 to 155 were authorised for issue by the Directors on 6 May 2011 and are subject to the 
approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 1 July 2011.

Tesco PLC 
Registered number 00445790
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Basis of preparation
The Company financial statements have been prepared under UK GAAP 
using the historical cost convention modified for the revaluation of 
certain financial instruments, in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards and the Companies Act 2006.

The financial year represents the 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011  
(prior financial year 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010).

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is set  
out below.

Exemptions
The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under 
Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and not presented a Profit  
and Loss Account for the Company alone.

The Company has taken advantage of the FRS 29 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures’ exemption and not provided derivative 
financial instrument disclosures of the Company alone.

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemption  
from preparing a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1  
‘Cash Flow Statement’. The cash flows of the Company are included  
in the Tesco PLC Group financial statements.

The Company is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Party 
Disclosure’ from disclosing related party transactions with entities that 
are part of the Tesco PLC Group. 

Changes in accounting policy and disclosure
Standards, amendments and interpretations adopted, following new 
amendments to FRS interpretations. These have not had a significant 
impact on the results or net assets of the Company:

•	 �Amendment to FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ on 
‘Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation’, 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

•	 Amendment to FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ – 
Presentation on Classification of Rights Issues, effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010.

•	 Amendment to FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ on Eligible Hedged Items, effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

•	 Amendment to FRS 20 ‘Share Based Payment’, effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010.

•	 UITF 48 Abstract ‘Accounting implications of the replacement of  
RPI with CPI’, effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2010.

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective, but not 
expected to have a significant impact on the Company:

•	 UITF Abstract 47 ‘Extinguishing liabilities with equity instruments’, 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.

•	 �Improvements to FRSs, effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011.

•	 FRS 30 ‘Heritage Assets’, effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 April 2010.

Current asset investments
Current asset investments relate to money market deposits which are 
stated at cost. All income from these investments is included in the 
Parent Company Profit and Loss Account as interest receivable and 
similar income.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost less, 
where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

Foreign currencies 
Assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated into Pounds Sterling at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
balance sheet date of the financial year.

Share-based payments
Employees of the Company receive part of their remuneration in the 
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render 
services in exchange for shares, rights over shares (equity-settled 
transactions) or in exchange for cash.

The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the  
grant date using the Black-Scholes model. In accordance with FRS 20 
‘Share-Based Payment’ the resulting cost is charged to the Parent 
Company Profit and Loss Account over the vesting period. The value  
of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting. 

Where the Company awards options to employees of subsidiary entities, 
this is treated as a capital contribution.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Parent 
Company’s Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Debtors 
Debtors are non interest-bearing and are recognised initially at fair  
value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest  
rate method, less provision for impairment.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to  
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity 
instrument is any contract that gives a residual interest in the assets  
of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments 
issued by the Company are recorded as the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs. 

Interest-bearing borrowings 
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recognised at  
the value of the amount received, net of attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated  
at amortised cost with any differences between cost and redemption 
value being recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account 
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Other creditors 
Other creditors, except for intercompany creditors, are non interest-
bearing and stated at amortised cost. Intercompany creditors are either 
interest-bearing or non interest-bearing depending on the type and 
duration of creditor relationship.

Note 1 A ccounting policies
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from 
operating, financing and investing activities. The Company does not 
hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes, 
however if derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting they are 
accounted for as such.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value. 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined by 
reference to market values for similar financial instruments, discounted 
cash flows or use of option valuation models. Where derivatives do not 
qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses on remeasurement are 
immediately recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account. 
Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any 
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship 
and the items being hedged.

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Company is required to 
document, from inception, the relationship between the item being 
hedged and the hedging instrument. The Company is also required to 
document and demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between 
the hedged item and the hedging instrument, which shows that the 
hedge will be highly effective on an ongoing basis. This effectiveness 
testing is performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge 
remains highly effective.

Derivative financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one 
year from the balance sheet date are disclosed as falling due after more 
than one year.

Fair value hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges when 
they hedge the Company’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a 
recognised asset or liability. Changes in the fair value of derivatives  
that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
Parent Company Profit and Loss Account, together with any changes in 
the fair value of the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for fair value hedge 
accounting are principally interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps.

Cash flow hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when 
they hedge the Company’s exposure to variability in cash flows that are 
either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset 
or liability, or a highly probable forecasted transaction.

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring the 
derivative instrument is recognised directly in equity.

The associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and 
recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account in the  
same period during which the hedged transaction affects the Parent 
Company Profit and Loss Account. The classification of the effective 
portion when recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss 
Account is the same as the classification of the hedged transaction.  
Any element of the remeasurement criteria of the derivative instrument 
which does not meet the criteria for an effective hedge is recognised 
immediately in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account.

Derivative financial instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging are 
principally forward foreign exchange transactions and interest rate swaps.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument recognised in equity is retained in equity until the 
forecasted transaction occurs or the original hedged item affects the 
Parent Company Profit and Loss Account. If a forecasted hedged 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or 
loss recognised in equity is transferred to the Parent Company Profit 
and Loss Account.

Net investment hedging
Derivative financial instruments are classified as net investment  
hedges when they hedge the Company’s net investment in an overseas 
operation. The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss 
from remeasuring the derivative instrument is recognised directly in 
equity. Any ineffective element is recognised immediately in the Parent 
Company Profit and Loss Account. Gains and losses accumulated in 
equity are included in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account 
when the foreign operation is disposed of.

Derivative instruments qualifying for net investment hedging are 
principally forward exchange transactions and interest rate swaps.

Pensions
The Company participates in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme which is  
a multi-employer scheme within the Tesco Group and cannot identify its 
share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, 
as permitted by FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’, the Company has 
accounted for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme, and the 
charge for the period is based upon the cash contributions payable.

Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided on the taxable profit for the year, 
using the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have 
originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date and would give 
rise to an obligation to pay more or less taxation in the future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are recoverable. 
They are regarded as recoverable to the extent that on the basis of all 
available evidence, it is regarded as more likely than not that there will 
be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the 
underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discontinued basis at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences 
reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Note 1 A ccounting policies CONTINUED
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Note 2 A uditor remuneration 

2011
£m

2010 
£m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and Group financial statements 0.6 0.6

Note 3 E mployment costs, including Directors’ remuneration

2011
£m

2010 
£m

Wages and salaries 14  18
Social security costs 2  2
Pension costs 1  1
Share-based payment expense 26  30
 43  51

The average number of employees (all Directors of the Company) during the year was 16 (2010 – 17). 

The Schedule VI requirements for Directors’ remuneration are included within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 80 to 91.

Note 4 D ividends

For details of dividends see note 8 in the Group financial statements.

Note 5 Inv estments

Shares in Group
undertakings

£m

Shares in 
joint ventures

£m
Total

£m

Cost 
At 27 February 2010 12,304 16 12,320
Additions 1,966 – 1,966
Disposals (1,041) – (1,041)
At 26 February 2011 13,229 16 13,245

Impairment
At 27 February 2010 604 – 604
Reversal of impairment losses (69) – (69)
At 26 February 2011 535 – 535

Net carrying value
At 26 February 2011 12,694 16 12,710
At 27 February 2010 11,700 16 11,716

For a list of the Company’s principal operating subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures see note 13 in the Group financial statements.

The impairment provision reversal relates to an impairment charge in the prior year. This charge related to a subsidiary whose net assets had been 
reduced below its carrying amount in the Parent Company Balance Sheet resulting from a dividend payment.
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Note 6 D ebtors

2011
£m

2010
£m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 8,520  13,948
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates(a) 178  128
Other debtors 13  100
Deferred tax asset(b) 6 8

8,717  14,184

(a)	The amounts due from joint ventures and associates of £178m (2010 – £128m) are due after more than one year.
(b)	The deferred tax asset recognised by the Company, and the movements thereon, during the financial year are as follows:

Financial 
instruments 

£m

Other timing
differences

£m
Total

£m

At 27 February 2010 10 (2) 8
Charge to profit and loss account for the year (2) – (2)
At 26 February 2011 8 (2) 6

Note 7 C urrent asset investments

2011
£m

2010
£m

Bonds and deposits 1,022 1,997

Note 8 O ther creditors

2011
£m

2010
£m

Amounts falling due within one year:   
Other tax and social security 2  1
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 5,217  8,639 
Other liabilities 178  310 
 5,397  8,950
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Note 9 B orrowings

Par value
Maturity

year
2011

£m
2010 

£m

Bank loans and overdrafts  – – 101 27
Loans from joint ventures  – – 20 17
6.625% MTN  £150m 2010 – 158
4.75% MTN  €750m 2010 – 704
3.875% MTN(a)  €389m 2011 346 479
5.625% MTN €1,500m 2012 1,317 1,375
5% MTN £600m 2014 606 604
5.125% MTN €600m 2015 510 539
4% RPI MTN(b)  £263m 2016 276 270
5.875% MTN(c) €1,500m 2016 997 1,520
5.5% USD Bond  $850m 2017 600 621
5.5% MTN  £350m 2019 351 351
6.125% MTN £900m 2022 891 890
5% MTN(d) £515m 2023 390 520
3.322% LPI MTN(e)  £265m 2025 279 269
6% MTN  £200m 2029 218 212
5.5% MTN  £200m 2033 215 210
1.982% RPI MTN(f) £221m 2036 231 222
6.15% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 804 834
5% MTN  £300m 2042 174 306
5.125% MTN €600m 2047 577 587
5.2% MTN  £500m 2057 274 500
Other MTNs  – – 281 291
Other loans – – 243 231
  9,701 11,737

(a) During the financial year the Group redeemed €111m of the 3.875% MTN maturing 2011.
(b) The 4% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index (RPI) over the life of the MTN.
(c) During the financial year the Group redeemed €461m of the 5.875% MTN maturing 2016.
(d) During the financial year the Group redeemed £126m of the 5% MTN maturing 2023.
(e) The 3.322% LPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. The maximum indexation of the principal in any one year is 5%, with a minimum of 0%.
(f) The 1.982% RPI MTN is redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the life of the MTN. 

2011
£m

2010
£m

Repayment analysis:
Amounts falling due within one year 699 932
 699  932
Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Amounts falling due between one and two years 1,321  699
Amounts falling due between two and five years 1,401  2,795
Amounts falling due after more than five years 6,280  7,311
 9,002  10,805
 9,701  11,737
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Note 10 D erivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments has been disclosed in the Company’s Balance Sheet as:

2011 2010

 
Asset

£m
Liability

£m
Asset

£m
Liability

£m

Current 142 (138) 208 (116)
Non-current 1,131 (567) 1,250 (621)
Total 1,273 (705) 1,458 (737)

2011 2010

 Asset Liability Asset Liability

 
Fair value

£m
Notional

£m
Fair value

£m
Notional 

£m
Fair value 

£m
Notional 

£m
Fair value 

£m
Notional

£m

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar  

instruments 13 665 (21) 400 10 665 (32) 400
Cross currency swaps 728 2,674 (39) 714 1,131 4,513 (44) 258
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar  

instruments – – (62) 1,172 – – (39) 400
Cross currency swaps 126 298 (151) 784 129 315 (206) 1,042
Forward foreign currency contracts – – (1) 145 9 218 – 1
Net investment hedges
Cross currency swaps – – – – – – (30) 124
Forward foreign currency contracts 19 383 (97) 952 19 244 (172) 1,037
Derivatives not in a formal  

hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps and similar  

instruments 377 2,639 (310) 2,639 140 1,115 (112) 1,025
Cross currency swaps – – – – 1 173 (22) 457
Future purchases of minority interests – – – – – – (41) –
Forward foreign currency contracts 10 400 (24) 550 19 376 (39) 1,070
Total 1,273 7,059 (705) 7,356 1,458 7,619 (737) 5,814

Note 11 S hare-based payments

Tesco PLC’s equity-settled share-based payment schemes comprise various share schemes designed to reward Executive Directors. For further 
information on these schemes, including the valuation models and assumptions used, see note 27 to the Group financial statements.

Share option schemes 
The number of options and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of share option schemes relating to Tesco PLC employees are:

For the year ended 26 February 2011 

Savings-related
share option scheme

Approved
share option scheme

Unapproved
share option scheme

Nil cost
share options

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at
27 February 2010 36,106 315.87 53,381 280.99 14,549,529 347.65 9,185,455 0.00

Granted 5,516 386.00 35,730 419.80 3,150,544 419.80 4,148,918 0.00
Forfeited – – – – – – (499,596) 0.00
Exercised (7,788) 248.00 (24,781) 242.11 (3,331,503) 252.23 (435,650) 0.00
Outstanding at

26 February 2011 33,834 342.93 64,330 373.06 14,368,570 385.59 12,399,127 0.00
Exercisable as at

26 February 2011 – – 28,600 314.68 4,797,618 377.97 3,744,903 0.00
Exercise price range

(pence) – – –
312.75 to 

318.60 –
312.75 to 

473.75 – 0.00
Weighted average remaining 

contractual life (years) – – – 4.51 – 5.30 – 6.74
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Note 11 S hare-based payments continued

For the year ended 27 February 2010 

Savings-related
share option scheme

Approved
share option scheme

Unapproved
share option scheme

Nil cost
share options

Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP

Outstanding at
28 February 2009 37,066 294.06 53,381 280.99 14,681,115 326.92 14,430,093 0.00

Granted 7,584 328.00 – – 3,804,440 338.40 3,093,147 0.00
Forfeited – – – – – – (2,299,256) 0.00
Exercised (8,544) 232.00 – – (3,936,026) 261.41 (6,038,529) 0.00
Outstanding at

27 February 2010 36,106 315.87 53,381 280.99 14,549,529 347.65 9,185,455 0.00
Exercisable as at

27 February 2010 – – 53,381 280.99 6,240,433 281.85 – –
Exercise price range

(pence) –
197.50 to

318.60
197.50 to

318.60 –
Weighted average remaining 

contractual life (years) – 4.77 4.40 –

Share bonus schemes 
The number and weighted average fair value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the financial year relating to Tesco PLC employees are:

2011 2010

 
Shares

number
WAFV
pence

Shares
number

WAFV
pence

Shares in Success 5,766 416.23 6,684 349.66
Executive Incentive Scheme 292,085 388.05 1,660,771 351.16
Performance Share Plan 218,620 433.79 243,129 374.00
US Long-Term Incentive Plan 74,997 433.06 80,622 482.00

Note 12 P ensions

The total cost of the pension scheme to the Group was £546m (2010 – £439m). Further disclosure relating to the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme can be 
found in note 28 of the Group financial statements.

Note 13 C alled up share capital

2011 2010

Ordinary shares of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each

 Number £m Number £m

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At beginning of year 7,985,044,057 399  7,895,344,018 395
Share options 36,535,102 2  62,329,535 3
Share bonus awards 24,888,933 1 27,370,504 1
At end of year 8,046,468,092 402 7,985,044,057 399

During the financial year, 37 million (2010 – 62 million) shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share options for aggregate consideration of £97m  
(2010 – £166m).

During the financial year, 25 million (2010 – 27 million) shares of 5p each were issued in relation to share bonus awards for consideration of £1m  
(2010 – £1m).
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Note 13 C alled up share capital continued

Between 27 February 2011 and 15 April 2011, options over 2,137,647 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the Savings-related  
Share Option Scheme (1981) and the Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000). Between 27 February 2011 and 15 April 2011, options over  
1,020,924 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the Executive Share Option Schemes (1994 and 1996) and the Discretionary Share  
Option Plan (2004).

As at 26 February 2011, the Directors were authorised to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 802.1 million (2010 – 790.1 million) ordinary shares.

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the meetings  
of the Company.

Capital redemption reserve
Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buy-back, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the nominal value of  
the shares cancelled. This is a non-distributable reserve. Details of the capital redemption reserve are out in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity.

Note 14  Reserves

2011
£m

2010
£m

Share premium account
At beginning of year 4,801  4,638 
Premium on issue of shares less costs 95  163 
At end of year 4,896  4,801 
  
Profit and loss reserve
At beginning of year 2,731  2,624 
Share-based payments 161 234 
Dividend (1,081)  (968) 
Losses on cash flow hedges (6) (82)
Profit after tax for the year 816  923
At end of year 2,621  2,731

Note 15 C ontingent liabilities

The Company has irrevocably guaranteed the liabilities, as defined by Section 5(c) of the Republic of Ireland (Amendment Act) 1986, of various 
subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland.
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We have audited the Parent Company financial statements of Tesco PLC 
for the 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011 which comprise the Parent 
Company Balance Sheet and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law  
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 
set out on page 92, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the Parent Company financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the Parent Company financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 
the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 
16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in 
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures  
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Parent Company’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the Parent Company financial statements: 

•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 
26 February 2011;

•	 �have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

•	 �have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

•	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; 
and 

•	 the information given in the Report of the Directors for the 52 weeks 
ended 26 February 2011 for which the Parent Company financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the Parent Company 
financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the 
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent 
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or 

•	 the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or 

•	 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 
made; or 

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require  
for our audit. 

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of  
Tesco PLC for the 52 weeks ended 26 February 2011. 

Richard Winter (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London  
6 May 2011
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Financial year end 2010/11 26 February 2011
Final ex-dividend date 27 April 2011
Record date 3 May 2011
Q1 Interim Management Statement   June 2011
Annual General Meeting 1 July 2011
Final dividend payment date 8 July 2011
Half-year end 2011/12 27 August 2011
Interim Results  October 2011
Q3 Interim Management Statement  December 2011
Christmas and New Year Trading Statement  January 2012
Financial year ended 2011/12 25 February 2012

Please note that dates are provisional and subject to change.

 financial statements

HeadingFinancial calendar

 
		  Revenue*			   GDP growth
		  (£m)	 Stores	 Employees	 (% real change pa)

South Korea	 4,984	 354	 23,131	 6.1
Thailand	 2,844	 782	 38,395 	 7.9
China	 1,141 	 105	 27,096 	 10.3
Malaysia	 794	 38	 11,023 	 7.2
Japan 	 476 	 140	 4,367	 4.0

US

Revenue* 

£495m
Number of stores

164
Employees

4,134
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

1.7m sq ft

1.6%

UK

Revenue* 

£40,766m
Number of stores

2,715
Employees

293,676
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

36.7m sq ft

35.4%

Europe

Revenue*†

£9,192m
Number of stores

1,082
Employees±

89,559
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

30.2m sq ft

29.2%

Tesco Bank

Revenue* 

£919m
Employees

1,274

India

In India, we have an exclusive 
franchise agreement with Trent, 
the retail arm of the Tata Group. We 
are supporting the development of 
their Star Bazaar format. 

Asia

Revenue*† 

£10,278m
Number of stores

1,419
Employees±

104,071
Selling space (sq ft, % of Group)

35.0m sq ft

33.8%

 
		  Revenue*			   GDP growth
		  (£m)	 Stores	 Employees	 (% real change pa)

Republic of Ireland	 2,332	 130	 13,344	 -0.8 
Poland	 2,156	 371	 24,932	 3.8
Hungary 	 1,649	 205	 21,157	 1.2
Czech Republic	 1,355	 158	 12,812	 2.3
Slovakia	 996	 97	 9,105	 4.0
Turkey	 700	 121	 8,038	 8.1

Creating value for
customers across all
our businesses

Employee figures represent the average number of employees during the year

± ��230 employees across Asia and Europe work in locations other than those listed

* �Revenues are sales excluding VAT and exclude the impact of IFRIC 13  
(customer loyalty schemes)

† Revenue for Europe includes France; revenue for Asia includes India

GDP growth: Economist Intelligence Unit

Tesco around the world
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